Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Elizabeth Ann Lundeen

Date

Child Growth, Puberty, Adolescent Pregnancy, and Adult Anthropometric Outcomes

By Elizabeth Ann Lundeen Doctor of Philosophy (candidate) Nutrition and Health Sciences Laney Graduate School Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Science

Aryeh D. Stein, MPH, PhD Advisor Reynaldo Martorell, PhD Committee Member

Shane Norris, PhD Committee Member Parminder Suchdev, MD, MPH Committee Member

Neil Mehta, PhD, MA, MSc Committee Member

Accepted:

Dean of Graduate School Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

Child Growth, Puberty, Adolescent Pregnancy, and Adult Anthropometric Outcomes

By Elizabeth Ann Lundeen B.S., University of Missouri, 2001 M.P.H., Yale University, 2005 M.N.S.P, Tufts University, 2010

Advisor: Aryeh D. Stein, PhD, MPH

An abstract of A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Nutrition and Health Sciences

2015

Abstract

Child Growth, Puberty, Adolescent Pregnancy, and Adult Anthropometric Outcomes

By Elizabeth Ann Lundeen

Low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) undergoing the nutrition transition face the dual burden of both stunting and rising obesity prevalence among children. Programs aimed at improving nutrition in the first 1,000 days and beyond seek to improve children's linear growth, along with the associated cognitive, schooling, and adult income benefits. The challenge is to promote nutrition that improves linear growth, while not increasing obesity among children in LMICs. Longitudinal data with numerous anthropometric measurements from birth to young adulthood are needed to better understand child growth in LMICs. We used data from nine cohorts in LMICs to explore child growth patterns, including stunting and recovery from stunting, incidence of obesity, pubertal development, and associations with adult anthropometric outcomes. We found there is substantial growth recovery among children who are stunted post-infancy. We contributed to the debate on evaluating the existence of catch-up growth in a population by showing that from age 2y to adulthood, mean height-for-age z scores increased, despite increasing absolute height deficits from the reference population. We found that in South Africa, overweight and obesity were not widely prevalent among boys; however, among girls, the combined prevalence increased throughout childhood, and by late adolescence had reached levels seen in higher income countries. Interventions to prevent overweight and obesity among girls should target the early childhood and peripubertal years. We found that among males and females, there was a strong positive association between both height and body mass index (BMI) in early childhood and the tempo of pubertal development. Among females, greater childhood height and BMI were also associated with earlier pubertal development. We concluded that the previously observed relationship between pubertal timing and adult risk of obesity is largely explained by the association of childhood BMI with both puberty and adult BMI. The prevention of childhood obesity is critical, due to its association with both adult obesity and early puberty. Carefully designed interventions are needed to improve linear growth among children in LMICs, while not increasing obesity. Improving child growth could impact pubertal development, and interventions are needed to mitigate the social and psychological consequences of early puberty.

Child Growth, Puberty, Adolescent Pregnancy, and Adult Anthropometric Outcomes

By Elizabeth Ann Lundeen B.S., University of Missouri, 2001 M.P.H., Yale University, 2005 M.N.S.P, Tufts University, 2010

Advisor: Aryeh D. Stein, PhD, MPH

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Nutrition and Health Sciences

2015

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank Dr. Aryeh Stein for his mentorship throughout the doctoral process. I am very grateful for his guidance and support. I would like to thank Dr. Jere Behrman at the University of Pennsylvania and the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation for providing financial support for my dissertation research. I would also like to thank my dissertation committee, including Dr. Reynaldo Martorell, Dr. Parminder Suchdev, Dr. Shane Norris, and Dr. Neil Mehta. Their expertise, guidance, and feedback throughout the process have helped to greatly improve the research and dissertation. Several staff members at the University of the Witwatersrand deserve special acknowledgement: Mat Mainwaring, Makane Phiri, and Daniel Lopes Ibanez-Gonzalez. They were extremely helpful during my time in South Africa, and in obtaining data across the Atlantic. Devon LoParo and Dr. David Kleinbaum at Emory University both provided valuable statistical advice. Lastly, I would like to express my deep gratitude to my family and friends who have supported me in this endeavor.

Dedication

I would like to dedicate this dissertation to the memory of Patrice Engle, a woman whose contribution to the field of child health and development needs no explanation. I first met Patrice in Kyrgyzstan in 2009. Together we collaborated with our UNICEF colleagues on a national child nutrition and early childhood development program. She was an absolute joy to work with, and her unwavering passion for bettering the lives of children was an inspiration to all with whom she worked. I had the good fortune to continue collaborating with her on the Young Lives study when I joined Emory. As a woman and a widely recognized expert in her field, Patrice embodied the type of public health practitioner I aspire to be – smart, tough, dedicated, passionate, dynamic, creative, collaborative, funny, kind. I will never forget that Patrice was sending me comments to a paper, even in the very final stages of her disease. Her dedication inspires me.

This is a dissertation about how children grow up, and Patrice is someone who made an enormous contribution to improving the way in which children grow and develop. Patrice was the type of person who reminds us what this is all for.



Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Specific Aim One	. 2
Specific Aim Two	. 3
Specific Aim Three	. 3
Specific Aim Four	. 4
Chapter 2. Packground	5
Chapter 2: Dackground	5
The First 1 000 Days Aganda	. 5 6
Clobal Changes in Rubertal Development	. 0
Global Changes III Pubertal Development in LMICs	. / 10
Contribution of This Discortation	10
Contribution of This Dissertation	11 11
chapters 1 and 2 References	14
Chapter 3: Growth faltering and recovery in children ages 1 to 8y in four low-	
and middle-income countries: Young Lives1	17
Abstract	18
Introduction	20
Methods	21
Young Lives Study	21
Data Cleaning and Analysis	22
Characterizing Growth	23
Results	24
Discussion	26
Chapter 3 References	35
Chanter 4: Height-for-age z scores increase despite increasing height deficits	
among children in five developing countries	27
Ahstract	29
Introduction	41
Methods	42
Statistical Methods	43
Results	44
Discussion	45
Chapter 4 References	53
Chapter 5: Adolescent pregnancy and attained height among Black South	
African girls: matched-pair prospective study	5
Abstract	56
Introduction	58
Wethods	59
Statistical Niethods	51
	52 62
	53

	b/
Chapter 5 References	72
Chapter 6: Sex differences in obesity incidence: 20-year prospectiv	e cohort in
South Africa	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Methods	
Results	81
Discussion	83
Conclusion	86
Chapter 6 References	
Chapter 7: Early Life Determinants of Pubertal Development in Sou	uth African
Adolescents	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Methods	
Data Management	
Results	106
Discussion	109
Conclusion	114
Chapter 7 References	133
Chapter 8: Association of Pubertal Timing and Trajectory with Adu	lt Height
and Body Mass Index in South African Adolescents	
Abstract	
Introduction	140
Methods	1/2
Data Management	142 143
Data Management Results	
Data Management Results Discussion	
Data Management Results Discussion Conclusion	
Data Management Results Discussion Conclusion Chapter 8 References	
Data Management Results Discussion Conclusion Chapter 8 References Chapter 9: Summary, Conclusions, and Implications	
Data Management Results Discussion Conclusion Chapter 8 References Chapter 9: Summary, Conclusions, and Implications Discussion of the Key Findings for Each Specific Aim	142 143 147 150 156 167 170 172
Data Management Results Discussion Conclusion Chapter 8 References Chapter 9: Summary, Conclusions, and Implications Discussion of the Key Findings for Each Specific Aim Specific Aim One	142
Data Management Results Discussion Conclusion Chapter 8 References Chapter 9: Summary, Conclusions, and Implications Discussion of the Key Findings for Each Specific Aim Specific Aim One Specific Aim Two	142
Data Management Results Discussion Conclusion Chapter 8 References Chapter 9: Summary, Conclusions, and Implications Discussion of the Key Findings for Each Specific Aim Specific Aim One Specific Aim Two Specific Aim Three	142 143 147 150 156 167 170 172 172 175 176
Data Management Results Discussion Conclusion Chapter 8 References Chapter 9: Summary, Conclusions, and Implications Discussion of the Key Findings for Each Specific Aim Specific Aim One Specific Aim Two Specific Aim Three Specific Aim Four	142
Data Management Results Discussion Conclusion Chapter 8 References Chapter 9: Summary, Conclusions, and Implications Discussion of the Key Findings for Each Specific Aim Specific Aim One Specific Aim Two Specific Aim Three Specific Aim Four Strengths	142
Data Management Results Discussion Conclusion Chapter 8 References Chapter 9: Summary, Conclusions, and Implications Discussion of the Key Findings for Each Specific Aim Specific Aim One Specific Aim Two Specific Aim Three Specific Aim Four Strengths Limitations	142
Data Management Results Discussion Conclusion Chapter 8 References Chapter 9: Summary, Conclusions, and Implications Discussion of the Key Findings for Each Specific Aim Specific Aim One Specific Aim Two Specific Aim Three Specific Aim Four Strengths Limitations Conclusions	142

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 3.1: BASELINE CHARACTERISTICS OF CHILDR	en in the Young Lives cohorts	29
TABLE 3.2: HAZ MEASURES AT 1, 5 AND 8 Y AND	CHANGES IN HAZ BETWEEN THESE AGES, AMONG CHILDREN IN THE YOUN	١G
LIVES STUDY, BY COUNTRY		30
TABLE 3.3: INCIDENCE OF STUNTING ¹ AND OF REC	OVERY ² FROM STUNTING AMONG CHILDREN IN THE YOUNG LIVES STUDY,	BY
COUNTRY	·	32
TABLE 4.1: MEASURES OF LINEAR GROWTH AT SEL	ECTED AGES IN FIVE COHORTS FROM MIDDLE-INCOME COUNTRIES. COHO	ORTS
	· · · · ·	49
TABLE 5.1: SELECTED DEMOGRAPHIC. SOCIOECON	NOMIC. AND ANTHROPOMETRIC CHARACTERISTICS OF THE EARLY PREGNA	ANCY
GROUP, THE COMPARISON GROUP AND AL	I OTHER FEMALES IN THE BIRTH-TO-TWENTY PLUS COHORT	
TABLE 5 2: MULTIPLE REGRESSION ANALYSIS OF M	/ITHIN-PAIR DIFFERENCES IN ATTAINED HEIGHT AMONG 54 WOMEN WHO	00
CONCEIVED PRIOR TO AGE 17 Y AND MATCH		69
TABLE 6 1: MEASURES OF OVERWEIGHT AND OBE	SITY AMONG SOLITH AFRICAN BOYS ($N=566$) and GIRLS ($N=606$) from	1-
2v to 16-18v ¹ BIRTH-TO-TWENTY COHO	RT	28
TABLE 6 2: INCIDENCE OF OPESITY AMONG SOUTH	$4 \text{ AERICAN ROVS}(N-566) \text{ and GIRLS}(N-606) \text{ EROM } 1-2 \text{ y to } 16-18 \text{ y}^1$	00
	$\frac{1}{1000} = \frac{1}{1000} = 1$	00
TABLE 6.2: MODELING BISK OF OPESITY FROM 16	-18 y dased on RMI status at 1-2 y and $4-8$ y among South Aedical	50
POVS (N=566) AND CIDES (N=606) BIDTH		01
TABLE 6 4 MEASURES OF OVERWEICHT AND ORES	TO TWENT CORONT	91
	ANALYCIC: DESCENTING FIGURES PASED ON CROSS SECTIONAL OR ALL	
BIRTH-TO-TWENTY COHORT (SENSITIVITY	INALTSIS. PRESENTING FIGURES BASED ON CROSS-SECTIONAL, OR ALL	02
TABLE 6 5: MEASURES OF OVERWEICHT AND ORE	(1, 2)	92
TABLE 0.3. IVIEASURES OF OVERWEIGHT AND OBE	SITT AMONG SOUTH AFRICAN BOTS AND GIRLS FROM 1-21 TO 10-181;	то
BIRTH-TO-TWENTY COHORT (SENSITIVITY	INALYSIS. PRESENTING FIGURES BASED ON INDIVIDUALS WHO WERE LOST-	-01-
FOLLOW-UP AND NOT IN THE MAIN ANALYS	15)	115
TABLE 7.1. SELECTED CHARACTERISTICS OF THE ST	DEVELOPMENT OF DUDIE LLAD FEMALE DESACTE AND MALE CENTRAL	. 115
TABLE 7.2: DISTRIBUTION OF TANNER SCORES FOR	CONTRACTOR CONTRACTOR AND	5110
TABLE 7.3: DISTRIBUTION OF PARTICIPANTS, INTE	RCEPT, AND SLOPE FOR THE PUBERTAL GROWTH TRAJECTORY CLASSES,	110
TABLES AND MALES		. 118
TABLE 7.4: HEIGHT AND BIVITAT 5 AND 8 YEARS (JF AGE BY PUBERTAL GROWTH TRAJECTORY CLASS AND GENDER	. 119
TABLE 7.5: REGRESSION TO PREDICT PUBERTAL D	EVELOPMENT TRAJECTORY GROUP BASED ON HEIGHT-FOR-AGE Z SCORE	
BODY MASS INDEX Z SCORE AT AGE 5 YEA	RS AND & YEARS, FEMALES	. 120
TABLE 7.6: REGRESSION TO PREDICT PUBERTAL D	EVELOPMENT TRAJECTORY GROUP BASED ON HEIGHT-FOR-AGE Z SCORE	AND
BODY MASS INDEX Z SCORE AT AGE 5 YEA	RS AND & YEARS, MIALES	. 121
TABLE 7.7: REGRESSION TO PREDICT PUBERTAL D	EVELOPMENT GROUP AT 12 YEARS BASED ON HEIGHT-FOR-AGE Z SCORI	E AND
BODY MASS INDEX Z SCORE AT AGE 5 YEA	RS AND & YEARS, FEMALES	. 122
TABLE 7.8: REGRESSION TO PREDICT PUBERTAL D	EVELOPMENT GROUP AT 12 YEARS BASED ON HEIGHT-FOR-AGE Z SCORI	EAND
BODY MASS INDEX Z SCORE AT AGE 5 YEA	RS AND 8 YEARS, MALES	. 123
TABLE 7.9: SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS (METHOD 1")	: REGRESSION TO PREDICT PUBERTAL DEVELOPMENT TRAJECTORY GROU	P
BASED ON HEIGHT-FOR-AGE Z SCORE AND	BODY MASS INDEX Z SCORE AT AGE 5 YEARS AND 8 YEARS, FEMALES	. 124
TABLE 7.10: SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS (METHOD 2)): REGRESSION TO PREDICT PUBERTAL DEVELOPMENT TRAJECTORY GRO	UP
Based on Height-for-Age Z Score and	BODY MASS INDEX Z SCORE AT AGE 5 YEARS AND 8 YEARS, FEMALES	. 125
TABLE 7.11: SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS (METHOD 1)	'): REGRESSION TO PREDICT PUBERTAL DEVELOPMENT TRAJECTORY GRO	UP
Based on Height-for-Age Z Score and	BODY MASS INDEX Z SCORE AT AGE 5 YEARS AND 8 YEARS, MALES	. 126
TABLE 7.12: SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS (METHOD 2): Regression to Predict Pubertal Development Trajectory Gro	UP
BASED ON HEIGHT-FOR-AGE Z SCORE AND	BODY MASS INDEX Z SCORE AT AGE 5 YEARS AND 8 YEARS, MALES	. 127
TABLE 8.1: SELECTED CHARACTERISTICS OF THE ST	UDY POPULATION, BIRTH-TO-TWENTY	. 157
TABLE 8.2: MEAN HEIGHT, MEAN BMI, AND PER	CENTAGE OVERWEIGHT AND OBESE AT ADULTHOOD BY PUBERTAL GROV	VTH
TRAJECTORY CLASSES AND TANNER STAGE	at 12 Years, Females (N=990)	. 158
TABLE 8.3: MEAN HEIGHT, MEAN BMI, AND PER	CENTAGE OVERWEIGHT OR OBESE AT ADULTHOOD BY PUBERTAL GROWT	тн
TRAJECTORY CLASSES AND TANNER STAGE	at 12 Years, Males (N=928)	. 159

TABLE 8.4: PREDICTION OF ADULT BODY MASS INDEX CATEGORIES BY PUBERTAL DEVELOPMENT TRAJECTORY GROUP AND	
TANNER STAGE AT 12 YEARS, FEMALES (N=990) 1	160
TABLE 8.5: PREDICTION OF ADULT BODY MASS INDEX CATEGORIES BY PUBERTAL DEVELOPMENT TRAJECTORY GROUP AND	
TANNER STAGE AT 12 YEARS, MALES (N=928) 1	161
TABLE 8.6: PREDICTION OF ADULT HEIGHT BY PUBERTAL DEVELOPMENT TRAJECTORY GROUP AND TANNER STAGE AT 12	
Years, Females (n=990)	163
TABLE 8.7: PREDICTION OF ADULT HEIGHT BY PUBERTAL DEVELOPMENT TRAJECTORY GROUP AND TANNER STAGE AT 12	
YEARS, MALES (N=928)	165
TABLE 8.8: MEDIATION ANALYSIS: PREDICTION OF ADULT HEIGHT AND BMI BY HEIGHT AND BMI AT 5Y AND 8Y, WITH AND)
WITHOUT MEASURES OF PUBERTAL DEVELOPMENT, FEMALES (N=715) AND MALES (N=655)	166
TABLE 9.1: SUMMARY OF KEY FINDINGS IN RELATION TO STATED AIMS OF THE DISSERTATION	170

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 2.1: CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK FOR CHILD GROWTH, PUBERTY, ADOLESCENT PREGNANCY AND ADULT	
ANTHROPOMETRIC OUTCOMES	13
FIGURE 3.1: MEAN ROUND 1 HAZ SCORES BY AGE AT RECRUITMENT IN MONTHS	33
FIGURE 3.2: CATEGORIES OF HAZ CHANGE BETWEEN ROUNDS AMONG CHILDREN IN THE YOUNG LIVES STUDY, BY COUNT	'RY.34
FIGURE 4.1: PREVALENCE OF STUNTING [†] AMONG CHILDREN IN FIVE BIRTH COHORTS IN MIDDLE-INCOME COUNTRIES, COH	HORTS
	50
FIGURE 4.2: INCIDENCE OF STUNTING [†] AMONG CHILDREN IN FIVE BIRTH COHORTS IN MIDDLE-INCOME COUNTRIES, COHO	ORTS
	51
FIGURE 4.3: INCIDENCE OF RECOVERY [†] AMONG CHILDREN IN FIVE BIRTH COHORTS IN MIDDLE-INCOME COUNTRIES, COHO	ORTS
	52
FIGURE 5.1: MEAN HEIGHT (CM) BY AGE, GIRLS IN THE BIRTH-TO-TWENTY PLUS STUDY	70
FIGURE 5.2: MEAN HEIGHT-FOR-AGE Z SCORE BY AGE, GIRLS IN THE BIRTH-TO-TWENTY PLUS STUDY	71
FIGURE 7.1: LATENT CLASS GROWTH ANALYSIS AND LATENT GROWTH CURVE MODELING OF PUBERTAL DEVELOPMENT	
TRAJECTORIES	128
FIGURE 7.2: TANNER SCORE FOR PUBIC HAIR DEVELOPMENT, BY GROWTH TRAJECTORY CLASS AND AGE, FEMALES	129
FIGURE 7.3: TANNER SCORE FOR BREAST DEVELOPMENT, BY GROWTH TRAJECTORY CLASS AND AGE, FEMALES	130
FIGURE 7.4: TANNER SCORE FOR PUBIC HAIR DEVELOPMENT, BY GROWTH TRAJECTORY CLASS AND AGE, MALES	131
FIGURE 7.5: TANNER SCORE FOR GENITAL DEVELOPMENT, BY GROWTH TRAJECTORY CLASS AND AGE, MALES	132

Chapter 1: Introduction

Low- and middle-income countries are going through a "nutrition transition," characterized by significant changes in access to food, as well as the structure and composition of the diet (1-3). Improvements in childhood nutrition have led to a global decrease in the prevalence of growth stunting, although it remains a problem, with one in four children under the age of five stunted (4). The decline in stunting has occurred in parallel with a global increase in overweight and obesity among children (4, 5), with the majority of overweight children under five years now living in low- and middle-income (LMICs) countries (4). Nutrition and health programs that target the first 1,000 days of life aim to improve linear growth among children in LMICs in order to enable them to achieve their full growth potential, as well as the cognitive, schooling, and adult income benefits associated with maximal attained height (6). However, improvements in access to food and changes in the composition of the diet may result in more prevalent overweight and obesity among children in LMICs, similar to what is seen in higherincome countries that have gone through the nutrition transition. Ultimately, the goal should be to achieve improvements in linear growth, while promoting healthy nutritional habits and access to healthy foods, to reduce the risk of obesity in childhood and beyond.

Rich longitudinal growth data are needed to better understand trends in childhood growth in LMICs, and the possible consequences of nutrition interventions aimed at early life growth. Much of the data on child growth in LMICs comes from cross-sectional surveys, and focuses on narrow populations such as children under five years. This dissertation models longitudinal child growth data from cohorts in eight LMICs (Ethiopia, Peru, Vietnam, India, Brazil, Guatemala, Philippines, and South Africa). The overall aim of this research is to better understand and characterize child growth patterns from birth through young adulthood. Analysis of these rich longitudinal data, with many time points from birth through young adulthood, helps to address gaps in the literature on child growth in LMICs. Additionally, the South African cohort provides rich longitudinal pubertal development data, enabling a better understanding of the role of puberty in the child and adolescent growth pathway.

Following are the specific aims of this dissertation:

Specific Aim One

- Characterize patterns of linear growth, including stunting and recovery from stunting, across numerous time points from birth to adulthood.
- > Contribute to the debate on methods for assessing recovery and catch-up growth.

Chapter 3: We used data from the four Young Lives cohorts to describe growth patterns at 1, 5, and 8 years of age, and determine the incidence of stunting and recovery from stunting post-infancy. The study aimed to determine whether there is appreciable recovery from stunting post-infancy, to assess the potential usefulness of nutritional interventions targeted after infancy.

Chapter 4: We analyzed data from five birth cohorts in the Consortium of Healthorientated Research in Transitioning Societies (COHORTS) to describe the incidence of stunting and recovery from stunting during intervals spanning from birth to adulthood. This study expanded upon the research in Chapter 3 in that we were able to characterize patterns of linear growth from birth through adulthood. Additionally, in this paper, we compared two different metrics for assessing longitudinal changes in growth in a population: 1) mean height-for-age z score in a population, and 2) the distance between the mean height in the population and the median height in a reference population. We discuss the usefulness of each metric in determining catch-up growth in a longitudinal cohort.

Specific Aim Two

Identify predictors of adolescent pregnancy in South African girls and explore the association between adolescent pregnancy and maternal attained height.

Chapter 5: We analyzed data on black girls in the South African Birth-to-Twenty cohort, to identify determinants of adolescent pregnancy, and determine whether having an adolescent pregnancy is associated with shorter maternal adult height.

Specific Aim Three

Characterize patterns of obesity incidence among South African children from infancy to late adolescence, and determine gender differences in overweight and obesity. **Chapter 6:** We used growth data spanning from infancy to late adolescence among boys and girls in the South African Birth-to-Twenty cohort to describe the prevalence of overweight and obesity, and incidence of obesity between key periods: infancy/toddlerhood, early childhood, early adolescence, mid-adolescence, and late adolescence. This paper aims to determine gender differences in overweight and obesity, and to identify key periods for intervention to prevent overweight and obesity.

Specific Aim Four

- Determine the association between childhood growth measures height and body mass index – and the timing and tempo of pubertal development.
- Determine the association between the timing and tempo of pubertal development and adult height and body mass index.

Chapter 7: We used data on the development of secondary sexual characteristics from 9-16 years among boys and girls in the Birth-to-Twenty cohort to describe the longitudinal progression of puberty and to classify children based on unique trajectories for pubertal development. We then explored the relationship between the timing and trajectory (or tempo) of pubertal development and height and body mass index at 5 and 8 years of age.

Chapter 8: We used these same trajectories for pubertal development in the Birth-to-Twenty cohort to explore the relationship between the timing and tempo of pubertal development and adult height and body mass index.

Chapter 2: Background

The Nutrition Transition

Over the last century, countries throughout the world have gone through the "nutrition transition," a period of rapid social and economic development that profoundly changes access to food, the structure and composition of the diet, the amount of physical activity involved in labor and tasks of daily living, body size and composition, and chronic disease risk (1-3). High-income countries experienced this transition earlier, whereas many low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) are continuing to undergo this transition (1, 3). In countries going through this transition, certain segments of the population continue to suffer food insecurity, lacking access to adequate calories and micronutrients, while other segments have increased access to energy-dense, processed foods high in fat and sugar (2). In some cases, children start out life, in utero and in the early childhood years, deprived of adequate nutrition, and later consume an abundance of energy-dense foods in excess of their caloric needs. Theories of the developmental origins of health and disease suggest that early life, particularly fetal, deprivation results in adaptive mechanisms, one of which programs the body for fat deposition, and this adaptive propensity for fat deposition is exacerbated by excess caloric intake later in life (3, 7). Early life undernutrition and growth faltering, followed by caloric excess and rapid weight gain later in childhood may have a synergistic effect in predisposing one to overweight and obesity, as well as chronic disease, in adulthood (4, 6). The "dual burden" of both stunting and childhood overweight and obesity is common in countries undergoing this transition (3, 8, 9), and both stunting and childhood obesity are prevalent problems in LMICs globally. While there have been gains in linear height over the last

few decades, one in four children under the age of five remain stunted (4). Additionally there has been a global increase in overweight and obesity among children, with 13% of children in LMICs overweight or obese (4, 5). It is not completely understood whether this "dual burden" of stunting and obesity are causally related, but recent evidence suggests they could be independent phenomena, rather than having a common cause resulting in a disproportionate occurrence in the same individuals or households (10, 11). While distinct strategies may be required to address these two problems, public health leaders have called for a coordinated effort to reduce the burden of both stunting and overweight, recognizing that interventions to improve household food security and child nutrition could lead to excess energy intake (10).

The First 1,000 Days Agenda

Nutrition and health programs in LMICs have targeted interventions toward the first 1,000 days of life to maximize the growth, health, and cognitive benefits associated with improved nutrition (4). These programs aim to promote adequate linear growth and weight gain, as well as improve both the physical and cognitive development of children. A primary aim of these nutrition interventions is to enable children to achieve their linear growth potential, given the strong association between height and human capital measures such as cognitive development, school performance, and adult income (6). However, in doing so, it is important to prevent overweight and obesity, a burgeoning problem in LMICs, and a common but unintended consequence of improved access to food and changes in the structure and composition of the diet. It has been found that

faster linear growth, particularly during the first two years of life, is associated with improved educational outcomes, but that faster weight gain independent of height after the first two years is associated with greater risk of adult overweight and elevated blood pressure, without any benefit for human capital (12, 13). These findings underscore the importance of targeting interventions toward improving linear growth in the first two years, without promoting excess weight gain after two years (12, 13). It is therefore important to identify which interventions – micronutrient supplementation, breastfeeding promotion, protein supplementation – will promote optimal linear growth without increasing excess weight gain (13). For example, it has been suggested that cash transfer or food distribution programs designed to improve nutrition in micronutrient deficient, but not energy deficient, populations can have the undesired effect of increasing energy intake, raising concerns about whether these programs are increasing obesity risk (10, 14).

Global Changes in Pubertal Development

The Biology of Pubertal Development

Puberty is a complex series of physiological changes under the tight control of hormone signaling, and includes an acceleration of linear growth, changes in body composition, the development of primary and secondary sexual characteristics, and achievement of reproductive capabilities. Adrenarche, the first phase of puberty, which begins around 6-9 years of age for girls and around one year later in boys, is, is characterized by an increase in adrenal androgens (dehydroepiandrosterone and androstendione) but no visible

external signs of puberty (15). During the second phase of puberty, gonadarche, the hypothalamic-pituitary gonadal axis is activated, resulting in the secretion of lutenizing hormone (LH) and follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) from the pituitary gland, as well as an increase in the secretion of gonadal sex steroids (testosterone and estradiol) (15). Gonadarche begins around 9-10 years in girls and around one year later in boys. The hormonal cascade of gonadarche results in maturation of primary sexual characteristics (ovaries develop and testes increase in size), development of secondary sexual characteristics (pubic hair, breasts, and genitals), and commencement of fertility (15). In girls, ovarian estrogen secretion controls breast development (16), while adrenal and ovarian androgens bring about pubic hair development (15, 16). In boys, FSH and LH cause the increase in testicular volume, with pubic hair development under the control of adrenal and testicular androgen secretion (16). Ovulation and menarche, or the onset of menstruation in girls, occur relatively late in gonadarche, whereas spermarche, the onset of nocturnal emission in boys, occurs in early to mid-puberty. An increase in growth hormone, as well as more evenly distributed pulsatile release of growth hormone throughout the 24 hour day, result in an acceleration of linear growth during puberty (15). This pubertal growth spurt occurs on average at 12 years among girls, versus 14 years among boys, and in girls is often the first visible sign of puberty (15). Puberty is also a time of changes in body composition and sexual dimorphism, with girls gaining greater amounts of fat mass and boys gaining greater muscle and skeletal mass (16). Both leptin and estrogen, hormones produced in adipose cells, are thought to play a role in the stimulation of pubertal development (16). Estrogen plays an important role in the pubertal growth spurt, as well as the bone maturation that occurs during puberty (16).

The Epidemiology of Pubertal Development

The rapid improvements in nutrition and socioeconomic conditions in countries that have gone through the nutrition transition, as well as subsequent changes in body composition, have occurred concurrently with global shifts in the timing of pubertal development (17). In the U.S. and Western European countries, there was a marked decline in the average age of menarche (17y to 13y) from the mid-19th to the mid-20th century, and there continues to be a strong secular trend in the reduction of menarcheal age in LMICs, which have developed and gone through the nutrition transition more recently (17, 18). Studies have also shown a secular trend toward earlier development of breasts and pubic hair among girls (19-23), and some research suggests earlier genital and pubic hair development in boys (22-24).

The global shift in age at pubertal onset has been concurrent with increases in height, suggesting improved nutrition and socioeconomic conditions have contributed to both trends (25). It has been found that height in children is inversely associated with age of pubertal onset (26-29). Furthermore, secular trends in pubertal development have mirrored the increase in body mass index (BMI) among children (30, 31), and studies on the role of overweight and obesity in pubertal development have garnered much attention (20, 32-34). There is evidence of an association between higher BMI in childhood or adolescence and earlier onset of puberty among girls (20, 26, 29, 33, 35-39). Additionally, women who experience menarche at an earlier age have been found to have

a greater adult BMI and significantly increased risk of obesity in adulthood (40-46). However, generally, studies have not been able to account for the potential role of childhood BMI in this relationship. If childhood BMI is associated with pubertal timing and also tends to track into adulthood (47-49), it could confound the relationship between puberty and adult BMI.

In addition to the potential effect of puberty timing on adult risk of overweight and obesity, trends in earlier puberty are concerning due to the association between early puberty and poor psychosocial outcomes. Early puberty among girls is associated with a higher risk of depression, eating disorders, substance abuse, poor academic achievement, and risky sexual behaviors (50). Puberty also signals readiness for sexual activity, childbearing, and marriage, and trends toward earlier puberty in LMICs could have profound social implications. Therefore, it is important to understand the potential impact on puberty of programs designed to improve child growth, as child growth may be closely linked to pubertal timing.

Understanding Child Growth and Development in LMICs

In order to have a better understanding of the potential effects of programs aimed at improving child growth, it is necessary to utilize rich longitudinal growth data from LMICS, as well as improved methods for characterizing longitudinal growth and development. It is important to better understand patterns of child growth from birth to late adolescence, including linear growth stunting and recovery from stunting, as well as incidence of obesity and critical periods for intervention. Much of the child growth data for LMICs are cross-sectional, being derived from the Demographic and Health Surveys or the UNICEF Multiple Indicator Cluster Surveys. Rich longitudinal growth data with anthropometric measurements at multiple time points from birth through adolescence are needed to better understand how children in LMICs grow over time.

Contribution of This Dissertation

The overarching theme of this dissertation is how children in LMICs grow, from birth through young adulthood. The 1,000 day agenda, and public health and nutrition programs more generally, should strive to help children achieve their linear growth potential, while maintaining appropriate weight gain and minimizing risk of overweight and obesity throughout childhood into adulthood. Children should be able to gain the human capital benefits associated with linear growth, while not succumbing to the risk of obesity and chronic disease, which often accompanies the nutrition transition. A first step in understanding the potential consequences of the 1,000 day agenda and nutrition programs aimed at improving child growth is better understanding how children grow in LMICs.

We address gaps in the literature by using rich longitudinal growth and pubertal development data spanning many time points throughout childhood and adolescence. The data are derived from the four Young Lives cohorts in Ethiopia, India, Peru, and Vietnam, as well as the five birth cohorts in India, Brazil, Guatemala, Philippines, and South Africa, which are a part of the Consortium of Health-orientated Research in Transitioning Societies (COHORTS). Details of these cohorts are described more fully in the chapters to follow, and the cohort profiles have been previously published (51-53).

Using these data, we explore patterns in linear growth, including stunting and recovery from stunting, as well as the nature and definitions of "catch-up growth." We also explore obesity incidence patterns, pubertal development trajectories, and the complex relationships between child growth, puberty, and adult anthropometric outcomes. This research was designed based on the following conceptual framework (**Figure 2.1**), which recognizes the relationship between childhood height and BMI and pubertal development, the association between puberty and adult anthropometric outcomes, and the tracking of childhood height and BMI into adulthood.



Figure 2.1: Conceptual framework for child growth, puberty, adolescent pregnancy and adult anthropometric outcomes

The following chapters will explore these relationships in detail.

Chapters 1 and 2 References

1. Popkin BM. The nutrition transition and its health implications in lower-income countries. Public Health Nutrition 1998;1:5-21.

2. Popkin BM. Global nutrition dynamics: the world is shifting rapidly toward a diet linked with noncommunicable diseases. Am J Clin Nutr 2006;84:289 –298.

3. Popkin BM, Adair LS, Ng SW. NOW AND THEN: The Global Nutrition Transition: The Pandemic of Obesity in Developing Countries. Nutr Rev 2012;70:3–21.

4. Black RE, Victora CG, Walker SP, et al. Maternal and child undernutrition and overweight in low-income and middle-income countries. Lancet 2013;382:427–451.
5. Ng M, Fleming T, Robinson M, et al. Global, regional, and national prevalence of

overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980–2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet 2014 384:766–781.

6. Victora CG, Adair L, Fall C, et al. Maternal and child undernutrition: consequences for adult health and human capital. Lancet 2008;371:340–357.

7. Gluckman P, Hanson M. The Fetal Matrix: Evolution, Development and Disease. Cambridge, United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press, 2005.

8. Kimani-Murage EW, Kahn K, Pettifor JM, et al. The prevalence of stunting, overweight and obesity, and metabolic disease risk in rural South

African children. BMC Public Health 2010;10.

9. Pettifor JM. Combined stunting and overweight in young children – a paradox? South Afr J Clin Nutr 2006;19:98–100.

10. Rivera JA, Pedraza LS, Martorell R, et al. Introduction to the double burden of undernutrition and excess weight in Latin America. Am J Clin Nutr 2014;100 (Suppl):1613S–1616S.

 Dieffenbach S, Stein AD. Stunted Child/Overweight Mother Pairs Represent a Statistical Artifact, Not a Distinct Entity. The Journal of Nutrition 2012;142:771-773.
 Adair LS, Fall CHD, Osmond C, et al. Associations of linear growth and relative weight gain during early life with adult health and human capital in countries of low and middle income: fi ndings from fi ve birth cohort studies. Lancet 2013;382:525–534.
 Victora CG, Rivera JA. Optimal child growth and the double burden of malnutrition: research and programmatic implications. Am J Clin Nutr 2014;100(suppl):1611S–1612S.
 Leroy JL, Gadsden P, Rodriguez-Ramirez S, et al. Cash and In-Kind Transfers in Poor Rural Communities in Mexico Increase Household Fruit, Vegetable, and Micronutrient Consumption but Also Lead to Excess Energy Consumption. The Journal of Nutrition 2010;140:612–617.

15. Dorn LD, Dahl RE, Woodward HR, et al. Defining the Boundaries of Early Adolescence: A User's Guide to Assessing Pubertal Status and Pubertal Timing in Research With Adolescents. Applied Developmental Science 2006;10:30–56.
16. Gardner DG, Shoback D. Greenspan's Basic & Clinical Endocrinology. New York: McGraw Hill Lange, 2011.

17. Parent A, Teilmann G, Juul A, et al. The Timing of Normal Puberty and the Age Limits of Sexual Precocity: Variations around the World, Secular Trends, and Changes after Migration. Endocrine Reviews 2003;24:668–693.

18. Jones L, Griffiths P, Norris S, et al. Age at menarche and the evidence for a positive secular trend in urban South Africa. Am J Hum Biol 2009;21:130-132.

19. Herman-Giddens ME, Slora EJ, Wasserman RC, et al. Secondary Sexual Characteristics and Menses in Young Girls Seen in Office Practice: A Study from the Pediatric Research in Office Settings Network. Pediatrics 1997;99 505 -512.

20. Frank M. Biro LCG, Maida P. Galvez, Susan M. Pinney, Susan Teitelbaum, Gayle C. Windham, Julianna Deardorff, Robert L. Herrick, Paul A. Succop, Robert A. Hiatt, Lawrence H. Kushi and Mary S. Wolff. Onset of Breast Development in a Longitudinal Cohort. Pediatrics 2013;132:1–9.

21. Kaplowitz P. Pubertal development in girls: secular trends. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol 2006;18:487–491.

22. Euling SY, Herman-Giddens ME, Lee PA, et al. Examination of US Puberty-Timing Data from 1940 to 1994 for Secular Trends: Panel Findings. Pediatrics 2008;121.
23. deMuinck-Keizer-Schrama S, Mul D. Trends in pubertal development in Europe. Hum Reprod Update 2001;7:287-291.

24. Jones LL, Griffiths PL, Norris SA, et al. Is Puberty Starting Earlier in Urban South Africa? Am J Hum Biol 2009;21:395–397.

25. Karlberg J. Secular Trends in Pubertal Development. Horm Res 2002;57:19–30.
26. Morrison JA, Barton B, Biro FM, et al. Sexual maturation and obesity in 9- and 10year-old black and white girls: The National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Growth and Health Study. Journal of Pediatrics 1994;124:889-895.

27. George IS, Williams S, Silva P. Body size and the menarche: the Dunedin Study. J Adolesc Health 1994;15:573-576.

28. Koprowski C, Ross R, Mack W, et al. Diet, body size and menarche in a multiethnic cohort. Br J Cancer 1999;79:1907-1911.

29. Freedman DS, Khan LK, Serdula MK, et al. Relation of Age at Menarche to Race, Time Period, and Anthropometric Dimensions: The Bogalusa Heart Study. Pediatrics 2002;110:e43.

30. Anderson SE, Dallal GE, Must A. Relative Weight and Race Influence Average Age at Menarche: Results From Two Nationally Representative Surveys of US Girls Studied 25 Years Apart. Pediatrics 2003;111:844 -850

31. Wattigney W, Srinivasan S, Chen W, et al. Secular trend of earlier onset of menarche with increasing obesity in black and white girls: the Bogalusa Heart Study. Ethnicity and Disease 1999;9:181-189.

32. Kaplowitz PB, Slora EJ, Wasserman RC, et al. Earlier Onset of Puberty in Girls:
Relation to Increased Body Mass Index and Race. Pediatrics 2001;108:347-353.
33. Kaplowitz PB. Link Between Body Fat and the Timing of Puberty. Pediatrics

2008;121 S208-S217.

34. Jasik C, Lustig R. Adolescent obesity and puberty: the "perfect storm". Ann N Y Acad Sci 2008;1135:265-279.

35. Foster TA, Voors AW, Webber LS, et al. Anthropometric and maturation measurements of children, ages 5 to 14 years, in a biracial community the Bogalusa Heart Study. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 1977;30:582-591.

36. Wang Y. Is Obesity Associated With Early Sexual Maturation? A Comparison of the Association in American Boys Versus Girls. Pediatrics 2002;110:903-910.

37. Vignolo M, Naselli A, DiBattista E, et al. Growth and development in simple obesity. Eur J Pediatr 1988;147:242-244.

38. Davison KK, Susman EJ, Birch LL. Percent Body Fat at Age 5 Predicts Earlier Pubertal Development Among Girls at Age 9. Pediatrics 2003;111:815–821.

39. Lee JM, Appugliese D, Kaciroti N, et al. Weight Status in Young Girls and the Onset of Puberty. Pediatrics 2007;199:e624.

40. Garn S, LaVelle M, Rosenberg K, et al. Maturational timing as a factor in female fatness and obesity. Am J Clin Nutr 1986;43:879-883.

41. Demerath EW, Li J, Sun SS, et al. Fifty-year trends in serial body mass index during adolescence in girls: the Fels Longitudinal Study. Am J Clin Nutr 2004;80:441–446.

42. Biro FM, McMahon RP, Striegel-Moore R, et al. Impact of timing of pubertal maturation on growth in black and white female adolescents:

The National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Growth and Health Study. J Pediatr 2001;138:636-643.

43. Pierce MB, Leon DA. Age at menarche and adult BMI in the Aberdeen Children of the 1950s Cohort Study. Am J Clin Nutr 2005;82:733–739.

44. Freedman DS, Khan LK, Serdula MK, et al. The relation of menarcheal age to obesity in childhood and adulthood: the Bogalusa heart study. BMC Pediatrics 2003;3:e1-e9. 45. Wellens R, Malina RM, Roche AF, et al. Body size and fatness in young adults in relation to age at menarche. American Journal of Human Biology 1992;4:783–787.

46. Okasha M, McCarron P, McEwen J, et al. Age at menarche: secular trends and association with adult anthropometric measures. Annals of Human Biology 2001;28:68-78.

47. Dietz WH. Critical periods in childhood for the development of obesity1. Am J Clin Nutr 1994;59:955-959.

48. Serdula M, Ivery D, Coates R, et al. Do obese children become obese adults? A review of the literature. Prev Med 1993;22:167-177.

49. Singh AS, Mulder C, Twisk JWR, et al. Tracking of childhood overweight into adulthood: a systematic review of the literature. Obesity Reviews 2008;9:474–488. 50. Mendle J, Turkheimer E, Emery RE. Detrimental Psychological Outcomes

Associated with Early Pubertal Timing in Adolescent Girls. Dev Rev 2007;27:151–171.

51. Barnett I, Ariana P, Petrou S, et al. Cohort Profile: The Young Lives Study. International Journal of Epidemiology 2013;42:701–708.

52. Richter LM, Victora CG, Hallal PC, et al. Cohort Profile: The Consortium of Health-Orientated Research in Transitioning Societies. International Journal of Epidemiology 2012;41:621–626.

53. Richter L, Norris S, Pettifor J, et al. Cohort Profile: Mandela's children: The 1990 birth to twenty study in South Africa. Int J Epidemiol 2007;36:504–511.

Chapter 3: Growth faltering and recovery in children ages 1 to 8y in four low- and middle-income countries: Young Lives

Elizabeth A Lundeen¹, Jere R Behrman², Benjamin T Crookston³, Kirk A Dearden⁴, Patrice Engle⁵, Andreas Georgiadis⁶, Mary E Penny⁷, Aryeh D Stein⁸, on behalf of the Young Lives Determinants and Consequences of Child Growth Project Team⁹

¹ Nutrition and Health Sciences, Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences, Emory University, 1518 Clifton Road NE, Atlanta, Georgia 30322 USA: ² Economics, Sociology and Population Studies Center, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, USA: ³ Department of Health Science, Brigham Young University, Provo, Utah, USA: ⁴ Boston University Department of International Health and Center for Global Health and Development, Boston, Massachusetts, USA, and Helen Keller International, Katmandu, Nepal: ⁵ Department of Psychology and Child Development, Cal Poly State University, San Luis Obispo, California, USA (deceased): ⁶ Young Lives Study, Department of International Development, University of Oxford, Oxford, England: ⁷ Instituto de Investigación Nutricional, Lima, Peru, and Massachusetts General Hospital for Children, Harvard Medical School, Boston, Massachusetts, USA:⁸ Emory University, Rollins School of Public Health, Hubert Department of Global Health, Atlanta, Georgia, USA: 9 The Young Lives Determinants and Consequences of Child Growth Project team includes, in addition to the co-authors of this paper, Santiago Cueto, Le Thuc Duc, Javier Escobal, Lia Fernald, Shaik Galab, Nafisa Halim, Priscila Hermida, Subha Mani, Tassew Woldehanna, and Whitney Schott.

Copyright © The Authors 2013

From Public Health Nutrition, Vol. 17, Issue 9, September 2014

Published online ahead of print November 2013

Chapter 3 reprinted with permission from Cambridge Journals

Abbreviations used: HAZ, height-for-age z score; LMIC, low- and middle-income countries; DHS, Demographic and Health Surveys.

Abstract

Objective: We characterized post-infancy child growth patterns and determined the incidence of becoming stunted and of recovery from stunting.

Design: Data came from Young Lives, a longitudinal study of childhood poverty in four low- and middle-income countries (LMICs).

Setting: We analyzed length/height measurements for children at ages 1, 5, and 8y.

Subjects: 7,171 children in Ethiopia, India, Peru and Vietnam.

Results: Mean height-for-age z-score (HAZ) at age 1y ranged from -1.51 (Ethiopia) to -1.08 (Vietnam). From age 1 to 5y, mean HAZ increased 0.27 SD in Ethiopia (p<0.001) and decreased among the other cohorts (range: -0.19 (Peru) to -0.32 (India)) (all p<0.001). From 5 to 8y, mean HAZ increased in all cohorts (range: 0.19 (India) to 0.38 (Peru)) (all p<0.001). Prevalence of stunting (HAZ<-2.0) at 1y ranged from 21% (Vietnam) to 46% (Ethiopia). From age 1 to 5y, stunting prevalence decreased 15.1 percentage points (PP) in Ethiopia (p<0.001) and increased in the other cohorts (range: 3.0 PP (Vietnam) to 5.3 PP (India)) (all p≤0.001). From 5 to 8y, stunting prevalence decreased in all cohorts (range: 5.0 PP (Vietnam) to 12.7 PP (Peru)) (all p<0.001). The incidence of becoming stunted between ages 1 to 5y ranged from 11% (Vietnam) to 22% (India); between ages 5 to 8y, it ranged from 3% (Peru) to 6% (India and Ethiopia). The incidence of recovery from stunting between ages 1 and 5y ranged from 27% (Vietnam) to 53% (Ethiopia); between ages 5 and 8y, it ranged from 30% (India) to 47% (Ethiopia).

Conclusions: We found substantial recovery from early stunting among children in four LMICs.

Introduction

Characterizing child growth patterns, including the incidence of becoming stunted and of recovery from stunting, in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) is important for understanding the determinants and consequences of childhood growth trajectories and for developing effective interventions and policies. Cross-sectional data from the Demographic and Health Surveys (DHS) show that on average children in LMICs experience rapid growth faltering during the first two years of life, with height-for-age z scores (HAZ), the preferred indicator of long-run nutritional status, declining dramatically over the first 24 months of life and increasing only slightly after then (1). These and similar findings have been used to suggest that recovery after two years of age is unlikely and therefore the "window of opportunity" for preventing undernutrition ends at two years.

Nutritional interventions are increasingly targeted toward children under two years, as it has been suggested that, similar to linear growth retardation, the cognitive and developmental deficiencies resulting from poor growth may also be largely irreversible after about two years of age (2-8). However, some evidence challenges these findings (9-17) and suggests that there is significant opportunity for both catch-up growth, as well as the associated cognitive and schooling improvements, following post-infancy growth stunting. Such evidence may support a complementary approach focused on identifying and targeting children post-infancy who are stunted or at risk for growth faltering, for further nutritional or health interventions. There are few published longitudinal studies of child growth and its consequences for health and development (Adair et al., 1999 (18) is an exception), limiting the conclusions that can be drawn about child growth trajectories in LMICs.

Our study addresses this gap in the literature by presenting longitudinal child growth data from population-based cohorts in four LMICs. We analyzed data on growth patterns of children post-infancy (≥ 12 mo), in order to describe growth patterns and determine the incidence of becoming stunted, and of recovery from stunting.

Methods

Young Lives Study

Young Lives is a longitudinal study of the causes and consequences of childhood poverty in Peru, Vietnam, India, and Ethiopia (19). Within each country, the study follows a cohort of ~2000 children (there is also an older cohort of about half this size). The Young Lives Project used a multi-stage sampling strategy, whereby the first stage consisted of the selection of 20 sentinel sites (clusters) per country using a sampling methodology referred to as the Sentinel Site Surveillance system. In each country, the sentinel sites were selected in a semi-purposive manner based on socioeconomic, demographic, geographic, and policy variables that were relevant to the project. In Peru, Vietnam and Ethiopia, a nationwide sampling frame was used, whereas in India the sentinel sites were selected within the state of Andhra Pradesh. The sampling frame allowed for oversampling for poor areas and a mixture of urban and rural areas. In the second stage, within each sentinel site, households with a child in the target age range were enumerated and approximately 100 index children were selected according to comparable, but country-specific, protocols that were analogous to statistical random sampling. Refusal rates among selected households were <2% in all four countries, and in the case of refusal, replacement sampling was used (19). These sampling methods resulted in a sample for each country that reflected the ethnic, geographic, and religious diversity of the population, but that was not chosen to be directly nationally representative. Further details on the sampling strategy used within each country can be found in the Preliminary National Reports accessible at http://www.younglives.org.uk/. Data collection took place in 2002 (round 1, age 6-18 mo), in 2006-2007 (round 2, age 4.5 to 5 y), and in 2009-2010 (round 3, age 7 to 8 y). Supine length (round 1) and standing height (rounds 2 and 3) were measured with length/height boards using standardized WHO methodology (20) and measurements precise to 1mm. The length and height measurements were converted to z scores (HAZ) using WHO standards (21-23).

Data Cleaning and Analysis

Length measurements were available at recruitment for 1,946 children in Ethiopia, 1,992 children in India, 2,040 children in Peru, and 1,990 children in Vietnam. Data were excluded from analysis if the child was not in the target age range (6-17.9 months) at recruitment (0 children in Ethiopia, 39 in India, 27 in Peru, and 69 in Vietnam); was not measured at all three rounds (115 children in Ethiopia, 87 in India, 146 in Peru, and 72 in Vietnam); or had HAZ values that were implausible, defined as |HAZ| > 5 at any one round or an absolute value of change in HAZ between rounds > 4 (121 children in Ethiopia, 70 in India, 32 in Peru, and 19 in Vietnam). After these exclusions, data were

available for 7,171 children (1,710 in Ethiopia, 1,796 in India, 1,835 in Peru, and 1,830 in Vietnam), representing 90% of the original sample.

Children who were younger at recruitment tended to have higher HAZ scores and children who were older at recruitment tended to have lower HAZ scores (**Figure 3.1**). Failing to account for the variability in age at recruitment would distort an assessment of the incidence of becoming stunted and of recovery between rounds 1 and 2, because children who were older than 12 months at round 1 would be coded as having greater recovery than they otherwise would have had they been recruited at 12 months, while children who were younger than 12 months at round 1 would be coded as having greater incidence of stunting than they otherwise would have, assuming that over short periods of time children track along the growth trajectory that is typical of the community in which they live. Therefore, we adjusted round 1 HAZ by adding the difference between the child's age to the site-specific mean HAZ for children ages 11-13 months. Overall, there was little difference by month of age in mean HAZ in rounds 2 and 3, and therefore we did not conduct a similar adjustment for these rounds.

Characterizing Growth

We compared the mean values for HAZ at each round and the mean within-child change in HAZ between rounds. We computed the prevalence of stunting (HAZ < -2.0) in each round as well as the incidence of becoming stunted (the proportion of children who were not stunted in an earlier round but were stunted at a later round) and of recovery (the proportion of children who were stunted in an earlier round but were not stunted at a later round). Tests of statistical significance were carried out using linear regression analyses that accounted for both the paired nature of the data, as well as the clustering within the data due to sampling procedures; all p-values are presented as two-sided. We also determined the extent to which HAZ measurements at earlier ages predict HAZ at later ages by regressing HAZ at round 2 on the HAZ score at round 1, and by regressing HAZ at round 3 on HAZ at rounds 1 and 2. We used the Intercooled STATA 10.0 (StataCorp, College Station, Texas) statistical program for all data analyses.

Results

The average age at recruitment was 12.2 months, with some variation across cohorts (**Table 3.1**). At round 1, the Ethiopian cohort had the lowest mean HAZ (-1.51), and the Vietnamese cohort had the highest (-1.08) (**Table 3.2**). From round 1 to round 2, mean HAZ increased among Ethiopian children (0.27; p<0.001) and decreased among the other cohorts (range -0.19 to -0.32; all p<0.001). From round 2 to round 3, mean HAZ increased in all four cohorts (range 0.19 to 0.38; all p<0.001). At round 1, the Ethiopian cohort had the highest prevalence of stunting (46%), and the Vietnamese cohort had the lowest (21%). From round 1 to round 2, the Ethiopian cohort experienced a 15.1 percentage points [PP] reduction in the prevalence of stunting (p<0.001), while the prevalence of stunting increased (range 3.0 to 5.3 PP; all p≤0.001) in the other three cohorts. From round 2 to round 3, the prevalence of stunting decreased (range 5.0 to 12.7 PP; all p<0.001) in all four cohorts. Taking the whole study period, from round 1 to round 3, there was a significant decrease in the prevalence of stunting in Ethiopia (25.4)
PP; p<0.001), Peru (8.3 PP; p<0.001), and Vietnam (2.0 PP; p=0.04); however, the decrease of 0.8 PP in India was not significant (p=0.45).

From round 1 to round 2, the majority of children had a change in HAZ ≥ 0.50 (Figure 3.2), whereas from round 2 to round 3, the majority of children experienced a change in HAZ ≤ 0.49 .

The incidence of becoming stunted from round 1 to round 2 ranged from 11% (Vietnam) to 22% (India) (**Table 3.3**), and from round 2 to round 3 ranged from 3% (Peru) to 6% (India and Ethiopia). The incidence of recovery ranged from 27% (Vietnam) to 53% (Ethiopia) between rounds 1 and 2, and from 30% (India) to 47% (Ethiopia) between rounds 2 and 3. From round 1 to round 3, the incidence of becoming stunted ranged from 8% (Peru) to 18% (India), and the incidence of recovery ranged from 45% (Vietnam) to 67% (Ethiopia).

When HAZ at round 2 was regressed on HAZ at round 1, the r-squared was 0.26 in Ethiopia, 0.33 in India, 0.47 in Peru, and 0.60 in Vietnam; therefore, between 26% to 60% of the variability in HAZ at round 2 was predicted by HAZ at round 1. When HAZ at round 3 was regressed on HAZ at rounds 1 and 2, the r-squared was 0.53 in Ethiopia, 0.65 in India, 0.71 in Peru, and 0.73 in Vietnam; therefore, between 53% to 73% of the variability in HAZ at round 3 was predicted by HAZ at rounds 1 and 2.

Discussion

We analyzed child growth patterns using HAZ scores at ages 1, 5, and 8 years for 7,171 children in four LMICs participating in the Young Lives Study. Cross-sectional data from round 1 demonstrated decreasing mean HAZ scores between ages 6-18 mo. Three of the four countries continued to experience declining HAZ scores between age 1 and age 5. Mean HAZ increased in all four countries between age 5 and age 8. While stunting status at round 1 was predictive of stunting at rounds 2 and 3, there was substantial recovery from early stunting, with recovery rates ranging from 27% to 53% between rounds 1 and 2, and from 30% to 47% between rounds 2 and 3. Intra-child height measurements over time are highly correlated, reflecting a combination of genetic predisposition and environmental influences that affect linear growth. However, a substantial proportion of the variability in HAZ at age 5 (40-74%) and HAZ at age 8 (27-47%) was not predicted by HAZ measurements at earlier time points.

The data we used were collected through a large, multi-country longitudinal study, using standardized anthropometric procedures and rigorously trained field workers, and provided four diverse country contexts with which to study child growth patterns. However, several limitations of the data merit discussion. The Young Lives study began collecting data when the children were 6-17.9 months, so length at birth is not consistently available. Round 1 data were collected during an age period in which growth faltering occurs in many LMIC settings (1), and indeed our data show this age-related decrease in length-for-age. We addressed this challenge by internally adjusting our data to age 12 mo. Length was not measured at age 2 y, the age at which HAZ generally

reaches its nadir (1). However, data from the INCAP nutrition supplementation study showed that HAZ scores at ages 6, 12, and 18 months are strongly correlated with HAZ at age 24 months (r=0.74, 0.83, 0.91, respectively; all p<0.001), suggesting that HAZ between ages 6-18 months can serve as a reasonable proxy for HAZ at age 24 months (24). Additionally, having only three length/height measurements (at ages 1, 5, and 8) limits our ability to characterize post-infancy child growth patterns.

In the present analysis, the calculation of z-scores used growth standards from two distinct populations. The child growth standards used to calculate z-scores for the Young Lives cohorts at one year of age come from the longitudinal World Health Organization Multicentre Growth Study, a population of exclusively or predominantly breastfed children. The data for these growth standards end at five years of age, so the WHO developed reference charts for children older than five years based on cross-sectional data from the 1977 U.S. National Center for Health Statistics study of child growth, where feeding type was not controlled (22). We used these WHO reference charts for older children in the calculation of z-scores at five and eight years of age. This can limit the comparability of the z-scores at the three time points, and suggests that the data should be interpreted carefully.

The results of this analysis are based on data from four diverse country contexts, and we aimed to present and interpret country-specific findings, while also discussing growth patterns that were common across the sites. We did not, however, attempt to explain sources of variation across sites in the magnitude of growth failure and the incidence of stunting and recovery from stunting, as such an analysis would require far more sites than the four in Young Lives, and the models would quickly become saturated.

This analysis has several strengths. When compared to other longitudinal studies that have collected child growth data, such as those participating in the COHORTS collaboration (25), the Young Lives study provides unique data with which to characterize child growth patterns. The Young Lives study provides more recent data on children born at about the same time the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) were established. The data were collected longitudinally within four diverse population-based cohorts using a study-wide standardization and training process. With its emphasis on LMICs, the Young Lives study is well-positioned to document the incidence and timing of stunting and recovery among post-infancy children in MDG-focused countries characterized by poor childhood nutrition and growth.

Our data demonstrate that while child growth trajectories throughout the preschool and early school-age years are predicted in part by size at age 1, there is significant variation in growth after age 1 y. This includes catch-up growth in some children and faltering in others. These results suggest that while prevention of early-life stunting must continue to be a top priority, program planners and implementers should consider identifying and targeting for further nutritional interventions children who nevertheless become stunted during infancy, as well as children at risk for later growth faltering. An important area for future research is identifying the factors that contribute to these later variations in growth.

96 1.835 1.830
1,055 1,050
(3.4) 12.0 (3.5) 12.3 (3.1)
.4 50.1 51.2

Table 3.1: Baseline characteristics of children in the Young Lives cohorts

1 Based on children in the present analysis.

Mean (SD) 51 (1.58)	Range (-4.98, 4.59)	Mean (SD)	Range
51 (1.58)	(-4.98, 4.59)	1 20 (1 25)	
		-1.50 (1.55)	(-4.87, 4.61)
46 (1.04)	(-4.84, 2.00)	-1.63 (0.95)	(-4.71, 3.13)
21 (1.00)	(-4.87, 3.56)	-1.43 (0.99)	(-4.87, 2.21)
27 (1.35)	(-3.84, 3.92)	-0.32 (1.11)	(-3.99, 3.89)
25 (0.78)	(-2.56, 3.99)	0.19 (0.62)	(-3.23, 3.93)
45.5	-	29.3	-
30.4	-	34.6	-
20.1	-	28.5	-
	45.5 30.4 20.1	$\begin{array}{cccc} (-4.84, 2.00) \\ (-4.87, 3.56) \\ (-1.35) \\ (-3.84, 3.92) \\ (-2.56, 3.99) \\ (-2.56, 3.$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$

 Table 3.2: HAZ measures at 1, 5 and 8 y and changes in HAZ between these ages, among children in the Young Lives study, by country (Continued on next page)

	Peru (n = 1,835)		Vietnam (n	n = 1,830)	
	Mean (SD)	Range	Mean (SD)	Range	
HAZ Round 1 (age 1 y)	-1.29 (1.22)	(-4.95, 3.23)	-1.08 (1.15)	(-4.94, 3.81)	
HAZ Round 2 (age 5 y)	-1.51 (1.08)	(-4.61, 2.05)	-1.33 (1.01)	(-4.65, 2.87)	
HAZ Round 3 (age 8 y)	-1.13 (1.02)	(-4.29, 2.17)	-1.09 (1.03)	(-4.50, 2.88)	
HAZ change Rounds 1 to 2	-0.19 (0.90)	(-3.78, 3.51)	-0.21 (0.72)	(-3.58, 3.52)	
HAZ change Rounds 2 to 3 Stunting (HAZ < -2.0) (%)	0.38 (0.62)	(-2.31, 3.62)	0.24 (0.55)	(-3.42, 3.40)	
Round 1 (age 1 y)	27.9	-	21.2	-	
Round 2 (age 5 y)	32.3	-	24.2	-	
Round 3 (age 8 y)	19.6	-	19.2	-	

Table 3.2: HAZ measures at 1, 5 and 8 y and changes in HAZ between these ages, amongchildren in the Young Lives study, by country(Continued from previous page)

Note: Mean (SD) unless otherwise noted.

Country	Round	HAZ	Status at	Status at Round 2		Status at Round 3	
		Status	Round 1	HAZ < -2.0	$HAZ \ge -2.0$	HAZ < -2.0	$HAZ \ge -2.0$
			%	%	%	%	%
Ethiopia	1	HAZ < -2.0	45.5	47.4	52.6	32.9	67.1
n=1,710		$HAZ \ge -2.0$	54.5	16.1	83.9	9.3	90.7
India	1	HAZ < -2.0	29.3	65.3	34.7	54.3	45.7
n=1,796		$HAZ \ge -2.0$	70.7	21.9	78.1	17.7	82.3
Peru	1	HAZ < -2.0	27.9	69.7	30.3	49.2	50.8
n=1,835		$HAZ \ge -2.0$	72.1	17.8	82.2	8.1	91.9
Vietnam	1	HAZ < -2.0	21.2	72.9	27.1	54.8	45.2
n=1,830		$HAZ \ge -2.0$	78.8	11.2	88.8	9.6	90.4
			Status at				
			Round 2				
		r	%			T	
Ethiopia	2	HAZ < -2.0	30.4			52.6	47.4
n=1,710		$HAZ \ge -2.0$	69.6			5.9	94.1
India	2	HAZ < -2.0	34.6			70.3	29.7
n=1,796		$HAZ \ge -2.0$	65.4			6.3	93.7
Peru	2	HAZ < -2.0	32.3			53.9	46.1
n=1,835		$HAZ \ge -2.0$	67.7			3.2	96.8
Vietnam	2	HAZ < -2.0	24.2			65.2	34.8
n=1,830		$HAZ \ge -2.0$	75.8			4.5	95.5

Table 3.3: Incidence of stunting¹ and of recovery² from stunting among children in the Young Lives study, by country

1 Incidence of stunting is the proportion of children who were not stunted at an earlier survey round but were stunted at a later survey round (stunting is defined as HAZ < -2.0)

2 Incidence of recovery is the proportion of children who were stunted at an earlier survey round but were not stunted at a later survey round



Figure 3.1: Mean round 1 HAZ scores by age at recruitment in months



Figure 3.2: Categories of HAZ change between rounds among children in the Young Lives Study, by country

Chapter 3 References

1. Victora C, deOnis M, Hallal P *et al.* (2010) Worldwide Timing of Growth Faltering: Revisiting Implications for Interventions. *Pediatrics* 125, e473–e480.

2. Ashworth A. (1986) Catch-up growth in children. Nutr Rev 44, 157-163.

3. Checkley W, Epstein L, Gilman R *et al.* (2003) Effects of acute diarrhea on linear growth in Peruvian children. *Am J Epidemiol* 157(2), 166-175.

4. deOnis M. (2003) Commentary: Socioeconomic inequalities and child growth. *Int J Epidemiol* 32(4), 503-505.

5. Martorell R, Khan L, Schroeder D. (1994) Reversibility of stunting: epidemiologic findings from children in developing countries. *Eur J Clin Nutr* 48(Suppl), s45-s47.

6. Norgan N. (2000) Long-term physiological and economic consequences of growth retardation in children and adolescents. *Proc Nutr Soc* 59, 245-256.

7. Shah S, Selwyn B, Luby S *et al.* (2003) Prevalence and correlates of stunting among children in rural Pakistan. *Pediatrics International* 45, 49-53.

8. Walker S, Grantham-McGregor S, Himes J *et al.* (1996) Early childhood supplementation does not benefit the long-term growth of stunted children in Jamaica. *J Nutr* 126, 3017-3024.

9. Johnson D. (2002) Adoption and the effect on children's development. *Early Hum Dev* 68(1), 39-54.

10. Nelson C, Zeanah C, Fox N. (2007) The effects of early deprivation on brainbehavioral development: The Bucharest Early Intervention Project. In: *Adolescent psychopathology and the developing brain: Integrating brain and prevention science*, pp. 197-215 [D Romer, E Walker, editors]. New York: Oxford University Press.

11. Johnson D, Gunnar M. (2012) Growth failure in institutionalized children. In: *Children without permanent parents: Research, practice, and policy.* [RB McCall, MH Van Ijzendoorn, F Juffer, CJ Groark, VK Groza, editors]. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development* Serial No. 301, 76(4). Boston: Wiley-Blackwell.

12. Zeanah C, Gunnar M, McCall R *et al.* (2012) Sensitive periods. In: *Children without permanent parents: Research, practice, and policy.* [RB McCall, MH Van Ijzendoorn, F Juffer, CJ Groark, VK Groza, editors]. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development* Serial No. 301, 76(4). Boston: Wiley-Blackwell.

13. Crookston B, Penny M, Alder S *et al.* (2010) Children who recover from early stunting and children who are not stunted demonstrate similar levels of cognition. *J Nutr* 140(11): 1996-2001.

14. Morgane PJ, Austin-LaFrance R, Bronzino J *et al.* (1993) Prenatal malnutrition and development of the brain. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 17, 91–128.

 Strauss RS, Dietz WH. (1998) Growth and development of term children born with low birth weight: effects of genetic and environmental factors. *J Pediatr* 11, 67–72.
 Pollitt E, Gorman KS, Engle PL *et al.* (1993) Early supplementary feeding and cognition: effects over two decades. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development* 58, 1–99. University of Chicago Press.

17. Cheung Y, Ashorn P. (2010) Continuation of linear growth failure and its association with cognitive ability are not dependent on initial length-for-age: a

longitudinal study from 6 months to 11 years of age. *Acta Paediatr* 99, 1719–1723. 18. Adair LS. (1999) Filipino children exhibit catch-up growth from age 2 to 12 years. *J Nutr* 129, 1140–1148.

19. Barnett I, Ariana P, Petrou S *et al.* (2012) Cohort Profile: The Young Lives Study. *Int J Epidemiol*, 1-8.

20. World Health Organization (2008) Training Course on Child Growth Assessment. WHO Child Growth Standards. Module B Measuring a Child's Growth. Internet: http://www.who.int/childgrowth/training/en/ (accessed 1 October 2012).

21. WHO Multicentre Growth Reference Study Group. (2006) WHO Child Growth Standards based on length/height, weight and age. *Acta Paediatr Supplement* 450, 76-85.

22. deOnis M, Onyango A, Borghi E *et al.* (2007) Development of a WHO growth reference for school-aged children and adolescents. *Bull World Health Organ* 85, 660. 23. World Health Organization (2006) WHO Multicentre Growth Reference Study Group. WHO Child Growth Standards: Length/height-for-age, weight-for-age, weight-for-length, weight-for-height and body mass index-for-age: Methods and development. Geneva: World Health Organization. Internet:

http://www.who.int/childgrowth/standards/en/ (accessed 1 October 2012).

24. Stein AD, Melgar P, Hoddinott J *et al.* (2008) Cohort Profile: The Institute of Nutrition of Central America and Panama (INCAP) Nutrition Trial Cohort Study. *Int J Epidemiol* 37, 716–20.

25. Richter LM, Victora CG, Hallal PC *et al.* (2012) Cohort Profile: The Consortium of Health-Orientated Research in Transitioning Societies. *Int J Epidemiol* 41, 621–626.

Chapter 4: Height-for-age z scores increase despite increasing height deficits among children in five developing countries

Elizabeth A Lundeen, Aryeh D Stein, Linda S Adair, Jere R Behrman, Santosh K Bhargava, Kirk A Dearden, Denise Gigante, Shane A Norris, Linda M Richter, Caroline HD Fall, Reynaldo Martorell, Harshpal Singh Sachdev, Cesar G Victora, on behalf of the COHORTS investigators¹

Nutrition and Health Sciences, Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences, Emory University (EAL); Rollins School of Public Health, Hubert Department of Global Health, Emory University (ADS, RM); Gillings School of Public Health, University of North Carolina - Chapel Hill (LSA); Economics, Sociology and Population Studies Center, University of Pennsylvania (JRB); Sunderlal Jain Hospital, New Delhi, India (SKB); Department of International Health, Boston University School of Public Health, and Center for Global Health and Development, Boston University (KAD); Developmental Pathways to Health Research Unit, University of Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa (EAL, ADS, SAN, LMR); Human Sciences Research Council, Durban, South Africa (LMR); MRC Lifecourse Epidemiology Unit, University of Southampton, UK (CHDF); Sitaram Bhartia Institute of Science and Research, New Delhi, India (HSS); Universidade Federal de Pelotas, Pelotas, Rio Grande do Sol, Brazil (DG, CGV)

1 The COHORTS group members are as follows: Pelotas Birth Cohort (Brazil): Fernando C. Barros, Denise Gigante, Pedro C. Hallal, Bernardo L. Horta, Cesar G. Victora (Universidade Federal de Pelotas, Pelotas); INCAP Nutrition Trial Cohort Study (Guatemala): Reynaldo Martorell, Aryeh D. Stein (Emory University, Atlanta GA); Manual Ramirez-Zea (Instituto de Nutrición de Centra América y Panamá (INCAP), Guatemala); New Delhi Birth Cohort Study (India): Harshpal S. Sachdev, Shikha Sinha (Sitaram Bhartia Institute for Science and Research, New Delhi), Lakshmi Ramakrishnan, Nikhil Tandon (All-India Institute of Medical Sciences, New Delhi), Dorairaj Prabhakaran (Centre for the Control of Chronic Diseases, New Delhi), K. Srinath Reddy (Public Health Foundation of India, New Delhi); Anita Khalil (The Heart Centre, New Delhi), Poornima Prabhakaran (Initiative for Cardiovascular Health Research in Developing Countries, New Delhi), S. K. Dev Biswas (Indian Council of Medical Research, New Delhi), Santosh Bhargava, Tarun Gera, K. D. Gupta, Arti Mishra, Dinesh Mishra, Bhaskar Singh, Rajeshwari Verma (S.L. Jain Hospital, Delhi); Siddarth Ramji (Maulana Azad Medical College, New Delhi); Caroline H. D. Fall, Clive Osmond (University of Southampton, Southampton, UK), Cebu Longitudinal Health and Nutrition Study (Philippines): Linda S. Adair (University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC); Isabelita Bas, Judith Borja, Nanette Lee (Office of Population Studies, University of San Carlos, Cebu City); Darren L. Dahly (University of Leeds,

Leeds); Christopher W. Kuzawa (Northwestern University, Evanston IL); Birth to Twenty (South Africa): Shane A. Norris, Linda Richter, (University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg), Alan Stein (University of Oxford, Oxford).

Abbreviations used: consortium of health-orientated research in transitioning societies (COHORTS); height-for-age z score (HAZ)

Copyright © American Society for Nutrition 2014

From American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, Vol. 100, Issue 3, September 2014

Published online ahead of print July 2014

Chapter 4 reprinted with permission from American Society for Nutrition

Abstract

Background: Growth failure remains a persistent challenge in many countries, and understanding child growth patterns is critical to the development of appropriate interventions and their evaluation. Interpretation of changes in mean height-for-age z scores (HAZ) over time to define catch-up growth has been the subject of debate. Most studies of child growth have been cross-sectional or have focused on children through age 5 y.

Objective: Characterize patterns of linear growth among individuals followed from birth into adulthood.

Design: We compared HAZ and difference in height (cm) from the WHO reference median at birth, 12 mo, 24 mo, mid-childhood and adulthood for 5287 individuals from birth cohorts in Brazil, Guatemala, India, the Philippines and South Africa.

Results: Mean HAZ scores were <0 at birth in the three cohorts with data and ranged from -0.6 (Brazil) to -2.9 (Guatemala) at age 24 mo. Between 24 mo and mid-childhood, HAZ increased by 0.3 to 0.5 in South Africa, Guatemala, and the Philippines and was unchanged in Brazil and India. Between mid-childhood and adulthood, mean HAZ increased in all cohorts but remained <0 in adulthood (mean range -0.3 (Brazil) to -1.8 (Guatemala and Philippines)). However, from 24 mo to adulthood, height differences from the reference median became greater.

Conclusions: From age 2 y to adulthood, mean HAZ increased, even though height deficits relative to the reference median also increased. These two metrics may result in different interpretations of the potential for and the impact of catch-up growth in height.

Introduction

Globally, the prevalence of growth stunting in children under five years decreased from 40% in 1990 to 26% in 2011 (1). Much of this improvement can be attributed to major decreases in the prevalence of stunting in several countries in Asia, whereas stunting prevalence has stagnated in much of Africa over the last two decades (2). Growth failure still remains a persistent challenge in many low- and middle-income countries, and understanding child growth patterns is critical to the development of appropriate interventions and their evaluation.

However, research on childhood growth patterns has several limitations. Much of the data on child growth comes from cross-sectional studies, rather than longitudinal cohorts, limiting the inferences that can be made about how children grow over time. Additionally, studies tend to focus on children up to 5 years of age, and less is known about growth patterns after this age. Furthermore, the use and interpretation of indicators like height-for-age z scores (HAZ) for characterizing growth patterns has been the subject of debate (3).

We aimed to address these limitations in the child growth literature by characterizing patterns of linear growth from birth to adulthood among cohorts in five middle-income countries, and evaluating these data to further understanding of the interpretation of child growth indicators used to define catch-up growth.

Methods

We used data from the consortium of health-orientated research in transitioning societies (COHORTS), which includes birth cohorts in five middle-income countries: the 1982 Pelotas Birth Cohort (Brazil), the Institute of Nutrition of Central America and Panama Nutrition Trial Cohort (Guatemala), the New Delhi Birth Cohort (India), the Cebu Longitudinal Health and Nutrition Survey (the Philippines), and the Birth to Twenty Cohort (South Africa) (4). Each study was reviewed and approved by an appropriate ethics committee or institutional review board, and informed consent was provided by the participants or their caretakers.

The present analysis employs length and height data collected within each cohort using study-specific, but comparable, methodologies. Some aspects of the length/height data at these time points have been previously published (5, 6). With the exception of the Guatemala cohort, in all studies supine length was measured until 24 months, and standing height was measured thereafter. In Guatemala, supine length was measured through the age of 7 years, and for the purposes of comparability, supine length was converted to standing height by subtracting 1.0 cm from lengths obtained at ages 24 months and older (7). Length (cm) measurements were available at birth in India, within six days of birth in the Philippines, and within fifteen days of birth in Guatemala. Length at birth was not measured in South Africa and Brazil.

The studies varied in the timing and frequency of length/height measurements (details published previously) (5). For the present analysis, data from common child ages were used, specifically: birth (India, Philippines, Guatemala); 12 months (all 5 cohorts); 24 months (all 5 cohorts); mid-childhood (48 months in Brazil, Guatemala, India and South Africa, and 102 months in the Philippines) and adulthood (all 5 cohorts). The mean age at the time of the adult height measure was 23.1 years in Brazil, 31.3 years in Guatemala, 29.4 years in India, 21.2 years in the Philippines, and 18.2 years in South Africa.

Length and height measurements were converted to z scores (HAZ) using either the 2006 growth standards (0-59 months) (8), derived from the longitudinal World Health Organization Multicentre Growth Study, a population of exclusively or predominantly breastfed children from six countries, or the 2007 WHO reference curves (5-19 years) (9), which are based on national cross-sectional anthropometric data from the U.S. National Center for Health Statistics for 1977. Using these growth standards, for each time point we also computed the difference between the individuals' length/height (cm) and the age- and sex-specific value of the 50th percentile of the reference population (referred to hereafter as the height difference).

Statistical Methods

We restricted the analysis to participants who had either a weight or a length measure at birth, a length measure at 12 months, and a height measure at 24 months, mid-childhood, and adulthood (n=5,696). We eliminated from the analysis individuals with implausible HAZ values, defined as |HAZ| > 5 at any one round (n= 257) or an absolute value of

change in HAZ between rounds > 4 (n=152). Following these restrictions, the final analytical sample was n = 5,287.

We computed means for the height difference and HAZ and the prevalence of stunting (HAZ < -2.0) at each time point, as well as changes in these measures between time points. We determined the incidence of stunting (the proportion of children who were not stunted at an earlier time point but were stunted at a later time point), as well as the incidence of recovery (the proportion of children who were stunted at an earlier time point but were not stunted at a later time point). We used Intercooled STATA 10.0 (StataCorp, College Station, Texas) statistical program for all data analyses.

Results

For the three cohorts with data, the prevalence of stunting at birth ranged from 5.8% (Philippines) to 9.4% (India) (**Figure 4.1**). The prevalence of stunting increased through 24 months (range of stunting prevalence at 24 mo: 13.2% (Brazil) to 81.2% (Guatemala)). The prevalence of stunting decreased from 24 mo to adulthood (range at adulthood: 3.2% (Brazil) to 41.1% (Philippines)). The majority of incident stunting had occurred by age 24 mo (**Figure 4.2**); recovery from stunting was highest after age 24 mo (**Figure 4.3**).

For the three cohorts with data, the mean HAZs at birth were all <0, and in all five cohorts, HAZ decreased through age 24 mo (**Table 4.1**). Mean HAZ at 24 mo ranged from -0.6 (Brazil) to -2.9 (Guatemala). Between 24 mo and mid-childhood, mean HAZ

increased in South Africa, Guatemala, and the Philippines, and was virtually unchanged in Brazil and India. Between mid-childhood and adulthood, mean HAZ increased (range: 0.2 (Philippines) to 0.8 (India)), but remained <0 (adult mean HAZ range: -0.3 (Brazil) to -1.8 (Guatemala and Philippines)).

As the cohorts aged, the difference between the mean height and the reference medians became greater (Table 4.1). At 24 mo the mean difference between the children's heights and the reference ranged from -1.5 cm (Brazil) to -8.9 (Guatemala). Between 24 mo and adulthood there was a further increase in this difference, so that in adulthood the difference ranged from -2.4 cm (Brazil) to -12.6 (Philippines). Thus, from 59% (Philippines) to 90% (South Africa) of the deficit in adult height was established by age 24 mo.

Discussion

Using prospectively-followed birth cohorts in five middle-income countries, we have documented that from age 2 y through adulthood, mean HAZ increased and the prevalence of stunting decreased, even though height deficits relative to the reference median became larger.

Growth is a widely-used measure to gauge the quality of a child's environment, as growth failure is related to a wide range of adverse outcomes in later life (10). HAZ scores are frequently used to compare children of the same age and sex in different locations and over time. An analysis of cross-sectional data from 54 countries, most of which were low-and middle-income settings, found that mean HAZ is <0 at birth and decreases sharply until age 24 months, after which it increases slightly until 5 years of age (11). These and many other data support a focus on the first 1,000 days of life (conception to 24 months) for interventions aimed at improving growth. However, several studies, including an earlier paper using COHORTS data (5), demonstrate an increase in HAZ from its nadir at 24 mo. Prentice et al., (2013) (6) used those data to suggest that there may be periods beyond 24 months in which substantial catch-up growth occurs and interventions could improve growth. Lundeen et al., (2013), Crookston et al., (2013), Schott et al. (2013), and Fink and Rockers (2014) found similar results for Ethiopia, India, Peru and Vietnam (12-15).

The interpretation of within-child changes in mean HAZ over time, particularly in reference to catch-up growth, has been the subject of debate (3, 16). Leroy and Ruel argue that the interpretation of Prentice et al. is incorrect, and that the increase in mean HAZ after 24 months does not represent true catch-up growth in terms of height deficits, but instead is a result of the method for calculating z scores (3). Our data support Leroy and Ruel's argument. We show that increases in HAZ can coexist with further accumulation of deficits in height relative to the reference medians. The arithmetic explanation for this apparent paradox can be found in the calculation of HAZ as the difference between the child's measured length and that of the reference child of the same age and sex, divided by the standard deviation of the age- and sex-specific reference distribution. The standard deviation of the reference distribution varies by age, being (for males) 1.89 cm at birth, 2.38 at 12 mo, 3.06 at 24 mo, 4.19 at 48 mo and 7.30 in adulthood (8, 9). A similar pattern holds for females. Thus, for a constant absolute

difference in height from the reference, HAZ will attenuate as the standard deviation increases. This same calculation also explains at least part of the decreases in prevalence of stunting, which is defined as HAZ<-2.0. As HAZ increases, the prevalence of stunting will decrease even without any true recovery of the heights of the individuals being measured.

A limitation of these data is possible sample selection bias resulting from attrition within the cohorts. To be included in the analytical sample, participants had to have a weight or length measure at birth and length or height measures at all subsequent time periods. Among the five cohorts, Brazil and South Africa had relatively higher attrition of participants. However, an analysis of HAZ patterns in the cross sectional data showed that they were parallel to the patterns seen among those for whom we have complete longitudinal data, making selection bias unlikely.

Our findings argue for careful interpretation of the metrics used for defining catch-up growth in height in populations where growth failure is still the norm. Choosing HAZ or absolute height differences from the median as alternative metrics may result in opposite conclusions about the existence of catch-up growth from birth to adulthood. We suggest that height deficit should always be included in the evaluation, as the mathematical properties of HAZ over time will by nature result in a more optimistic assessment of catch-up growth.

Additionally, the two measures may differ in their value for evaluating associations between child growth and long-term health and development outcomes. For any given age, HAZ is a linear transformation of the height deficit from the reference median, and thus they are perfectly correlated and equivalent in their predictive value at that time point. However, changes in HAZ and height deficits over time are not necessarily perfectly correlated, and therefore these two measures may differ in their ability to predict long-term outcomes. An important area for future research is determining which metric, changes in HAZ or changes in height deficit over time, is better at predicting different outcomes. We are aware of no such research.

The majority of the deficit in adult height - from 59% in the Philippines to 90% in South Africa - is accrued by 24 months. Taken together with evidence on the importance of early growth for cognitive development in particular and adult human capital in general (17), we strongly endorse a continued focus on the 'first 1000 days' as a critical window for interventions to promote human capital over the life course.

Integrit (cm)Tregrit (cm)Tregrit (cm)Tregrit (cm)Tregrit (cm)Treference ¹ (cm)Mean (SD)Mean (SD)Mean (SD)Mean (SD)BrazilMean (SD)Mean (SD)Mean (SD)Birth12 months96673.0 (3.3)-0.4 (1.2)-0.3 (2.9)24 months96684.6 (3.8)-0.6 (1.2)-1.5 (3.7)Mid-childhood966100.0 (4.7)-0.6 (1.1)-2.2 (4.5)Adulthood966167.5 (8.6)-0.3 (0.9)-2.4 (6.1)GuatemalaBirth19749.3 (2.2)-0.1 (1.1)-0.2 (2.1)12 months26669.1 (2.5)-2.3 (0.9)-5.6 (2.4)24 months26678.1 (3.0)-2.9 (0.9)-8.9 (2.9)Mid-childhood266157.6 (8.2)-1.8 (0.8)-12.3 (5.5)IndiaBirth1,05948.4 (2.1)-0.6 (1.1)-1.2 (2.0)12 months1,07071.3 (2.8)-1.5 (1.1)-3.7 (2.7)24 months1,07080.6 (3.5)-1.9 (1.1)-6.6 (3.4)Mid-childhood1,07094.9 (4.1)-1.9 (1.0)-8.1 (4.1)Adulthood1,070163.5 (9.2)-1.1 (0.9)-7.4 (5.9)PhilippinesBirth1.80649.1 (2.0)-0.2 (1.0)-0.4 (2.0)		n	Hoight (cm)	Haight-for-age 7	Hoight deficit from
Brazil Mean (SD) Mean (SD) Mean (SD) Birth - - - 12 months 966 73.0 (3.3) -0.4 (1.2) -0.3 (2.9) 24 months 966 84.6 (3.8) -0.6 (1.2) -1.5 (3.7) Mid-childhood 966 100.0 (4.7) -0.6 (1.1) -2.2 (4.5) Adulthood 966 167.5 (8.6) -0.3 (0.9) -2.4 (6.1) Guatemala Birth 197 49.3 (2.2) -0.1 (1.1) -0.2 (2.1) 12 months 266 69.1 (2.5) -2.3 (0.9) -5.6 (2.4) 24 months 266 78.1 (3.0) -2.9 (0.9) -8.9 (2.9) Mid-childhood 266 157.6 (8.2) -1.8 (0.8) -12.3 (5.5) India Birth 1,059 48.4 (2.1) -0.6 (1.1) -1.2 (2.0) 12 months 1,070 71.3 (2.8) -1.5 (1.1) -3.7 (2.7) 24 months 1,070 80.6 (3.5) -1.9 (1.1) -6.6 (3.4) Mid-childhood 1,070 94.9 (4.1) -1.9 (1.0) -8.1 (4.1) Adulthood 1,070 163.5 (9		п	Mean (SD)	scores	reference ¹ (cm)
Brazil			Wiedii (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)
Birth966 $73.0 (3.3)$ $-0.4 (1.2)$ $-0.3 (2.9)$ 24 months966 $84.6 (3.8)$ $-0.6 (1.2)$ $-1.5 (3.7)$ Mid-childhood966 $100.0 (4.7)$ $-0.6 (1.1)$ $-2.2 (4.5)$ Adulthood966 $167.5 (8.6)$ $-0.3 (0.9)$ $-2.4 (6.1)$ GuatemalaBirth197 $49.3 (2.2)$ $-0.1 (1.1)$ $-0.2 (2.1)$ 12 months266 $69.1 (2.5)$ $-2.3 (0.9)$ $-5.6 (2.4)$ 24 months266 $78.1 (3.0)$ $-2.9 (0.9)$ $-8.9 (2.9)$ Mid-childhood266 $157.6 (8.2)$ $-1.8 (0.8)$ $-12.3 (5.5)$ IndiaIndiaBirth $1,070$ $71.3 (2.8)$ $-1.5 (1.1)$ $-3.7 (2.7)$ 24 months $1,070$ $80.6 (3.5)$ $-1.9 (1.1)$ $-6.6 (3.4)$ Mid-childhood $1,070$ $94.9 (4.1)$ $-1.9 (1.0)$ $-8.1 (4.1)$ Adulthood $1,070$ $163.5 (9.2)$ $-1.1 (0.9)$ $-7.4 (5.9)$	Rrazil			Medil (SD)	Medil (SD)
Difful11111112 months96673.0 (3.3) $-0.4 (1.2)$ $-0.3 (2.9)$ 24 months96684.6 (3.8) $-0.6 (1.2)$ $-1.5 (3.7)$ Mid-childhood966100.0 (4.7) $-0.6 (1.1)$ $-2.2 (4.5)$ Adulthood966167.5 (8.6) $-0.3 (0.9)$ $-2.4 (6.1)$ GuatemalaBirth19749.3 (2.2) $-0.1 (1.1)$ $-0.2 (2.1)$ 12 months26669.1 (2.5) $-2.3 (0.9)$ $-5.6 (2.4)$ 24 months26678.1 (3.0) $-2.9 (0.9)$ $-8.9 (2.9)$ Mid-childhood26693.4 (3.7) $-2.4 (0.9)$ $-9.6 (3.6)$ Adulthood266157.6 (8.2) $-1.8 (0.8)$ $-12.3 (5.5)$ IndiaBirth1,05948.4 (2.1) $-0.6 (1.1)$ $-1.2 (2.0)$ 12 months1,07071.3 (2.8) $-1.5 (1.1)$ $-3.7 (2.7)$ 24 months1,07080.6 (3.5) $-1.9 (1.1)$ $-6.6 (3.4)$ Mid-childhood1,07094.9 (4.1) $-1.9 (1.0)$ $-8.1 (4.1)$ Adulthood1,070163.5 (9.2) $-1.1 (0.9)$ $-7.4 (5.9)$ PhilippinesBirth1,80649.1 (2.0) $-0.2 (1.0)$ $-0.4 (2.0)$	Birth	_	_	_	_
12 months 966 $84.6 (3.8)$ $-0.4 (1.2)$ $-1.5 (3.7)$ 24 months 966 $84.6 (3.8)$ $-0.6 (1.2)$ $-1.5 (3.7)$ Mid-childhood 966 $100.0 (4.7)$ $-0.6 (1.1)$ $-2.2 (4.5)$ Adulthood 966 $167.5 (8.6)$ $-0.3 (0.9)$ $-2.4 (6.1)$ GuatemalaBirth 197 $49.3 (2.2)$ $-0.1 (1.1)$ $-0.2 (2.1)$ 12 months 266 $69.1 (2.5)$ $-2.3 (0.9)$ $-5.6 (2.4)$ 24 months 266 $78.1 (3.0)$ $-2.9 (0.9)$ $-8.9 (2.9)$ Mid-childhood 266 $157.6 (8.2)$ $-1.8 (0.8)$ $-12.3 (5.5)$ IndiaBirth $1,059$ $48.4 (2.1)$ $-0.6 (1.1)$ $-1.2 (2.0)$ 12 months $1,070$ $71.3 (2.8)$ $-1.5 (1.1)$ $-3.7 (2.7)$ 24 months $1,070$ $80.6 (3.5)$ $-1.9 (1.1)$ $-6.6 (3.4)$ Mid-childhood $1,070$ $94.9 (4.1)$ $-1.9 (1.0)$ $-8.1 (4.1)$ Adulthood $1,070$ $163.5 (9.2)$ $-1.1 (0.9)$ $-7.4 (5.9)$ PhilippinesBirth $1,806$ $49.1 (2.0)$ $-0.2 (1.0)$ $-0.4 (2.0)$	12 months	966	73.0(3.3)	-0.4(1.2)	-0.3(2.9)
24 months 700 $64.0 (5.3)$ $-0.6 (1.2)$ $-1.3 (5.7)$ Mid-childhood 966 $100.0 (4.7)$ $-0.6 (1.1)$ $-2.2 (4.5)$ Adulthood 966 $167.5 (8.6)$ $-0.3 (0.9)$ $-2.4 (6.1)$ GuatemalaBirth 197 $49.3 (2.2)$ $-0.1 (1.1)$ $-0.2 (2.1)$ 12 months 266 $69.1 (2.5)$ $-2.3 (0.9)$ $-5.6 (2.4)$ 24 months 266 $78.1 (3.0)$ $-2.9 (0.9)$ $-8.9 (2.9)$ Mid-childhood 266 $157.6 (8.2)$ $-1.8 (0.8)$ $-12.3 (5.5)$ IndiaIndiaBirth $1,059$ $48.4 (2.1)$ $-0.6 (1.1)$ $-1.2 (2.0)$ 12 months $1,070$ $71.3 (2.8)$ $-1.5 (1.1)$ $-3.7 (2.7)$ 24 months $1,070$ $80.6 (3.5)$ $-1.9 (1.1)$ $-6.6 (3.4)$ Mid-childhood $1,070$ $94.9 (4.1)$ $-1.9 (1.0)$ $-8.1 (4.1)$ Adulthood $1,070$ $163.5 (9.2)$ $-1.1 (0.9)$ $-7.4 (5.9)$ Philippines	24 months	966	84 6 (3.8)	-0.4(1.2)	-0.5(2.9)
Adulthood960100.0 (4.7) $-0.0 (1.1)$ $-2.2 (4.3)$ Adulthood966167.5 (8.6) $-0.3 (0.9)$ $-2.4 (6.1)$ GuatemalaBirth19749.3 (2.2) $-0.1 (1.1)$ $-0.2 (2.1)$ 12 months26669.1 (2.5) $-2.3 (0.9)$ $-5.6 (2.4)$ 24 months26678.1 (3.0) $-2.9 (0.9)$ $-8.9 (2.9)$ Mid-childhood26693.4 (3.7) $-2.4 (0.9)$ $-9.6 (3.6)$ Adulthood266157.6 (8.2) $-1.8 (0.8)$ $-12.3 (5.5)$ IndiaIndiaBirth1,05948.4 (2.1) $-0.6 (1.1)$ $-1.2 (2.0)$ 12 months1,07071.3 (2.8) $-1.5 (1.1)$ $-3.7 (2.7)$ 24 months1,07080.6 (3.5) $-1.9 (1.1)$ $-6.6 (3.4)$ Mid-childhood1,07094.9 (4.1) $-1.9 (1.0)$ $-8.1 (4.1)$ Adulthood1,070163.5 (9.2) $-1.1 (0.9)$ $-7.4 (5.9)$ PhilippinesBirth1 80649.1 (2.0)	24 monus Mid-childhood	966	100 0 (4.7)	-0.6(1.2)	-1.3(5.7)
AdditionalGuatemalaBirth19749.3 (2.2) $-0.1 (1.1)$ $-0.2 (2.1)$ 12 months26669.1 (2.5) $-2.3 (0.9)$ $-5.6 (2.4)$ 24 months26678.1 (3.0) $-2.9 (0.9)$ $-8.9 (2.9)$ Mid-childhood26693.4 (3.7) $-2.4 (0.9)$ $-9.6 (3.6)$ Adulthood266157.6 (8.2) $-1.8 (0.8)$ $-12.3 (5.5)$ IndiaBirth1,05948.4 (2.1) $-0.6 (1.1)$ $-1.2 (2.0)$ 12 months1,07071.3 (2.8) $-1.5 (1.1)$ $-3.7 (2.7)$ 24 months1,07080.6 (3.5) $-1.9 (1.1)$ $-6.6 (3.4)$ Mid-childhood1,07094.9 (4.1) $-1.9 (1.0)$ $-8.1 (4.1)$ Adulthood1,070163.5 (9.2) $-1.1 (0.9)$ $-7.4 (5.9)$ PhilippinesBirth1,80649.1 (2.0) $-0.2 (1.0)$ $-0.4 (2.0)$	Adulthood	966	167.5(8.6)	-0.0(1.1)	-2.2(4.3)
GuatemaaBirth19749.3 (2.2) $-0.1 (1.1)$ $-0.2 (2.1)$ 12 months26669.1 (2.5) $-2.3 (0.9)$ $-5.6 (2.4)$ 24 months26678.1 (3.0) $-2.9 (0.9)$ $-8.9 (2.9)$ Mid-childhood26693.4 (3.7) $-2.4 (0.9)$ $-9.6 (3.6)$ Adulthood266157.6 (8.2) $-1.8 (0.8)$ $-12.3 (5.5)$ IndiaBirth1,05948.4 (2.1) $-0.6 (1.1)$ $-1.2 (2.0)$ 12 months1,07071.3 (2.8) $-1.5 (1.1)$ $-3.7 (2.7)$ 24 months1,07080.6 (3.5) $-1.9 (1.1)$ $-6.6 (3.4)$ Mid-childhood1,07094.9 (4.1) $-1.9 (1.0)$ $-8.1 (4.1)$ Adulthood1,070163.5 (9.2) $-1.1 (0.9)$ $-7.4 (5.9)$ PhilippinesBirth1,80649.1 (2.0) $-0.2 (1.0)$ $-0.4 (2.0)$	Customala	900	107.5 (8.0)	-0.5 (0.9)	-2.4 (0.1)
Bitti 197 $49.5(2.2)$ $-0.1(1.1)$ $-0.2(2.1)$ 12 months 266 $69.1(2.5)$ $-2.3(0.9)$ $-5.6(2.4)$ 24 months 266 $78.1(3.0)$ $-2.9(0.9)$ $-8.9(2.9)$ Mid-childhood 266 $93.4(3.7)$ $-2.4(0.9)$ $-9.6(3.6)$ Adulthood 266 $157.6(8.2)$ $-1.8(0.8)$ $-12.3(5.5)$ IndiaIndiaBirth $1,059$ $48.4(2.1)$ $-0.6(1.1)$ $-1.2(2.0)$ 12 months $1,070$ $71.3(2.8)$ $-1.5(1.1)$ $-3.7(2.7)$ 24 months $1,070$ $80.6(3.5)$ $-1.9(1.1)$ $-6.6(3.4)$ Mid-childhood $1,070$ $94.9(4.1)$ $-1.9(1.0)$ $-8.1(4.1)$ Adulthood $1,070$ $163.5(9.2)$ $-1.1(0.9)$ $-7.4(5.9)$ PhilippinesBirth $1,806$ $49.1(2.0)$ $-0.2(1.0)$ $-0.4(2.0)$	Dirth	107	40.2 (2.2)	0.1(1.1)	0.2(2.1)
12 months 266 $69.1(2.3)$ $-2.5(0.9)$ $-5.6(2.4)$ 24 months 266 $78.1(3.0)$ $-2.9(0.9)$ $-8.9(2.9)$ Mid-childhood 266 $93.4(3.7)$ $-2.4(0.9)$ $-9.6(3.6)$ Adulthood 266 $157.6(8.2)$ $-1.8(0.8)$ $-12.3(5.5)$ India Birth $1,059$ $48.4(2.1)$ $-0.6(1.1)$ $-1.2(2.0)$ 12 months $1,070$ $71.3(2.8)$ $-1.5(1.1)$ $-3.7(2.7)$ 24 months $1,070$ $80.6(3.5)$ $-1.9(1.1)$ $-6.6(3.4)$ Mid-childhood $1,070$ $94.9(4.1)$ $-1.9(1.0)$ $-8.1(4.1)$ Adulthood $1,070$ $163.5(9.2)$ $-1.1(0.9)$ $-7.4(5.9)$ Philippines Birth 1.806 $49.1(2.0)$ $-0.2(1.0)$ $-0.4(2.0)$	DII UI 12 m antha	197	49.3 (2.2)	-0.1(1.1)	-0.2(2.1)
24 months 266 $78.1 (3.0)$ $-2.9 (0.9)$ $-8.9 (2.9)$ Mid-childhood 266 $93.4 (3.7)$ $-2.4 (0.9)$ $-9.6 (3.6)$ Adulthood 266 $157.6 (8.2)$ $-1.8 (0.8)$ $-12.3 (5.5)$ India Birth $1,059$ $48.4 (2.1)$ $-0.6 (1.1)$ $-1.2 (2.0)$ 12 months $1,070$ $71.3 (2.8)$ $-1.5 (1.1)$ $-3.7 (2.7)$ 24 months $1,070$ $80.6 (3.5)$ $-1.9 (1.1)$ $-6.6 (3.4)$ Mid-childhood $1,070$ $94.9 (4.1)$ $-1.9 (1.0)$ $-8.1 (4.1)$ Adulthood $1,070$ $163.5 (9.2)$ $-1.1 (0.9)$ $-7.4 (5.9)$ Philippines Birth 1.806 $49.1 (2.0)$ $-0.2 (1.0)$ $-0.4 (2.0)$	12 months	266	69.1 (2.5) 79.1 (2.0)	-2.3 (0.9)	-5.6 (2.4)
Mid-childhood 266 $93.4 (3.7)$ $-2.4 (0.9)$ $-9.6 (3.6)$ Adulthood 266 $157.6 (8.2)$ $-1.8 (0.8)$ $-12.3 (5.5)$ IndiaBirth $1,059$ $48.4 (2.1)$ $-0.6 (1.1)$ $-1.2 (2.0)$ 12 months $1,070$ $71.3 (2.8)$ $-1.5 (1.1)$ $-3.7 (2.7)$ 24 months $1,070$ $80.6 (3.5)$ $-1.9 (1.1)$ $-6.6 (3.4)$ Mid-childhood $1,070$ $94.9 (4.1)$ $-1.9 (1.0)$ $-8.1 (4.1)$ Adulthood $1,070$ $163.5 (9.2)$ $-1.1 (0.9)$ $-7.4 (5.9)$ PhilippinesBirth 1.806 $49.1 (2.0)$ $-0.2 (1.0)$ $-0.4 (2.0)$	24 months	266	/8.1 (3.0)	-2.9 (0.9)	-8.9 (2.9)
Adulthood 266 $157.6(8.2)$ $-1.8(0.8)$ $-12.3(5.5)$ IndiaBirth $1,059$ $48.4(2.1)$ $-0.6(1.1)$ $-1.2(2.0)$ 12 months $1,070$ $71.3(2.8)$ $-1.5(1.1)$ $-3.7(2.7)$ 24 months $1,070$ $80.6(3.5)$ $-1.9(1.1)$ $-6.6(3.4)$ Mid-childhood $1,070$ $94.9(4.1)$ $-1.9(1.0)$ $-8.1(4.1)$ Adulthood $1,070$ $163.5(9.2)$ $-1.1(0.9)$ $-7.4(5.9)$ PhilippinesBirth 1.806 $49.1(2.0)$ $-0.2(1.0)$ $-0.4(2.0)$	Mid-childhood	266	93.4 (3.7)	-2.4 (0.9)	-9.6 (3.6)
IndiaBirth $1,059$ 48.4 (2.1) -0.6 (1.1) -1.2 (2.0) 12 months $1,070$ 71.3 (2.8) -1.5 (1.1) -3.7 (2.7) 24 months $1,070$ 80.6 (3.5) -1.9 (1.1) -6.6 (3.4)Mid-childhood $1,070$ 94.9 (4.1) -1.9 (1.0) -8.1 (4.1)Adulthood $1,070$ 163.5 (9.2) -1.1 (0.9) -7.4 (5.9)PhilippinesBirth $1,806$ 49.1 (2.0) -0.2 (1.0) -0.4 (2.0)	Adulthood	266	157.6 (8.2)	-1.8 (0.8)	-12.3 (5.5)
Birth $1,059$ 48.4 (2.1) -0.6 (1.1) -1.2 (2.0) 12 months $1,070$ 71.3 (2.8) -1.5 (1.1) -3.7 (2.7) 24 months $1,070$ 80.6 (3.5) -1.9 (1.1) -6.6 (3.4)Mid-childhood $1,070$ 94.9 (4.1) -1.9 (1.0) -8.1 (4.1)Adulthood $1,070$ 163.5 (9.2) -1.1 (0.9) -7.4 (5.9)PhilippinesBirth $1,806$ 49.1 (2.0) -0.2 (1.0) -0.4 (2.0)	India				
12 months $1,070$ 71.3 (2.8) -1.5 (1.1) -3.7 (2.7)24 months $1,070$ 80.6 (3.5) -1.9 (1.1) -6.6 (3.4)Mid-childhood $1,070$ 94.9 (4.1) -1.9 (1.0) -8.1 (4.1)Adulthood $1,070$ 163.5 (9.2) -1.1 (0.9) -7.4 (5.9)PhilippinesBirth $1,806$ 49.1 (2.0) -0.2 (1.0) -0.4 (2.0)	Birth	1,059	48.4 (2.1)	-0.6 (1.1)	-1.2 (2.0)
24 months 1,070 80.6 (3.5) -1.9 (1.1) -6.6 (3.4) Mid-childhood 1,070 94.9 (4.1) -1.9 (1.0) -8.1 (4.1) Adulthood 1,070 163.5 (9.2) -1.1 (0.9) -7.4 (5.9) Philippines Birth 1.806 49.1 (2.0) -0.2 (1.0) -0.4 (2.0)	12 months	1,070	71.3 (2.8)	-1.5 (1.1)	-3.7 (2.7)
Mid-childhood 1,070 94.9 (4.1) -1.9 (1.0) -8.1 (4.1) Adulthood 1,070 163.5 (9.2) -1.1 (0.9) -7.4 (5.9) Philippines Birth 1,806 49.1 (2.0) -0.2 (1.0) -0.4 (2.0)	24 months	1,070	80.6 (3.5)	-1.9 (1.1)	-6.6 (3.4)
Adulthood 1,070 163.5 (9.2) -1.1 (0.9) -7.4 (5.9) Philippines Birth 1,806 49.1 (2.0) -0.2 (1.0) -0.4 (2.0)	Mid-childhood	1,070	94.9 (4.1)	-1.9 (1.0)	-8.1 (4.1)
Philippines Birth 1 806 49 1 (2 0) -0 2 (1 0) -0 4 (2 0)	Adulthood	1,070	163.5 (9.2)	-1.1 (0.9)	-7.4 (5.9)
Birth 1806 491(20) $-02(10)$ $-04(20)$	Philippines				
Ditti $1,000 + 7.1(2.0) - 0.2(1.0) - 0.4(2.0)$	Birth	1,806	49.1 (2.0)	-0.2 (1.0)	-0.4 (2.0)
12 months $1,806$ $71.0(2.7)$ $-1.6(1.1)$ $-3.6(2.6)$	12 months	1,806	71.0 (2.7)	-1.6 (1.1)	-3.6 (2.6)
24 months 1.806 $79.5(3.3)$ $-2.5(1.0)$ $-7.4(3.2)$	24 months	1.806	79.5 (3.3)	-2.5(1.0)	-7.4 (3.2)
Mid-childhood ² 1.806 117.9 (5.3) -2.0 (0.9) -11.7 (5.3)	Mid-childhood ²	1.806	117.9 (5.3)	-2.0(0.9)	-11.7 (5.3)
Adulthood 1.806 157.7 (8.2) -1.8 (0.8) -12.6 (5.6)	Adulthood	1.806	157.7 (8.2)	-1.8 (0.8)	-12.6 (5.6)
South Africa	South Africa	<i>,</i>		()	
Birth	Birth	_	_	_	_
12 months 1 179 73 4 (2 9) -0.6 (1 1) -1.1 (2 8)	12 months	1 1 7 9	734(29)	-0.6(1.1)	-11(28)
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	24 months	1 1 7 9	(2.7)	-1 2 (1 0)	-38(31)
$1,177$ $05.2(5.2)$ $-1.2(1.0)$ $-5.0(5.1)$ Mid_childhood 1.170 00.0(A.0) 0.0(0.0) 2.6(2.0)	Mid_childhood	1 1 70	99.0(3.2)	-1.2(1.0)	-3.6(3.1)
Adulthood 1.179 $1650(8.7)$ $-0.6(0.9)$ $-3.0(5.9)$	Adulthood	1 1 70	165 0 (8 7)	-0.5(0.7)	-3.0(5.7)

 Table 4.1: Measures of linear growth at selected ages in five cohorts from middleincome countries, COHORTS

1 Reference is the 50th percentile (median) for the age- and sex-specific height (cm) based on the WHO growth standards; each individual's height difference from the reference was calculated and then the mean difference was determined for each country and time point. 2 Mid-childhood is defined as 48 mo. for all countries except Philippines, where it is defined as 102 mo.





Legend for Figure 4.1 [†] Stunting is defined as HAZ<-2.0 * Mid-childhood



Figure 4.2: Incidence of stunting^{\dagger} among children in five birth cohorts in middle-income countries, COHORTS

Legend for Figure 4.2

[†] Incidence of stunting is the proportion of children who were not stunted at an earlier survey round but were stunted at a later survey round (stunting is defined as HAZ<-2.0) * Height data at birth not available for Brazil and South Africa

** Mid-childhood



Figure 4.3: Incidence of recovery^{\dagger} among children in five birth cohorts in middle-income countries, COHORTS

Legend for Figure 4.3

[†] Incidence of recovery is the proportion of children who were stunted at an earlier survey round but were not stunted at a later survey round (stunting is defined as HAZ<-2.0) * Height data at birth not available for Brazil and South Africa; incidence of recovery was 0.0% in Guatemala

** Mid-childhood

Chapter 4 References

1. Black RE, Victora CG, Walker SP, Bhutta ZA, Christian P, de Onis M, Ezzati M, Grantham-McGregor S, Katz J, Martorell R, et al. Maternal and child undernutrition and overweight in low-income and middle-income countries. Lancet 2013;382:427–51.

2. deOnis M, Blossner M, Borghi E. Prevalence and trends of stunting among pre-school children, 1990-2020. Public Health Nutr 2012;15(1):142-8.

3. Leroy JL, Ruel M. Letters to the Editor: Critical windows for nutritional interventions against stunting. Am J Clin Nutr 2013;98:854–8.

4. Richter LM, Victora CG, Hallal PC, Adair LS, Bhargava SK, Fall CH, Lee N, Martorell R, Norris SA, Sachdev HS, et al. Cohort Profile: The Consortium of Health-Orientated Research in Transitioning Societies. Int J Epidemiol 2011;41(3):621-6.

5. Stein AD, Wang M, Martorell R, Norris SA, Adair LS, Bas I, Sachdev HS, Bhargava SK, Fall CH, Gigante DP, et al. Growth Patterns in Early Childhood and Final Attained Stature: Data from Five Birth Cohorts from Low- And Middle-Income Countries. Am J Hum Biol 2010;22:353–9.

6. Prentice AM, Ward KA, Goldberg GR, Jarjou LM, Moore SE, Fulford AJ, Prentice A. Critical windows for nutritional interventions against stunting. Am J Clin Nutr 2013;97:911–8.

7. Martorell R, Schroeder D, Rivera J, Kaplowitz H. Patterns of linear growth in rural Guatemalan adolescents and children. J Nutr 1995;125(4):1060S-7S.

 8. WHO Multicentre Growth Reference Study Group. (2006) WHO Child Growth Standards based on length/height, weight and age. Acta Paediatr Suppl;450:76-85.
 9. deOnis M, Onyango A, Borghi E, Siyam A, Nishida C, Siekmann J. Development of a WHO growth reference for school-aged children and adolescents. Bull World Health Organ 2007;85:661-8.

10. Hoddinott J, Behrman JR, Maluccio JA, Melgar P, Quisumbing AR, Ramirez-Zea M, Stein AD, Yount KM, Martorell R. Adult consequences of growth failure in early childhood. Am J Clin Nutr 2013;98(5):1170-8.

11. Victora CG, deOnis M, Hallal PC, Blössner M, Shrimpton R. Worldwide timing of growth faltering: revisiting implications for interventions. Pediatrics 2010;125(3):e473-80.

12. Lundeen EA, Behrman JR, Crookston BT, Dearden KA, Engle P, Georgiadis A, Penny ME, Stein AD. Growth faltering and recovery in children aged 1–8 years in four low- and middle-income countries: Young Lives. Public Health Nutrition: Published online: 15 November 2013.

13. Crookston B, Schott W, Cueto S, Dearden K, Engle P, Georgiadis A, Lundeen EA, Penny ME, Stein AD, Behrman JR. Postinfancy growth, schooling, and cognitive achievement: Young Lives. Am J Clin Nutr 2013;98(6):1555-63.

14. Fink G, Rockers PC. Childhood growth, schooling, and cognitive development: further evidence from the Young Lives study. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition; early online publication May 7, 2014.

15. Schott WB, Crookston BT, Lundeen EA, Stein AD, Behrman JR. Periods of child growth up to age 8 years in Ethiopia, India, Peru and Vietnam: Key distal household and community factors. Social Science & Medicine 2013;97:278-87.

16. Marshall WA, Tanner JM. Puberty. Editon ed. In: Falkner F, Tanner JM, eds. Human Growth: A Comprehensive Treatise Volume 1: Developmental Biology; Prenatal Growth. New York: Plenum Press, 1986.

17. Victora CG, Adair L, Fall C, Hallal PC, Martorell R, Richter L, Sachdev HS. Maternal and child undernutrition: consequences for adult health and human capital. Lancet 2008;371:340–57.

Chapter 5: Adolescent pregnancy and attained height among Black South African girls: matched-pair prospective study

Elizabeth A Lundeen, Shane A Norris, Reynaldo Martorell, Parminder S Suchdev, Neil K Mehta, Linda M Richter, Aryeh D Stein

Nutrition and Health Sciences Program, Laney Graduate School, Emory University, Atlanta, Georgia, USA (EAL, RM, PSS, ADS); MRC Developmental Pathways for Health Research Unit, University of Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa (EAL, SAN, ADS, LMR); DST-NRF Centre of Excellence of Human Development, Universities of the Witwatersrand and KwaZulu-Natal and the Human Sciences Research Council, Durban, South Africa (LMR); Rollins School of Public Health, Hubert Department of Global Health, Emory University, Atlanta, Georgia, USA (RM, PSS, NKM, ADS)

Abbreviations used: height-for-age z score (HAZ)

Abstract

Study objective: The impact of adolescent pregnancy on offspring birth outcomes has been widely studied, but less is known about its impact on the growth of the young mother. We aimed to help clarify conflicting evidence on the association between adolescent pregnancy and maternal attained height, by controlling for factors that increase risk of adolescent pregnancy and impact adult height.

Design: Birth-to-Twenty Plus, a prospective birth cohort.

Setting: Cohort members followed from birth to age 20y in Soweto, South Africa.

Participants: From 840 Black females with sufficient data, we identified 54 matched pairs, in which a girl who became pregnant before the age of 17y was matched with a girl who did not have a pregnancy by age 20y. Pairs were matched on age at menarche and height-for-age z scores in the year before the case became pregnant.

Main Outcome Measures: The adolescent pregnancy group was compared to matched controls and to other females in the cohort with respect to attained height, measured at mean age 18.5y.

Results: Mean age at conception was 15.9y (range: 13.7 to 16.9y). Mean height at matching was 159.4 cm in the adolescent pregnancy group and 159.3 cm in the comparison group (p=0.3). Mean attained height was 160.4 cm in the adolescent

pregnancy group, versus 160.3 cm in the comparison group (p=0.7), and 159.5 cm among all other females (p=0.3).

Conclusions: After controlling for age at menarche and pre-pregnancy height, adolescent pregnancy among Black females in Soweto, South Africa was not associated with attained height.

Introduction

About 16 million women 15–19 years old give birth each year, with ninety-five percent of these births occurring in low- and middle-income countries (1, 2). The proportion of births that occur to women 15-19 y is 18% in Latin America and the Caribbean and more than 50% in sub-Saharan Africa (1). In South Africa, 27% of girls have had at least one birth by age 19 (3). The impact of adolescent pregnancy on offspring birth outcomes has been widely studied. Adolescent pregnancy is associated with maternal and neonatal mortality (4-7), preterm delivery (4-6, 8-12), low birth weight (4-6, 8-11, 13, 14), and infants being born small for gestational age (6, 9, 10).

Less is known about the impact of early pregnancy on the growth of the young mother herself. If pregnancy occurs while a young woman is still growing, it could lead to competition between mother and fetus for nutrients, potentially reducing attained height in comparison to that which would have been achieved in the absence of pregnancy (15, 16). Longitudinal studies have demonstrated that there is potential for an appreciable degree of linear growth among girls following menarche (17-20). In the Fels Longitudinal Study, the median increase in stature following menarche was 7.4 cm, and the median age of attainment of adult stature among girls was 17.3 years (17-19). Frisch found that from menarche to 18 years, girls grew an average of 7.1 cm (20). In the Camden Adolescent Pregnancy and Nutrition Project, over 55% of adolescents continued to increase in height (21). Evidence for an adverse impact of adolescent pregnancy on attained adult height is limited, and the findings are conflicting. Studies in Brazil, India, and the U.S. found a significant deficit in attained height (from 0.3 to 3.0 cm) (22-24) relative to women who did not experience adolescent pregnancy, while another study of a U.S. population found no difference in attained height (25). While several of these studies controlled for age at menarche, they did not control for height immediately preceding the adolescent pregnancy. Given the methodological limitations and conflicting findings of existing studies, we aim to contribute evidence by using more rigorous methods to control for factors that predict both a girl's risk of becoming pregnant and her attained height. The present analysis examines the association between adolescent pregnancy and attained height among Black females living in Soweto, South Africa.

Methods

We analyzed data from the Birth to Twenty Plus study, a birth cohort that began in 1990 in Soweto, the urban township adjacent to Johannesburg in South Africa. Detailed information on this cohort has been published elsewhere (26). The cohort enrolled 3,273 pregnant women at gestational age 26–40 weeks, who were expected to deliver during a 6-week period in early 1990. Participants were predominantly Black women with low socioeconomic status. The study was designed to track prospectively the growth, health, well-being and educational progress of their children. Weight at birth and weight and length (or height after age 2 y) were measured using standard procedures (27). Throughout the study, participants or their caregivers provided written informed consent, and ethical approval was obtained from the University of the Witwatersrand Committee for Research on Human Subjects (approval ID #M010556).

The children's serial height data were used for this analysis. Data were restricted to Black females (n=1,329), as this group comprised eighty percent of the cohort and was at the highest risk for adolescent pregnancy and its consequences. For each round, supine length (<24 mo) and standing height (\geq 24 mo) measurements were converted to height-for-age z scores (HAZ) using the WHO references (28-30). We removed from the analysis heights/HAZ scores where the HAZ was implausible, defined as |HAZ| > 5 at any one round or an absolute value of change in HAZ between rounds > 4. To be eligible for matching and analysis, a girl had to have birth weight (birth length was not measured), an attained height (considered to be age 17 y or later) and at least one intermediate height. Attained height (cm) was defined based on the oldest age at which a height measurement was available (20 y, 18 y, or 17 y). There remained 840 females in the analytic sample.

Fifty-nine girls (7%) conceived prior to age 17 y. Of those, five girls experienced miscarriage or voluntary abortion of the pregnancy, the precise dates of which were not available. We matched each girl who conceived before age 17 y and went on to give birth (early pregnancy group, n=54) to one girl who did not become pregnant up to age 20y (comparison group), based on age at self-reported menarche (in integer years) and on HAZ from the year before the early pregnancy occurred (all pairs were within 0.14 SD). The onset of menarche, in addition to being a prerequisite for pregnancy, is an indicator of pubertal development, the timing of which impacts adult height in girls (31, 32).
Matching on age was not necessary, as the girls were all born within fourteen weeks of each other. The final analytical sample included 54 matched pairs. The remaining 732 females were considered as an internal reference group.

Statistical Methods

Descriptive statistics were used to present the distribution of key demographic, socioeconomic, and anthropometric characteristics. The socioeconomic variable 'assets' is a measure of the wealth of the child's caretakers, reported in quintiles (1-poorest; 5wealthiest), and based on home type, home ownership, electricity in the home, and ownership of a car, refrigerator, washing machine, or phone. The income variable is a measure of the monthly income (in Rands) of those supporting the child. Both variables represent the child's socioeconomic status at birth.

We compared characteristics between the early pregnancy and comparison groups using paired t-tests, the Wilcoxon signed rank test, McNemar's chi-square test for paired proportions, and the Sign test. We also compared characteristics between the early pregnancy group and all other girls in the cohort (excluding the comparison group; n=732) using the two-sample t-test, the Wilcoxon rank sum test, and Fisher's exact test. Mean height and HAZ at each measurement from three months to 18 years were plotted. To determine whether there was a statistically significant difference in adult height between the early-pregnancy and comparison groups, and the early pregnancy group and all other females in the cohort, we used the paired t-test and 2-sample t-test, respectively. We calculated the within- pair difference in adult height, and used this difference as the outcome in a linear regression model, which controlled for the within-pair differences in

maternal height and pre-pregnancy HAZ, and an indicator variable representing a subsequent second pregnancy for the early pregnancy girl before the adult height measurement was taken. As maternal height was only available for both members of 26 matched pairs, we ran the regression models with and without this variable. The Intercooled STATA 10.0 (StataCorp, College Station, Texas) statistical program was used for all data analyses.

Results

Girls were matched on average at 15.0 y, and the mean age at conception for the early pregnancy group was 15.9 years (range: 13.7 to 16.9 y). There were no statistically significant differences between the early pregnancy and comparison groups for several demographic and socioeconomic factors (Table 5.1). There were, however, significant differences between the early pregnancy group and all other females in the cohort with respect to her mother's education (p < 0.01), her own age at menarche (p < 0.01), and her height at 11y (p=0.04) and 12y (p<0.01). The mean adult height, on average at 18.5 y, was 160.4 cm for the early pregnancy group, versus 160.3 cm for the comparison group (p=0.7), and 159.5 cm for all other females (p=0.3). The median change in height from matching to adulthood was 0.6 cm for the early pregnancy group and 0.8 cm for the comparison group (p=0.9). For both the early pregnancy and comparison groups, adult height was reached around 15 years of age, and the growth trajectories for both groups were nearly identical (Figure 5.1). Compared to all other girls in the cohort, the earlypregnancy and comparison groups had a higher HAZ; this difference was especially pronounced in the pre- and peri-pubescent years (Figure 5.2).

In the linear regression model, none of the predictor variables (within-pair differences in maternal height (p=0.5) or pre-pregnancy matched HAZ scores (p=0.4), or whether the girl in early-pregnancy group experienced a second pregnancy (p=0.7)) were significantly related to within-pair difference in attained height (**Table 5.2**). In the larger sample available when within-pair difference in maternal height was removed from the model, these inferences were unchanged.

Discussion

The adverse effects of adolescent pregnancy on birth outcomes, such as maternal and neonatal mortality (4-7), preterm delivery (4-6, 8-12), low birth weight (4-6, 8-11, 13, 14), and small for gestational age (6, 9, 10), have been well established. Teenage pregnancy has been associated with higher rates of school drop-out for young mothers and higher risk for living below the poverty line (33, 34). However, far less is known about the impact of teenage pregnancy on the growth of the young mother. We used data from the prospective Birth to Twenty Plus cohort study in Soweto, South Africa to examine the association between pregnancy before age 17 and the attained height of the young mother. We found no difference in final adult height between girls who experienced an early pregnancy and those who did not after controlling for key potential confounders.

Several studies have examined growth during and immediately following adolescent pregnancy to determine its short-term effect on the growth of the young mother. In the

Camden Adolescent Pregnancy and Nutrition Project (New Jersey, USA), 56.5% of pregnant adolescents (average age 15.6 y) made gains in height during pregnancy, as determined by knee height measurements (21). However, other studies found that adolescent pregnancy halted short-term growth. In Mexico, Casanueva et al. matched non-pregnant adolescents with girls who had a pregnancy at \leq 17 years (average 15.3 y), based on socioeconomic status, chronological age, menarche age, and body mass index. They found that pregnant adolescents did not make gains in height during the 5-month follow-up period, whereas the non-pregnant controls grew 0.94 cm on average (35). They concluded that pregnant adolescents appear to adjust their resting energy needs by ceasing growth (35). Similarly, in Bangladesh, when adolescent primigravidae girls (average age 16.3 y) were matched with non-pregnant controls based on age and time since menarche, it was found that from the first trimester to six months postpartum, pregnant girls did not gain in stature, compared with the non-pregnant girls who grew 0.35 cm on average (36).

In contrast to these studies of the short-term associations of adolescent pregnancy with the growth of the young mother, the duration of our study (on average 3.5 years between the pre-conception and adult height measurements) allowed us to determine longer-run associations with attained height. Research exploring these longer-term impacts is sparse, especially in low- and middle-income countries, and the results have been inconsistent. In Pelotas, Brazil, girls who experienced more than one pregnancy between 15-18 y of age had a 1.6 cm deficit in stature relative to those who did not become pregnant (p<0.01) after adjusting for age at menarche, but there was not a significant difference in height

among girls who had only one adolescent pregnancy (22). In the 1998–1999 India National Family Health Survey women had their first child at 16.8 y, and statistically significant deficits in adult height were found among women who had one (-0.26 cm), two (-0.53 cm) and three (-0.98 cm) births before age 18 y (24). In a retrospective cohort study using U.S. National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey data from 1999 to 2004, non-Hispanic white women who had their first live birth before age 18 years were 2.97 cm shorter at adulthood (20-30 y) than women who gave birth to their first child at \geq 18 y (p=0.03) (after adjusting for age at menarche), with no differences in final adult height among Mexican-American and non-Hispanic black women (23). In the U.S. National Heart, Lung and Blood Growth and Health Study, Gunderson et al. adjusted for age at menarche and height at 9-10 years of age, and found no difference in adult height between those who did and did not experience an adolescent pregnancy (25).

There are several possible reasons why our study found no effect of adolescent pregnancy on adult height. Two important factors could be the timing of conception in relation to reaching adult height, as well as nutritional status before and at the time of pregnancy. Chronic undernutrition has been found to cause a delay in growth and development, which shifts the growth period from primarily occurring during early adolescence to continuing through late adolescence (37). When chronic undernutrition is combined with adolescent pregnancy, it often results in a young woman's growth period overlapping with her pregnancy, thus creating competition between mother and fetus for nutrients to fuel growth (15). South Africa is a middle-income country where undernutrition is not as widespread as in other countries in the region. On average, in our matched pairs, as well as those in the Birth to Twenty cohort who were not included in our study, adult height was reached around 15 years of age. We had previously found that the median age at skeletal maturity for black girls was 15.0 years (unpublished observations). Therefore, presumably due to adequate nutrition, these girls had reached adult height by the time of conception. The few girls who were still growing at the time of pregnancy may have entered pregnancy sufficiently nourished to fuel both their growth and the growth of the fetus. From a public health perspective, there may be value in focusing attention on delaying pregnancy until adult height is reached, and these efforts may be particularly important in countries where nutritional status is poor, and thus skeletal maturation may be delayed.

A limitation of our study was the relative infrequency of adolescent pregnancy in this population, resulting in a small number of matched pairs for analysis. However, the strengths of the study design enabled us to make a significant methodological contribution to the literature on adolescent pregnancy and adult height. The use of data from a prospective birth cohort allowed us to match on factors collected prior to conception, and to carefully control for proximate predictors of adolescent pregnancy risk. Several of the previous studies controlled for age at menarche, however, to our knowledge, this is the only study to control for height immediately preceding the adolescent pregnancy. We found that girls who had an early pregnancy experienced menarche onset at an earlier age and were taller at 11y and 12y of age, meaning they matured more quickly, than the other females in this cohort. These factors increase risk of adolescent pregnancy and impact adult height, however, by controlling for them through

our matched-pair design, we found no association between adolescent pregnancy and adult height.

Conclusion

After controlling for age at menarche and pre-pregnancy height, adolescent pregnancy among Black females in Soweto, South Africa was not associated with attained height.

Characteristics	Early Pregnancy ^a (n=54)	Comparison (n=54)	All other females in the cohort
			(n=732)
Demographic and			
socioeconomic factors			
Maternal height, cm ^b	158.7 ± 6.1	159.5 ± 6.4	158.5 ± 6.0
Maternal schooling, y ^c	8.3 ± 3.2	9.7 ± 2.4	9.7 ± 2.7 **
Maternal parity ^c	2.4 ± 1.7	2.3 ± 1.3	2.1 ± 1.3
Caretaker monthly income, rands ^d	9900 ± 9200	11300 ± 8700	9400 ± 7800
Assets / wealth quintiles, % ^e			
1 (lowest)	18.8	18.8	15.8
2	18.8	18.8	18.1
3	33.3	22.9	36.0
4	20.8	20.8	19.2
5 (highest)	8.3	18.8	10.9
Age at menarche, y ^f	12.2 ± 1.0	12.2 ± 1.0	$12.8 \pm 1.2 **$
Age at conception, y	15.9 ± 0.8	-	-
Height at ages prior to matching, cm			
11y ^g	149.0 ± 5.4	148.8 ± 6.3	$145.9 \pm 7.5 **$
12y ^h	155.0 ± 5.6	154.1 ± 6.1	$151.3 \pm 6.8 **$
Height at matching, cm ⁱ	159.4 ± 5.5	159.3 ± 5.5	-
HAZ at matching ⁱ	-0.3 ± 0.8	-0.3 ± 0.8	-
Stunted at matching, % ^j	3.7	3.7	-
Adult height, cm ^k	160.4 ± 5.5	160.3 ± 5.8	159.5 ± 6.1
Height change, cm ^{l, m}	0.6 (0.1, 1.7)	0.8 (0.03, 1.9)	-

Table 5.1: Selected Demographic, Socioeconomic, and Anthropometric Characteristics of the Early Pregnancy Group, the Comparison Group and All other Females in the Birth-to-Twenty Plus Cohort

Mean \pm SD unless otherwise specified; tests of statistical significance performed on early pregnancy vs. comparison groups, as well as the early pregnancy group vs. all other girls in the cohort.

a. Early pregnancy defined as conception prior to age 17. b. Paired t-test (early pregnancy vs. comparison); Wilcoxon rank sum test (early pregnancy vs. all others). c. Friedman test (for paired ordinal variables) (early pregnancy vs. comparison); Wilcoxon rank sum test (early pregnancy vs. all others). d. Signed-rank test (early pregnancy vs. comparison); Wilcoxon rank sum test (early pregnancy vs. all others). e. Friedman test (for paired ordinal variables) (early pregnancy vs. comparison); Fisher's exact test (chi-square) (early pregnancy vs. all others). f. Signed-rank test (early pregnancy vs. comparison); 2-sample t-test (early pregnancy vs. all others). g. Paired ttest (early pregnancy vs. comparison) (data available for 24 cases and 36 controls; sig. test performed on 16 matched pairs); 2-sample t-test (early pregnancy vs. all others). h. Paired t-test (early pregnancy vs. comparison) (data available for 40 cases and 47 controls; sig. test performed on 35 matched pairs); 2-sample t-test (early pregnancy vs. all others). i. Paired t-test (early pregnancy vs. comparison).

j. McNemar's chi-square test for paired proportions (early pregnancy vs. comparison). k. Paired t-test (early pregnancy vs. comparison); 2-sample t-test (early pregnancy vs. all others). l. Median (interquartile range). m. Sign test (median presented due to non-normality) (early pregnancy vs. comparison)

* Significant difference between early pregnancy and comparison group (at the $\alpha = 0.05$ level)

** Significant difference between early pregnancy group and all other girls in the cohort (at the $\alpha = 0.05$ level)

	β	SE	95% CI	p-value
Model 1 ^a				÷
Intercept	0.1	0.4	(-0.6, 0.9)	0.69
Maternal height difference	0.0	0.1	(-0.1, 0.2)	0.45
Matching HAZ difference	-12.9	13.9	(-41.8, 15.9)	0.36
Second pregnancy – case	-0.5	1.3	(-3.1, 2.2)	0.73
Model 2 ^b				
Intercept	0.0	0.3	(-0.6, 0.5)	0.92
Matching HAZ difference	14.7	8.6	(-2.6, 32.0)	0.09
Second pregnancy – case	0.6	0.9	(-1.2, 2.3)	0.52

Table 5.2: Multiple regression analysis of within-pair differences in attained height among 54 women who conceived prior to age 17 y and matched pairs, Birth to Twenty Plus Cohort

a Within-pair difference in maternal height, difference in matching HAZ, and a subsequent second pregnancy in the case before the adult height measurement was taken; n=26 pairs because only 26 pairs had maternal height information

b Difference in matching HAZ and a subsequent second pregnancy in the case before the adult height measurement was taken; n=54 pairs



Figure 5.1: Mean height (cm) by age, girls in the Birth-to-Twenty Plus Study



Figure 5.2: Mean Height-for-age Z score by age, girls in the Birth-to-Twenty Plus study

Chapter 5 References

1. World Health Organization Statistics. 2014. Available at:

http://www.who.int/maternal_child_adolescent/topics/maternal/adolescent_pregnancy/en/

2. World Health Organization. WHO Guidelines on Preventing Early Pregnancy and Poor Reproductive Outcomes Among Adolescents in Developing Countries; 2011. Accessed from:

http://www.who.int/maternal_child_adolescent/documents/preventing_early_pregnancy/en/.

3. Medical Research Council, OrcMacro. South Africa Demographic and Health Survey 2003. Pretoria: Department of Health; 2007.

4. Klein JD. Adolescent Pregnancy: Current Trends and Issues. Pediatrics 2005;116:281-286.

5. Gilbert WM, Jandial D, Field NT, et al. Birth outcomes in teenage pregnancies. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2004;16:265–270.

6. Conde-Agudelo A, Beliza JM, Lammers C. Maternal-perinatal morbidity and mortality associated with adolescent pregnancy in Latin America: Cross-sectional study. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2005;192:342–349.

7. Olausson P, Cnattingius S, Haglund B. Teenage pregnancies and risk of late fetal death and infant mortality. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1999;106:116-121.

8. Koniak-Griffin D, Turner-Pluta C. Health Risks and Psychosocial Outcomes of Early Childbearing: A Review of the Literature. J Perinat Neonatal Nurs 2001;15:1–17.

9. Fraser AM, Brockert JE, Ward RH. Association of Young Maternal Age with Adverse Reproductive Outcomes. N Engl J Med 1995;332:1113-1117.

10. Gortzak-Uzan L, Hallak M, Press F, et al. Teenage pregnancy: risk factors for adverse perinatal outcome. J Matern Fetal Med 2001;10:393–397.

11. Igwegbe A, Udigwe G. Teenage pregnancy: still an obstetric risk. J Obstet Gynaecol 2001;21:478–481.

12. Jolly MC, Sebire N, Harris J, et al. Obstetric Risks of Pregnancy in Women Less Than 18 Years Old. Obstet Gynecol 2000;96:962–966.

13. Bacci A, Manhica G, Machungo F, et al. Outcome of teenage pregnancy in Maputo, Mozambique. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 1993;40:19-23.

14. Satin A, Leveno K, Sherman M, et al. Maternal youth and pregnancy outcomes: middle school versus high school age groups compared with women beyond the teen years. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1994;171:184-187.

15. Scholl TO, Hediger ML, Schall JI, et al. Maternal growth during pregnancy and the competition for nutrients. Am J Clin Nutr 1994;60:183-188.

16. Frisancho A. Reduction of birth weight among infants born to adolescents: maternalfetal growth competition. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1997;817:272-280.

17. Hediger ML, Scholl TO, Schall JI. Implications of the Camden Study of adolescent pregnancy: interactions among maternal growth, nutritional status, and body composition. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1997 817:281-291.

18. Roche AF, Davila GH. Late Adolescent Growth in Stature Pediatrics 1972;50:874 - 880.

19. Roche AF. The final phase of growth in stature. Growth Genet Horm 1989;5:4-6. 20. Frisch R. Fatness of girls from menarche to age 18 years, with a nomogram. Hum Biol 1976 48:353-359.

21. Scholl TO, Hediger ML, Ances IG. Maternal growth during pregnancy and decreased infant birth weight. Am J Clin Nutr 1990;51:790-793.

22. Gigante DP, Rasmussen KM, Victora CG. Pregnancy Increases BMI in Adolescents of a Population-Based Birth Cohort. J Nutr 2005;135:74–80.

23. Pauli JM, Lloyd T, Kunselman AR, et al. Effect of adolescent pregnancy on final adult height in non-Hispanic white women. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2013;288:679–682.

24. Brennan L, McDonald J, Shlomowitz R. Teenage births and final adult height of mothers in India, 1998-1999. J Biosoc Sci 2005;37:185-191.

25. Gunderson E, Striegel-Moore R, Schreiber G, et al. Longitudinal study of growth and adiposity in parous compared with nulligravid adolescents. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2009;163:349-356.

26. Richter L, Norris S, Pettifor J, et al. Cohort Profile: Mandela's children: The 1990 birth to twenty study in South Africa. Int J Epidemiol 2007;36:504–511.

27. Cameron N. The Measurement of Human Growth. London, United Kingdom: Croom-Helm, 1984.

28. WHO Multicentre Growth Reference Study Group. WHO Child Growth Standards based on length/height, weight and age Acta Paediatr Suppl 2006;450:76-85.

29. deOnis M, Onyango A, Borghi E. Development of a WHO growth reference for school-aged children and adolescents. Bull World Health Organ 2007:660.

30. World Health Organization (2006) WHO Multicentre Growth Reference Study Group. WHO Child Growth Standards: Length/height-for-age, weight-for-age, weightfor-length, weight-for-height and body mass index-for-age: Methods and development. Geneva: World Health Organization.

31. Biro FM, McMahon RP, Striegel-Moore R, et al. Impact of timing of pubertal maturation on growth in black and white female adolescents: The National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Growth and Health Study. J Pediatr 2001;138:636-643.

32. Garn SM, LaVelle M, Rosenberg KR, et al. Maturational timing as a factor in female fatness and obesity. Am J Clin Nutr 1986;43:879-883.

33. Uzun AK, Orhon FS, Baskan S, et al. A comparison between adolescent mothers and adult mothers in terms of maternal and infant outcomes at follow-ups. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2013;26:454–458.

34. Almeida MdCCd, Aquino EML. Adolescent pregnancy and completion of basic education: a study of young people in three state capital cities in Brazil. Cad Saúde Pública 2011;27:2386-2400.

35. Casanueva E, Rosello-Soberon ME, De-Regil LM, et al. Adolescents with Adequate Birth Weight Newborns Diminish Energy Expenditure and Cease Growth. J Nutr 2006;136:2498–2501.

36. Rah JH, Christian P, Shamim AA, et al. Pregnancy and Lactation Hinder Growth and Nutritional Status of Adolescent Girls in Rural Bangladesh. J Nutr 2008;138:1505–1511.
37. Prentice AM, Ward KA, Goldberg GR, et al. Critical windows for nutritional interventions against stunting. Am J Clin Nutr 2013 97:911-918.

Chapter 6: Sex differences in obesity incidence: 20-year prospective cohort in South Africa

Elizabeth A Lundeen,^{1, 2} Shane A Norris,² Linda S Adair,^{3, 2} Linda M Richter,^{4, 2} Aryeh D Stein^{5, 2}

1 Nutrition and Health Sciences Program, Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences, Laney Graduate School, Emory University, Atlanta, USA; 2 MRC Developmental Pathways for Health Research Unit, University of Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa; 3 Gillings School of Public Health, University of North Carolina - Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, USA; 4 Human Sciences Research Council, Durban, South Africa; 5 Rollins School of Public Health, Hubert Department of Global Health, Emory University, Atlanta, USA

Abbreviations used: Body mass index (BMI); body mass index z score (BMIZ); lowand middle-income countries (LMICs); Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC); International Obesity Task Force (IOTF); World Health Organization (WHO)

What is already known about this subject

- Childhood overweight and obesity is a growing problem in both high-income and low- and middle-income countries.
- Overweight and obesity track from childhood to adulthood, and greatly increase risk of chronic disease later in life.
- Low- and middle-income countries, particularly in sub-Saharan Africa, lack incidence data to better understand childhood obesity trends and identify key periods for intervention.

What this study adds

- In this South African cohort, overweight and obesity increased throughout childhood among girls, and by late adolescence, levels were close to those in high-income countries; overweight and obesity were not prevalent among boys.
- Particularly among girls, there was evidence of early tracking, as overweight and obesity in early childhood greatly increased the risk of obesity in late adolescence. These findings highlight the importance of early childhood intervention.
- Among girls, the post-pubertal years are also an opportune time for intervention.

Abstract

Background: Prospective data spanning childhood and adolescence are needed to better understand obesity incidence among children, and to identify important periods for intervention.

Objective: Describe gender differences in overweight and obesity from infancy to late adolescence in a South African cohort.

Methods: We analyzed body mass index at 1-2y, 4-8y, 11-12y, 13-15y and 16-18y among 1172 participants in the South African Birth-to-Twenty cohort.

Results: Among boys, overweight and obesity prevalence declined from age 1-2y to 16-18y. Among girls, overweight and obesity prevalence increased from 4-8y to 16-18y. Obesity incidence was highest from 4-8y to 11-12y in boys (6.8 cases/1,000 personyears) and from 11-12y to 13-15y in girls (11.2 cases/1,000 person-years). Among girls, obesity at 16-18y was associated with overweight (OR=3.6; 95% confidence interval (CI) 1.8-7.2) or obesity (OR=8.0; 95% CI 3.7-17.6) at 1-2y, and overweight (OR=6.8; 95% CI 3.3-13.9) or obesity (OR=42.3; 95% CI 15.0-118.8) at 4-8y; for boys, obesity at 16-18y was associated with overweight at 1-2y (OR=5.6; 95% CI 1.7-18.0) and obesity at 4-8y (OR=19.7; 95% CI 5.1-75.9).

Introduction

The increasing prevalence of overweight and obesity is a growing concern in most regions of the world. Recent estimates have shown that the combined prevalence of overweight and obesity among adults globally has risen by 28% in the last three decades, with 37% of men and 38% of women having a body mass index (BMI) of 25 kg/m² or greater (1). Obese adults have a greatly increased risk of chronic diseases such as diabetes and cardiovascular disease (2). This disease pathway may have its origins early in life, as childhood overweight and obesity have been shown to track into adulthood (3-5). Therefore, the increasing prevalence of overweight and obesity among children is a major public health concern (6).

From 2008 to 2013, the global prevalence of overweight and obesity among children 2-19 years increased by 47% (1). By 2013, the combined prevalence of overweight and obesity was 24% among boys and 23% among girls in high-income countries, and 13% among both boys and girls in low- and middle-income countries (1). For many countries in Africa, childhood malnutrition is characterized primarily by undernutrition, and this region has a lower prevalence of overweight and obesity than other regions of the world. However, over the past 20 years, South Africa has undergone dramatic and rapid social and economic transitions. Recent figures show that in sub-Saharan Africa, South Africa has one of the highest prevalence rates of childhood (<20 years) overweight and obesity — 19% of boys and 26% of girls — rivaling that of many high-income countries (1).

Understanding childhood obesity trends and important periods for intervention requires data not only on the prevalence, but also the incidence of obesity during key stages of childhood and adolescence. Few high-income countries have population-based data on the incidence of obesity throughout childhood, and these data are essentially absent in low- and middle-income country settings, where prevalence estimates are typically derived from cross-sectional surveys and focus on children under five years. Longitudinal data spanning childhood and adolescence are needed. Such data are particularly sparse in sub-Saharan Africa (7). We address this research gap by investigating the incidence of overweight and obesity among children in a birth cohort in Soweto, South Africa.

Methods

We analyzed data from the Birth-to-Twenty study, a birth cohort initiated in 1990 in Soweto, an urban township in South Africa. Detailed information on this cohort has been published elsewhere (8). The cohort enrolled 3273 pregnant women at gestational age 26–40 weeks, who were expected to deliver during a six-week period in early 1990. Participants were predominantly Black women with a low socioeconomic status. The study was designed to track the growth, health, well-being and educational progress of their children, who have been studied prospectively. Weight at birth and weight and length/height at subsequent rounds were measured using standard procedures (9). Throughout the study, participants or their caregivers provided written informed consent and ethical approval was obtained from the University of the Witwatersrand Committee for Research on Human Subjects (approval ID #M010556). Using weight, length, and height measurements at each survey round, body mass index (BMI) values were calculated as weight (kg) divided by height squared (m²), and these values were then converted to z scores (BMIZ) using the World Health Organization (WHO) references (10-12). As not all children had BMI values for every year of measurement, to maximize data availability we grouped survey rounds as follows: infant/toddler (1y and 2y); early childhood (4y, 5y, and 8y); early adolescence (11y and 12y); mid-adolescence (13y, 14y, 15y); and late adolescence (16y, 17y, and 18y). When more than one BMIZ value was available within a period, one was selected at random. We included in the analysis all participants who had a BMIZ for all five time periods, (n=1172). The large majority (88%) of participants were Black, with other represented groups including white (2%), Indian (1%) and coloured or mixed-ancestral (9%) children.

We defined overweight and obesity for all five time periods using the WHO cut-off points for children 5-19 years: overweight was defined as a BMIZ > 1.0 and \leq 2.0 SD from the reference median; obese was a BMIZ > 2.0 SD from the reference median (12). To enable comparisons with other studies, we also used definitions from the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (13) and the International Obesity Task Force (14). We computed the prevalence of overweight and obesity at each time period. Incidence of obesity was calculated as the percentage of children who were not obese in the earlier time period who became obese by the subsequent time period. To account for the different durations of the intervals between periods, for each interval, we also computed the incidence density rate as the number of incident cases per 1000 person-years, where person-years was computed by summing the number of years of follow-up contributed by each child at risk of becoming obese during that period.

We computed a measure of the persistence of obesity by calculating the proportion of children who became obese at any point during the 1-2y to 13-15y periods, who remained obese in the 16-18y period. We used logistic regression to model the risk of being obese at 16-18y, based on status at the 1-2y or 4-8y periods, with the referent category being those who were classified as normal BMI (not overweight or obese) at that time period. We also calculated the proportion of children who were obese in the earlier time period who became non-obese by the subsequent time period.

A sensitivity analysis was performed using two methods to determine whether there was a systematic difference between the cohort of children who had data at all five time periods and those who did not. We calculated overweight and obesity prevalence figures using all available cross sectional data at each of the time points, and compared them to prevalence figures for children who had complete longitudinal data. Additionally, we compared overweight and obesity prevalence figures for children with complete longitudinal data versus those who were not included in the analysis. We used STATA 10.0 (StataCorp, College Station, Texas) statistical program for all data analyses.

Results

For both boys and girls, mean BMI was around 16.8 kg/m² at 1-2y, decreased slightly by 4-8y and then increased steadily through 16-18y (**Table 6.1**). At 16-18y, mean BMI was

22.8 kg/m² in girls and 20.3 kg/m² in boys. Using the WHO reference, mean BMIZ at 1-2y was 0.3 and 0.4 in boys and girls, respectively, and decreased to -0.2 in boys and -0.03 in girls at 11-12y. Thereafter, mean BMIZ continued to decline in boys, dropping to -0.6 at 16-18y, but rose among girls, reaching 0.3 at 16-18y.

Among boys, the prevalence of overweight was highest through 4-8y and declined thereafter, while obesity was highest at ages 1-2y and 11-12y, but decreased to < 3% by 16-18y. Among girls, the prevalence of overweight increased steadily after 4-8y, reaching 19% by 16-18y. The prevalence of obesity in girls also continued to rise after 4-8y, reaching 8% by 16-18y. While the absolute numbers differ, similar patterns were seen when the IOTF and CDC definitions of overweight and obesity were used.

For both boys and girls, the period incidence of obesity was highest from 4-8y to 11-12y (**Table 6.2**). This pattern held true for boys when the incidence density rate was compared. However, among girls, the incidence density rate was highest in the periods from 11-12y to 13-15y and from 13-15y to 16-18y. In some periods, for example from 1-2y to 4-8y, incident obesity is observed, however there was an overall decreasing prevalence of obesity due to the majority of transition in that period being reversion from obese to non-obese (Table 6.2).

Girls who were overweight at 1-2y had 3.6 times increased odds of being obese from 16-18y (p<0.001), while those who were obese had 8.0 times greater odds (p<0.001) (**Table 6.3**). Girls who were overweight at 4-8y had 6.8 times increased odds of being obese from 16-18y (p<0.001), while those who were obese had 42.3 times greater odds (p<0.001). Among females who became obese from the 1-2y to 13-15y periods (n=97), obesity was persistent, or present during 16-18y, in 36.1% (data not shown).

Boys who were overweight at 1-2y had 5.6 times increased odds of being obese from 16-18y (p<0.01), while the increased odds conferred by obesity in this period were not significant (OR=3.4; p=0.15) (Table 3). Boys who were obese at 4-8y had 19.7 times increased odds of being obese from 16-18y (p<0.001), while overweight in this period did not result in significantly increased odds (OR=2.1; p=0.28). Among males who became obese from the 1-2y to 13-15y periods (n=83), obesity was persistent, or present during 16-18y, in 16.9% (data not shown).

Discussion

A key finding of our study is that in this cohort of South African children residing in a relatively poor but highly transitioned urban setting, boys and girls have very different patterns of incidence of overweight and obesity. A major strength of our analysis is that it was based on longitudinal data that spanned childhood. This is particularly important in low- and middle-income countries, especially African countries, where such data are sparse.

The prevalence of overweight and obesity among boys does not represent a significant public health concern. In boys, the combined prevalence of overweight and obesity (BMIZ > 1.0) steadily declined, and by late adolescence it was less than the 16% that

would be expected to be >1 SD from the reference (based on the percentage of observations in the tails of a normal distribution). However, among girls, the prevalence of combined overweight and obesity continued to rise, reaching 11 percentage points greater than the 16% expected for a normal distribution by late adolescence.

We found that among girls, the highest obesity incidence density rates occurred from the 11-12y to 13-15y and 13-15y to 16-18y periods. These periods typically follow the onset of puberty in girls, which is a time of rapid growth and development. However, among girls, there was evidence of development of obesity early in life and obesity tracking into adulthood. There was an appreciable degree of persistence of obesity following its onset, and both overweight and obese girls in the 1-2y and 4-8y periods had greatly increased odds of being obese by 16-18y.

The prevalence of obesity among both boys and girls in this South African cohort is lower than their counterparts in high-income countries. In a contemporary cohort of U.S. children, Cunningham et al found a much higher prevalence of obesity: around 12-13% at age 5-7 years; 22% at age 11 years; and 21% at age 14 years (15). That study did not extend to late adolescence. Obesity prevalence in our sample is lower than that of 12-19 year old African American boys (21%) and girls (23%) (16).

Our estimates for overweight and obesity by 16-18y were similar to those found in the 2012 South Africa National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (SANHANES): 8.0% obese and 19.3% overweight among females 15-17y; 1.5% obese and 7.3%

overweight among males 15-17y (17), and the prevalence of overweight and obesity among South African high-school age adolescents is rising (18). While the overweight and obesity prevalence figures for South African children, particularly boys, are still lower than those of higher-income countries, the latest adult obesity prevalence figures for South Africa are comparable to those seen in higher-income countries, and are the highest among all countries in Africa (1). Among South African men > 20 years of age, 39% are overweight or obese, as are 69% of women (1). Thus overweight and obesity continue to accrue in the adult years, and the majority of adult obesity is occurring after late adolescence (17). These statistics underscore the urgency to find effective interventions to prevent the development of obesity in the adult years, in addition to preventing its early onset in childhood.

We chose to apply to all time periods the WHO overweight and obesity thresholds for children 5-19 years. This allowed for consistency in definitions across the study, but may have overestimated the prevalence of overweight and obesity in the age 1-2y period, compared to using the WHO thresholds for children 0-5 years. Additionally, the analytical sample was limited to the 1172 children who had a BMI value for each of the five time periods. However, we found that the overweight and obesity prevalence figures based on all available cross-sectional data at each of the time points did not differ appreciably from the figures based on those who had complete longitudinal data (**Table 6.4**), and there were no statistically significant differences in any of the time periods between the overweight and obesity prevalence figures for children with complete longitudinal data versus those who were not included in the analysis (**Table 6.5**).

Therefore, selection bias is unlikely. The cohort is representative of the population of Soweto and is overwhelmingly Black, with too few non-Black participants to permit meaningful stratified analysis. Restriction of the analysis to the Black participants resulted in estimates very close to those presented.

Our results suggest the need for further research into gender differences in overweight and obesity. Future studies should explore dietary and lifestyle factors that may contribute to the differences found between South African boys and girls. Feeley et al assessed the relationship between dietary habits and BMIZ and fat mass in the Birth-to-Twenty cohort, finding an association between soft drink consumption and increased BMIZ and fat mass, but only in boys (19). Kruger et al found that South African girls had lower levels of physical activity than boys and, in both genders, low activity levels were associated with overweight and obesity (20). Another important area for future research is to explore gender differences in the interpretation of body mass index to characterize overweight and obesity.

Conclusion

Our findings have important implications not only for South Africa, but for other African countries that are rapidly transitioning. Understanding periods of high risk for the development of childhood obesity will enable program planners and policy makers in low- and middle-income countries to more appropriately target interventions. Our findings are important for addressing obesity risk across the life course. By late adolescence, overweight and obesity were not widely prevalent among boys in this South

African cohort, whereas overweight and obesity among girls increased throughout childhood and adolescence. The years following puberty appear to be a high risk period for the development of obesity in girls, and future research should further explore ways in which puberty timing and duration impact this risk. The early establishment of tracking of overweight and obesity suggests the need and potential for early intervention. Finding effective and appropriately timed interventions to promote healthy nutrition and weight among female African children is critical.

(Continued on next pag	e)				
	$1-2y^{12}$	4-8y	11-12y	13-15y	16-18y
BMI ^{2, 4}	2	2	2	2	2
Boys	16.9 (16.7, 17.0)	15.8 (15.6, 15.9)	17.8 (17.5, 18.0)	19.2 (18.9, 19.5)	20.3 (20.0, 20.6)
Girls	16.7 (16.5, 16.8)	15.7 (15.6, 15.8)	18.8 (18.5, 19.2)	21.3 (21.0, 21.7)	22.8 (22.5, 23.2)
BMIZ ^{3, 4}					
Boys	0.3 (0.2, 0.4)	0.2 (0.1, 0.2)	-0.2 (-0.3, -0.1)	-0.4 (-0.5, -0.3)	-0.6 (-0.7, -0.5)
Girls	0.4 (0.3, 0.5)	0.1 (0.0, 0.2)	-0.03 (-0.1, 0.1)	0.2 (0.1, 0.3)	0.3 (0.2, 0.4)
Obesity ⁵					
WHO definition ⁶					
Boys	8.8 (6.5, 11.2)	3.0 (1.6, 4.4)	6.0 (4.0, 8.0)	4.4 (2.7, 6.1)	2.5 (1.2, 3.8)
Girls	8.1 (5.9, 10.3)	3.1 (1.7, 4.5)	6.4 (4.5, 8.4)	7.3 (5.2, 9.3)	7.9 (5.8, 10.1)
IOTF definition ⁷					
Boys	4.8 (3.0, 6.5)	0.9 (0.1, 1.7)	3.2 (1.7, 4.6)	3.2 (1.7, 4.6)	1.9 (0.8, 3.1)
Girls	4.8 (3.1, 6.5)	2.3 (1.1, 3.5)	5.1 (3.4, 6.9)	6.1 (4.2, 8.0)	7.4 (5.3, 9.5)
CDC definition ⁸					
Boys	13.8 (10.9, 16.6)	6.0 (4.0, 8.0)	9.0 (6.6, 11.4)	6.2 (4.2, 8.2)	3.5 (2.0, 5.1)
Girls	12.4 (9.7, 15.0)	5.3 (3.5, 7.1)	9.9 (7.5, 12.3)	12.5 (9.9, 15.2)	12.7 (10.0, 15.4)

Table 6.1: Measures of overweight and obesity among South African boys (n=566) and girls (n=606) from 1-2y to 16-18y¹, Birth-to-Twenty Cohort (Continued on part page)

1. Infant/toddler – 1y or 2y; early childhood – 4y, 5y, or 8y; early adolescence – 11y or 12y; mid-adolescence – 13y, 14y, 15y; late adolescence – 16y, 17y, 18y. 2. Body mass index. 3. Body mass index z score. 4. Mean (95% confidence interval). 5. % (95% confidence interval).

6. World Health Organization (WHO) defines obesity as BMI z score > 2.0 SD from the reference median. 7. International Obesity Task Force (IOTF) defines obesity and overweight using age- and sex-specific cut-off points for children 2-18 y, which were based on models that adapted the adult cut-off points for overweight ($25 \le BMI \le 30$) and obese (BMI ≥ 30). 8. Centers for Disease Control (CDC) define obesity as BMI $\ge 95^{th}$ percentile based on the reference population. 9. Overweight, but not obese. 10. World Health Organization defines overweight as BMI z score > 1.0 and ≤ 2.0 SD from the reference median. 11. Centers for Disease Control define overweight as BMI \ge the 85th and $< 95^{th}$ percentile based on the reference median. 11. Centers for overweight/obesity are for children 2-18 years and 2-19 years, respectively. IOTF and CDC prevalence figures for the infancy/toddlerhood period should be interpreted with caution, as this period contains BMI measurements at 1y and 2y of age. IOTF and CDC cut-off points for 2y were applied to the measurements at 1y.

Table 6.1:	Measures of ove	rweight and ol	esity among	South Africa	an boys (n=56	6) and girls (n	=606) from	1-2y
to 16-18y ¹ ,	Birth-to-Twenty	Cohort						

(Continued from previous page)

	1 0 /				
	$1-2y^{12}$	4-8y	11-12y	13-15y	16-18y
Overweight ^{5,9}					
WHO definitio	n^{10}				
Boys	19.1 (15.8, 22.3)	16.4 (13.4, 19.5)	9.9 (7.4, 12.4)	7.8 (5.6, 10.0)	5.7 (3.7, 7.6)
Girls	19.0 (15.8, 22.1)	12.2 (9.6, 14.8)	14.7 (11.9, 17.5)	17.8 (14.8, 20.9)	19.1 (16.0, 22.3)
IOTF definition	n ⁷				
Boys	12.7 (10.0, 15.5)	6.5 (4.5, 8.6)	9.0 (6.6, 11.4)	7.4 (5.3, 9.6)	6.9 (4.8, 9.0)
Girls	14.5 (11.7, 17.3)	7.6 (5.5, 9.7)	12.5 (9.9, 15.2)	16.0 (13.1, 18.9)	19.0 (15.8, 22.1)
CDC definition	1 ¹¹				
Boys	12.4 (9.6, 15.1)	12.4 (9.6, 15.1)	6.7 (4.6, 8.8)	5.7 (3.7, 7.6)	4.6 (2.9, 6.3)
Girls	13.5 (10.8, 16.3)	9.2 (6.9, 11.6)	11.1 (8.6, 13.6)	12.0 (9.4, 14.6)	13.7 (11.0, 16.4)

1. Infant/toddler – 1y or 2y; early childhood – 4y, 5y, or 8y; early adolescence – 11y or 12y; mid-adolescence – 13y, 14y, 15y; late adolescence – 16y, 17y, 18y. 2. Body mass index. 3. Body mass index z score. 4. Mean (95% confidence interval). 5. % (95% confidence interval).

6. World Health Organization (WHO) defines obesity as BMI z score > 2.0 SD from the reference median. 7. International Obesity Task Force (IOTF) defines obesity and overweight using age- and sex-specific cut-off points for children 2-18 y, which were based on models that adapted the adult cut-off points for overweight ($25 \le BMI \le 30$) and obese (BMI ≥ 30). 8. Centers for Disease Control (CDC) define obesity as BMI $\ge 95^{th}$ percentile based on the reference population. 9. Overweight, but not obese. 10. World Health Organization defines overweight as BMI z score > 1.0 and ≤ 2.0 SD from the reference median. 11. Centers for Disease Control define overweight as BMI \ge the 85th and < 95^{th} percentile based on the reference population. 12. The IOTF and CDC definitions for overweight/obesity are for children 2-18 years and 2-19 years, respectively. IOTF and CDC prevalence figures for the infancy/toddlerhood period should be interpreted with caution, as this period contains BMI measurements at 1y and 2y of age. IOTF and CDC cut-off points for 2y were applied to the measurements at 1y.

Table 6.2: Incidence of obesity among South African boys (n=566) and girls (n=606) from 1-2y to 16-18y¹, Birth-to-Twenty Cohort

Dif th-to-1 wenty Conort				
	1-2y to 4-8y	4-8y to 11-12y	11-12y to 13-15y	13-15y to 16-18y
Obesity ² incidence				
Period incidence ³				
Boys	2.1 (0.9, 3.4)	4.4 (2.7, 6.1)	0.9 (0.1, 1.8)	0.4 (-0.1, 0.9)
Girls	2.0 (0.8, 3.1)	4.9 (3.2, 6.7)	2.8 (1.5, 4.2)	3.0 (1.6, 4.4)
Incidence density rate ⁴				
Boys	5.1 (2.8, 9.1)	6.8 (4.6, 10.2)	3.7 (1.5, 8.8)	1.3 (0.3, 5.3)
Girls	5.0 (2.8, 9.0)	7.4 (5.2, 10.7)	11.2 (6.9, 18.3)	11.0 (6.8, 17.7)
Reversion incidence				
Period incidence ⁵				
Boys	88.0 (78.7, 97.3)	41.2 (15.1, 67.3)	41.2 (23.7, 58.6)	52.0 (31.0, 73.0)
Girls	83.7 (72.9, 94.4)	47.4 (22.6, 72.1)	28.2 (13.4, 43.0)	29.5 (15.5, 43.6)
1 Infant/toddler – 1y or 2y; early c	childhood – $\overline{4y}$, 5y, or 8y	; early adolescence - 11	y or 12y; mid-adolescenc	e – 13y, 14y, 15y; late

adolescence – 16y, 17y, 18y

2 World Health Organization defines obesity as BMI z score > 2.0 SD from the reference median

3 Incident obesity cases during the period among those who were at risk for obesity at the beginning of the period; % (95% CI)

4 Number of incident obesity cases during the period per 1,000 person-years

5 Incident cases of reverting from obese to non-obese during the period among those who were obese at the beginning of the period; % (95% CI)

	Odds Ratio	95% CI
Girls		
Infancy/toddlerhood (1-2y) Overweight Obese	3.6*** 8.0***	1.8, 7.2 3.7, 17.6
Early childhood (4-8y) Overweight Obese	6.8*** 42.3***	3.3, 13.9 15.0, 118.8
Boys		
Infancy/toddlerhood (1-2y) Overweight Obese	5.6** 3.4	1.7, 18.0 0.6, 17.8
Early childhood (4-8y) Overweight Obese	2.1 19.7***	0.5, 8.4 5.1, 75.9

Table 6.3: Modeling risk of obesity from 16-18y based on BMI status at 1-2y and 4-8y among South African boys (n=566) and girls (n=606), Birthto-Twenty Cohort¹

1 Models the risk of being obese at late adolescence (16y, 17y, 18y) based on status at the infant/toddler (1y or 2y) or early childhood periods (4y, 5y, or 8y), with the referent category being those who were classified as normal BMI (not overweight or obese) at that time period.

* P-value < 0.05

** P-value < 0.01

*** P-value < 0.001

Conort (Sensitivity analysis: presenting ingures based on cross-sectional, or an available, data at each time period)						
1-2y ⁹	4-8y	11-12y	13-15y	16-18y		
(n=2,163)	(n=2,162)	(n=1,839)	(n=2,192)	(n=2,113)		
. ,	. ,					
9.4 (7.6, 11.1)	3.4 (2.3, 4.5)	5.5 (4.0, 7.0)	4.5 (3.2, 5.7)	3.0 (1.9, 4.0)		
9.1 (7.5, 10.8)	2.9 (1.9, 3.9)	6.7 (5.2, 8.3)	7.9 (6.3, 9.4)	8.7 (7.1, 10.4)		
	· · · /	· · · /	· · · /			
5.0 (3.6, 6.3)	1.5 (0.8, 2.3)	3.2 (2.0, 4.4)	3.6 (2.5, 4.8)	2.6 (1.6, 3.5)		
5.7 (4.4, 7.1)	2.0 (1.1, 2.8)	5.3 (3.9, 6.7)	6.6 (5.1, 8.0)	8.1 (6.5, 9.7)		
		· · · /		· · · /		
15.0 (12.8, 17.1)	6.9 (5.4, 8.5)	8.7 (6.8, 10.5)	6.2 (4.7, 7.7)	4.1 (2.9, 5.4)		
14.0 (12.0, 16.0)	5.5 (4.2, 6.8)	10.6 (8.6, 12.5)	12.4 (10.5, 14.3)	13.0 (11.0, 15.0)		
18.8 (16.4, 21.2)	15.7 (13.5, 17.9)	9.8 (7.8, 11.8)	7.1 (5.6, 8.7)	5.3 (3.9, 6.7)		
18.7 (16.5, 21.0)	12.3 (10.3, 14.2)	15.1 (12.8, 17.3)	15.8 (13.7, 18.0)	17.7 (15.4, 19.9)		
14.6 (12.5, 16.7)	6.4 (4.9, 7.9)	8.2 (6.4, 10.0)	6.8 (5.2, 8.3)	6.1 (4.6, 7.6)		
15.6 (13.5, 17.7)	8.1 (6.5, 9.7)	13.2 (11.0, 15.3)	14.6 (12.6, 16.7)	17.7 (15.4, 19.9)		
	,					
11.6 (9.6, 13.5)	11.3 (9.4, 13.2)	6.5 (4.9, 8.1)	5.1 (3.8, 6.5)	4.1 (2.9, 5.4)		
12.7 (10.8, 14.7)	9.1 (7.4, 10.7)	10.9 (8.9, 12.9)	10.8 (9.0, 12.6)	12.7 (10.7, 14.6)		
	$\begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} 1.2y^9 \\ (n=2,163) \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} 9.4 \ (7.6, 11.1) \\ 9.1 \ (7.5, 10.8) \\ 5.0 \ (3.6, 6.3) \\ 5.7 \ (4.4, 7.1) \\ 15.0 \ (12.8, 17.1) \\ 14.0 \ (12.0, 16.0) \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} 18.8 \ (16.4, 21.2) \\ 18.7 \ (16.5, 21.0) \\ 14.6 \ (12.5, 16.7) \\ 15.6 \ (13.5, 17.7) \\ 11.6 \ (9.6, 13.5) \\ 12.7 \ (10.8, 14.7) \end{array}$	Intestining fightes based on cross-sect $1-2y^9$ $4-8y$ $(n=2,163)$ $(n=2,162)$ $9.4 (7.6, 11.1)$ $3.4 (2.3, 4.5)$ $9.1 (7.5, 10.8)$ $2.9 (1.9, 3.9)$ $5.0 (3.6, 6.3)$ $1.5 (0.8, 2.3)$ $5.7 (4.4, 7.1)$ $2.0 (1.1, 2.8)$ $15.0 (12.8, 17.1)$ $6.9 (5.4, 8.5)$ $14.0 (12.0, 16.0)$ $5.5 (4.2, 6.8)$ $18.8 (16.4, 21.2)$ $15.7 (13.5, 17.9)$ $18.7 (16.5, 21.0)$ $12.3 (10.3, 14.2)$ $14.6 (12.5, 16.7)$ $6.4 (4.9, 7.9)$ $15.6 (13.5, 17.7)$ $8.1 (6.5, 9.7)$ $11.6 (9.6, 13.5)$ $11.3 (9.4, 13.2)$ $12.7 (10.8, 14.7)$ $9.1 (7.4, 10.7)$	I-2 y^9 4-8 y 11-12 y $n=2,163$ $(n=2,162)$ $(n=1,839)$ 9.4 (7.6, 11.1)3.4 (2.3, 4.5)5.5 (4.0, 7.0)9.1 (7.5, 10.8)2.9 (1.9, 3.9)6.7 (5.2, 8.3)5.0 (3.6, 6.3)1.5 (0.8, 2.3)3.2 (2.0, 4.4)5.7 (4.4, 7.1)2.0 (1.1, 2.8)5.3 (3.9, 6.7)15.0 (12.8, 17.1)6.9 (5.4, 8.5)8.7 (6.8, 10.5)14.0 (12.0, 16.0)5.5 (4.2, 6.8)10.6 (8.6, 12.5)18.8 (16.4, 21.2)15.7 (13.5, 17.9)9.8 (7.8, 11.8)18.7 (16.5, 21.0)12.3 (10.3, 14.2)15.1 (12.8, 17.3)14.6 (12.5, 16.7)6.4 (4.9, 7.9)8.2 (6.4, 10.0)15.6 (13.5, 17.7)8.1 (6.5, 9.7)13.2 (11.0, 15.3)11.6 (9.6, 13.5)11.3 (9.4, 13.2)6.5 (4.9, 8.1)12.7 (10.8, 14.7)9.1 (7.4, 10.7)10.9 (8.9, 12.9)	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		

Table 6.4 Measures of overweight and obesity among South African boys and girls from 1-2y to 16-18y¹, Birth-to-Twenty Cohort (Sensitivity analysis: presenting figures based on cross-sectional, or all available, data at each time period)

1. Infant/toddler – 1y or 2y; early childhood – 4y, 5y, or 8y; early adolescence – 11y or 12y; mid-adolescence – 13y, 14y, 15y; late adolescence – 16y, 17y, 18y. 2. % (95% confidence interval). 3. World Health Organization (WHO) defines obesity as BMI z score > 2.0 SD from the reference median

4. International Obesity Task Force (IOTF) defines obesity and overweight using age- and sex-specific cut-off points for children 2-18 y, which were based on models that adapted the adult cut-off points for overweight ($25 \le BMI < 30$) and obese ($BMI \ge 30$). 5. Centers for Disease Control (CDC) define obesity as $BMI \ge 95^{th}$ percentile based on the reference population. 6. Overweight, but not obese. 7. World Health Organization defines overweight as $BMI \ge score > 1.0$ and ≤ 2.0 SD from the reference median. 8. Centers for Disease Control define overweight as $BMI \ge the 85$ th and $< 95^{th}$ percentile based on the reference population. 9. The IOTF and CDC definitions for overweight/obesity are for children 2-18 years and 2-19 years, respectively. IOTF and CDC prevalence figures for the infancy/toddlerhood period should be interpreted with caution, as this period contains BMI measurements at 1y and 2y of age. IOTF and CDC cut-off points for 2y were applied to the measurements at 1y.

- (- ,					J /
	$1-2y^{9}$	4-8y	11-12y	13-15y	16-18y
	(n=991)	(n=990)	(n=667)	(n=1,020)	(n=941)
Obesity ²					
WHO definition ³					
Boys	10.0 (7.3, 12.6)	3.8 (2.1, 5.6)	4.5 (2.2, 6.8)	4.6 (2.7, 6.4)	3.6 (1.8, 5.3)
Girls	10.4 (7.8, 13.1)	2.7 (1.3, 4.1)	7.3 (4.6, 10.0)	8.6 (6.2, 10.9)	9.8 (7.1, 12.4)
IOTF definition ⁴		· · · /			
Boys	5.2 (3.2, 7.2)	2.3 (1.0, 3.7)	3.2 (1.2, 5.2)	4.1 (2.4, 5.9)	3.3 (1.7, 5.0)
Girls	6.9 (4.7, 9.1)	1.5 (0.5, 2.6)	5.6 (3.2, 8.0)	7.1 (4.9, 9.3)	8.9 (6.4, 11.5)
CDC definition ⁵		. ,			
Boys	16.4 (13.1, 19.7)	8.1 (5.6, 10.5)	8.1 (5.0, 11.1)	6.2 (4.1, 8.4)	4.9 (2.9, 6.9)
Girls	15.9 (12.7, 19.1)	5.8 (3.8, 7.8)	11.8 (8.4, 15.1)	12.3 (9.5, 15.1)	13.4 (10.4, 16.4)
Overweight ^{2, 6}					
WHO definition ⁷					
Boys	18.5 (15.0, 21.9)	14.9 (11.6, 18.1)	9.7 (6.4, 13.0)	6.4 (4.2, 8.6)	4.9 (2.9, 6.9)
Girls	18.5 (15.1, 21.8)	12.3 (9.5, 15.2)	15.7 (11.9, 19.5)	13.6 (10.7, 16.5)	15.9 (12.6, 19.1)
IOTF definition ⁴					
Boys	16.8 (13.5, 20.2)	6.2 (4.0, 8.3)	6.8 (4.0, 9.6)	6.0 (3.9, 8.1)	5.1 (3.1, 7.2)
Girls	16.9 (13.6, 20.2)	8.7 (6.2, 11.1)	14.3 (10.6, 17.9)	13.0 (10.2, 15.9)	16.1 (12.8, 19.3)
CDC definition ⁸					· · · · · ·
Boys	10.6 (7.8, 13.3)	10.0 (7.3, 12.7)	6.1 (3.4, 8.8)	4.6 (2.7, 6.4)	3.6 (1.8, 5.3)
Girls	11.8 (9.0, 14.6)	8.9 (6.4, 11.3)	10.6 (7.4, 13.9)	9.3 (6.8, 11.8)	11.4 (8.6, 14.2)

Table 6.5: Measures of overweight and obesity among South African boys and girls from 1-2y to 16-18y¹, Birth-to-Twenty Cohort (Sensitivity analysis: presenting figures based on individuals who were lost-to-follow-up and not in the main analysis)

1. Infant/toddler – 1y or 2y; early childhood – 4y, 5y, or 8y; early adolescence – 11y or 12y; mid-adolescence – 13y, 14y, 15y; late adolescence – 16y, 17y, 18y. 2. % (95% confidence interval). 3. World Health Organization (WHO) defines obesity as BMI z score > 2.0 SD from the reference median. 4. International Obesity Task Force (IOTF) defines obesity and overweight using age- and sex-specific cut-off points for children 2-18 y, which were based on models that adapted the adult cut-off points for overweight ($25 \le BMI < 30$) and obese (BMI ≥ 30). 5. Centers for Disease Control (CDC) define obesity as BMI $\ge 95^{th}$ percentile based on the reference median. 8. Centers for Disease Control define overweight, but not obese. 7. World Health Organization defines overweight as BMI z score > 1.0 and ≤ 2.0 SD from the reference median. 8. Centers for Disease Control define overweight as BMI \ge the 85th and $< 95^{th}$ percentile based on the reference population. 9. The IOTF and CDC definitions for overweight/obesity are for children 2-18 years, respectively. IOTF and CDC prevalence figures for the infancy/toddlerhood period should be interpreted with caution, as this period contains BMI measurements at 1y and 2y of age. IOTF and CDC cut-off points for 2y were applied to the measurements at 1y.

Chapter 6 References

1. Ng M, Fleming T, Robinson M, et al. Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980–2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet 2014;384:766-781.

2. Guh DP, Zhang W, Bansback N, et al. The incidence of co-morbidities related to obesity and overweight: A systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Public Health 2009;9:1-20.

3. Dietz WH. Critical periods in childhood for the development of obesity. Am J Clin Nutr 1994;59:955-959.

4. Serdula MK, Ivery D, Coates RJ, et al. Do Obese Children Become Obese Adults? A Review of the Literature. Prev Med 1993;22:167–177.

5. Singh AS, Mulder C, Twisk JWR, et al. Tracking of childhood overweight into adulthood: a systematic review of the literature. Obes Rev 2008;9:474–488.

6. Black RE, Victora CG, Walker SP, et al. Maternal and child undernutrition and overweight in low-income and middle-income countries. Lancet 2013;382:427–451.
7. Lobstein T, Baur L, Uauy R. Obesity in children and young people: a crisis in public health. Obes Rev 2004;5 4–85.

8. Richter L, Norris S, Pettifor J, et al. Cohort Profile: Mandela's children: The 1990 birth to twenty study in South Africa. Int J Epidemiol 2007;36:504–511.

9. Cameron N. The Measurement of Human Growth. London, United Kingdom: Croom-Helm, 1984.

10. WHO Multicentre Growth Reference Study Group. WHO Child Growth Standards based on length/height, weight and age Acta Paediatr Suppl 2006:76-85.

11. World Health Organization. WHO Multicentre Growth Reference Study Group. WHO Child Growth Standards: Length/height-for-age, weight-for-age, weight-for-length, weight-for-height and body mass index-for-age: Methods and development. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2006.

12. deOnis M, Onyango A, Borghi E. Development of a WHO growth reference for school-aged children and adolescents. Bull World Health Organ 2007;85:660-667.

13. Kuczmarski R, Ogden C, Grummer-Strawn L. CDC Growth Charts: United States. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics; 2000.

14. Cole TJ, Bellizzi MC, Flegal KM, et al. Establishing a standard definition for child overweight and obesity worldwide: international survey. BMJ 2000;320:1240.

15. Cunningham SA, Kramer MR, Narayan KMV. Incidence of Childhood Obesity in the United States. N Engl J Med 2014;370:1660-1661.

16. Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Kit BK, et al. Prevalence of Childhood and Adult Obesity in the United States, 2011-2012. JAMA 2014;311:806-814.

17. Shisana O, Labadarios D, Rehle T, et al. South African National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (SANHANES-1). Cape Town: HSRC Press; 2014.

18. Reddy SP, Resnicow K, James S, et al. Rapid Increases in Overweight and Obesity Among South African Adolescents: Comparison of Data From the South African National Youth Risk Behaviour Survey in 2002 and 2008. Am J Public Health 2012;102:262–268. 19. Feeley AB, Musenge E, Pettifor JM, et al. Investigation into longitudinal dietary behaviours and household socio-economic indicators and their association with BMI Z-score and fat mass in South African adolescents: the Birth to Twenty (Bt20) cohort. Public Health Nutr 2012; 16:693–703.

20. Kruger R, Kruger H, MacIntyre U. The determinants of overweight and obesity among 10- to 15- year-old schoolchildren in the North West Province, South Africa – the THUSA BANA (Transition and Health during Urbanisation of South Africans; BANA, children) study. Public Health Nutr 2006;9:351–358.

Chapter 7: Early Life Determinants of Pubertal Development in South African Adolescents

Elizabeth A Lundeen, Shane A Norris, Reynaldo Martorell, Parminder S Suchdev, Neil K Mehta, Linda M Richter, Aryeh D Stein

Nutrition and Health Sciences Program, Laney Graduate School, Emory University, Atlanta, Georgia, USA (EAL, RM, PSS, ADS); MRC Developmental Pathways for Health Research Unit, University of Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa (EAL, SAN, ADS, LMR); DST-NRF Centre of Excellence of Human Development, Universities of the Witwatersrand and KwaZulu-Natal and the Human Sciences Research Council, Durban, South Africa (LMR); Rollins School of Public Health, Hubert Department of Global Health, Emory University, Atlanta, Georgia, USA (RM, PSS, NKM, ADS)

Abbreviations used: body mass index (BMI); height-for-age z score (HAZ); body mass index z score (BMIZ); Tanner Sexual Maturation Scale (SMS); Latent Class Growth Analysis (LCGA); Relative risk ratio (RRR)
Abstract

Background/Objective: Early puberty increases an adolescent's risk for adverse psychosocial outcomes. Given global trends toward earlier onset of puberty, it is important to understand childhood predictors of pubertal timing and tempo. We describe the longitudinal progression of puberty, and its relation to earlier height and body mass index, among primarily black male and female adolescents in South Africa.

Methods: We analyzed data from 1,060 males and 1,135 females participating in the Birth-to-Twenty study in Soweto, South Africa. Height-for-age z scores (HAZ) and body mass index z scores (BMIZ) were calculated based on height (cm) and body mass index (kg/m²) data at 5y and 8y. The development of genitals, breasts, and pubic hair was recorded from ages 9y to 16y using the five stages of the Tanner Sexual Maturation Scale (SMS). We used Latent Class Growth Analysis to identify trajectory classes (puberty tempo) for the development of genitals, breasts, and pubic hair, and characterized children as earlier, medium, or later developers (puberty timing) based on the median Tanner SMS score at 12y. Multinomial logistic regression was used to determine whether HAZ and BMIZ at ages 5y and 8y were associated with puberty timing and tempo.

Results: Among females, risk of being in the class with the fastest vs. slowest tempo for pubic hair development was increased with greater HAZ at 5y (relative risk ratio (RRR)=1.57; p<0.001) and BMIZ at 5y (RRR=1.51; p<0.01) and 8y (RRR=2.06; p=0.03); the same was true for the development of breasts and HAZ at 5y (RRR=1.78; p<0.001) and BMIZ at 5y (RRR=1.65; p<0.001) and 8y (RRR=3.35; p<0.001). Among

females, risk of earlier pubic hair development was increased by greater HAZ at 5y (RRR=1.40; p<0.01) or 8y (RRR=2.33; p<0.01), and greater BMIZ at 5y (RRR=1.32; p=0.04). Among males, risk of being in the class with the fastest vs. slowest tempo for pubic hair development was increased with greater HAZ at 5y (RRR=1.78; p<0.001) and BMIZ at 5y (RRR=1.43; p<0.01); the same was true for the development of genitals and HAZ at 5y (RRR=2.19; p<0.01).

Conclusions

Among both males and females, there was a positive association between both height and body mass index in early childhood and the tempo of pubertal development. This relationship emerged by age 5y. Among females, greater childhood height and body mass index were associated with earlier pubertal development, but there was no association among males.

Introduction

Puberty is an important developmental process, involving not only physical changes, but also social and emotional development, that together indicate a transition from childhood into adulthood. Pubertal development can have profound social implications, especially for females, as it signifies the beginning of reproductive capabilities, one's potential readiness for sexual activity and marriage, and the possibility for childbearing and motherhood (1-3). The timing of puberty is linked to numerous psychosocial outcomes, with early puberty among girls leading to a higher risk of depression, eating disorders, substance abuse, poor academic achievement, and risky sexual behaviors (2). Given the importance of puberty for adolescent social and emotional development, much attention has been paid to global trends indicating an earlier onset of puberty, particularly among girls.

In the U.S. and Western European countries, there was a marked decline in the age of menarche from the mid-19th to the mid-20th century, a period of rapid improvements in nutrition and socioeconomic conditions (4). The rate of decline in age at menarche in these countries has slowed over the past few decades, however in low- and middle-income countries, which have developed more recently than the U.S. and Europe, there continues to be a strong secular trend in the reduction of menarcheal age (4, 5). Studies have also shown a secular trend toward earlier development of breasts and pubic hair among girls (6-10). There is some research to suggest earlier genital and pubic hair development in boys, although there are far fewer data for males and the evidence has generally been insufficient to determine secular trends (9-11).

The shift in age at pubertal onset has been concurrent with increases in height in many populations, suggesting improved nutrition and socioeconomic conditions have contributed to both trends (12). Height in children has been found to have an inverse association with age of pubertal onset (13-16). Furthermore, the secular trends in pubertal development have been accompanied by an increase in body mass index (BMI) among children (17, 18), and studies on the role of overweight and obesity in pubertal development have garnered much attention (7, 19-21). There is evidence of an association between higher BMI in childhood or adolescence and earlier onset of puberty among girls (7, 13, 16, 20, 22-26). This relationship has been far less studied in boys, but two studies concluded that higher BMI may instead be associated with delayed puberty in males (23, 24).

Given the focus on improving nutrition and child growth in low- and middle-income countries, it is important to better understand the relationship between child growth measures and both the timing and trajectory of pubertal development among males and females. This relationship has primarily been studied in females. Additionally, most studies have focused on the relationship between childhood anthropometric measures and pubertal timing, rather than the tempo or overall trajectory of pubertal development. As both the timing and tempo of puberty may be influential in predicting later health and psychosocial outcomes, it is important to use longitudinal data to better characterize both the onset and trajectory of pubertal development, and understand their relationship with child growth measures. Lastly, studies on child growth measures and puberty have

mainly focused on Caucasian children in high-income countries, with limited evidence in other populations.

We address these gaps in the literature by using data on the development of secondary sexual characteristics from 9-16y to describe the longitudinal progression of puberty, and its relation to earlier height and body mass index, among primarily black male and female adolescents in South Africa.

Methods

We analyzed data from the Birth-to-Twenty study, a birth cohort initiated in 1990 in Soweto, an urban township in South Africa. Detailed information on this cohort has been published elsewhere (27). The cohort enrolled 3273 children who were born during a sixweek period in early 1990. Participants were predominantly black, and from families with a low socioeconomic status. The study was designed to track the growth, health, wellbeing and educational progress of the children, who have been studied prospectively. Throughout the study, participants or their caregivers provided written informed consent and ethical approval was obtained from the University of the Witwatersrand Committee for Research on Human Subjects (approval ID #M010556).

Weight at birth and weight and length/height at subsequent rounds were measured using standard procedures (28). At birth and in the months immediately following birth, data on demographic and socioeconomic variables, such as the child's ethnicity and caretaker monthly income (in Rands), were collected. At ages 9 through 16 years, pubertal

development was assessed with the Tanner Sexual Maturation Scale (SMS), the most commonly used standard for evaluating pubertal stage in both clinical and research settings (29). The Tanner SMS consists of drawings of five progressive stages in the development of secondary sexual characteristics—breasts in females, genitals in males, and pubic hair in both genders (30, 31). The drawings are accompanied by written descriptions of each stage. The stages range from 1 (pre-pubertal) to 5 (post-pubertal), with stage 2 representing the onset of puberty. From ages 9-11 years, the Tanner SMS was administered by a trained health care provider among a subset of Birth-to-Twenty participants. Among a comparable group of South African adolescents, self-assessment using the Tanner SMS was validated against expert Tanner ratings, and a significant degree of concordance was found between the two ratings (32). Therefore, self-rating using Tanner SMS was determined to be valid, and was carried out at years 12-16 among the entire cohort of Birth-to-Twenty participants.

Participants were included in the analysis if they had a least one Tanner SMS measurement between 9-16 years, which resulted in an analytical sample of 2,195 participants. Missing data were accounted for using the Full Information Maximum Likelihood technique in Mplus (33).

Data Management

Using weight and height measurements at ages 5 and 8 years, body mass index (BMI) values were calculated as weight (kg) divided by height squared (m²). Height and body mass index measures were converted to height-for-age z scores (HAZ) and body mass

index z scores (BMIZ) using the World Health Organization standards (34, 35). Caretaker monthly income was categorized into quintiles. We used Mplus to perform Latent Class Growth Analysis (LCGA) in order to group participants into distinct classes based on a common developmental trajectory for the Tanner SMS indicators of pubertal status (Figure 7.1). LCGA is a novel method of modeling trajectories for longitudinal data on growth and development. It is an extension of latent growth curve modeling, a method which estimates a latent intercept (initial level of the outcome variable) and latent slope (rate of outcome change over time) for the entire population. However, instead of assuming that one growth trajectory adequately describes the entire population, LCGA identifies numerous growth trajectories and groups observations into distinct classes based on similarities in their growth patterns. We conducted separate pubertal development trajectory analyses for females (breast and pubic hair development), and for males (genital and pubic hair development). We determined the optimal model in terms of the number of classes based on model fit statistics, with a focus on minimizing the value for the Bayesian Information Criteria, as well as parsimony of the model and identifying classes that had distinct differences in their developmental trajectories (33).

We used the ANOVA test to determine whether there was a significant difference in height and BMI at ages 5 and 8 years among classes. We also used multinomial logistic regression to determine whether height and BMI at ages 5 and 8 years are associated with group membership for the Tanner developmental trajectory classes. Height and BMI are included in these regression models as HAZ and BMIZ to ensure that the regression output for these two measures would be on the same scale, thereby enabling comparisons. Because of the strong correlation between repeated measures in the same individuals, we used conditional growth modeling to identify the effects of HAZ and BMIZ at 8y, independent of the effect of HAZ and BMIZ at 5y (thereby producing a measure representing the change from 5y to 8y in these measures). Conditional HAZ at 8y is included in the model as the residual produced when HAZ at 8y is regressed on HAZ at 5y (HAZ and BMIZ at 5y are controlled for in this model). Conditional BMIZ at 8y is included in the model as the residual produced when BMIZ at 8y is regressed on BMIZ at 5y (HAZ and BMIZ at 5y and HAZ at 8y are controlled for in this model). HAZ at 5y is included in the model as the residual produced when BMIZ at 8y is regressed on BMIZ at 5y (HAZ and BMIZ at 5y and HAZ at 8y are controlled for in this model). HAZ at 5y is included in the model without any adjustments. BMIZ at 5y is adjusted by controlling for HAZ at 5y.

The results of the regression analyses are presented as relative risk ratios (RRR). The RRR produced by multinomial logistic regression is similar to the odds ratio generated in logistic regression on a binary outcome. The RRRs are presented as unadjusted estimates, as well as adjusted for ethnicity and quintiles of caretaker monthly income. It is known that pubertal development is influenced by ethnicity (6, 13, 16, 22, 26) and socioeconomic status (36, 37).

The LCGA analysis illustrates the different trajectories for pubertal development in this population. However, in order to make more direct comparisons with the existing literature, we conducted a separate analysis of the timing of pubertal development. We created an indicator to represent the timing of pubertal development, by comparing the children's level of development in early adolescence to that of their peers in the cohort.

Tanner scores at age 12y were used to compute this indicator, as the full cohort began providing pubertal data at this wave. Children who were at the median score (which was also the modal score) for Tanner pubic hair, breast, and genital development at 12y, were categorized as being at a medium level of development, and therefore became the reference category. Those with a lower score were considered later developers, and those with a higher score were considered earlier developers. Using these three categories of pubertal development at 12y, we repeated the multinomial logistic regression to determine whether HAZ and BMIZ at ages 5 and 8 years are associated with being at an earlier stage of development at early adolescence.

Some participants reported a lower Tanner score one year than they had in a previous wave. Therefore, we performed a sensitivity analysis to determine whether such reversion affected the conclusions of the analysis. We developed two alternative datasets. First, we assumed that once a certain level of development on the Tanner scale was reported, the child had to stay at that level of development until they reported a higher Tanner score, in effect assuming that the earlier reported value was true. For the second approach, we assigned the lower value to the previous value, assuming that the later value was true. We repeated the regression models using these alternative datasets and compared the results. We used Mplus 7.3 (Muthén & Muthén, Los Angeles, California) to perform the Latent Class Growth Analysis, and STATA 13.0 (StataCorp, College Station, Texas) for all other analyses.

Results

The study sample was 52% female (n=1,135) and 48% male (n=1,060) (**Table 7.1**). The large majority (81%) of participants were Black, with other represented groups including white (4%), Indian (2%) and coloured or mixed-ancestral (13%) children. Those who were not included in the analysis were similar with respect to ethnicity, caretaker income, and height and BMI at ages 5 and 8y. At 5y, girls were on average 106.9 cm and boys were 107.6 cm, both with HAZ scores of -0.7 SD. At 8y girls were on average 123.9 cm and boys were 124.7 cm, both with HAZ scores of -0.7 SD. At 5y, girls had a mean BMI of 15.6 (BMIZ 0.1), and boys had a mean BMI of 15.7 (BMIZ 0.2). At 8y, both girls and boys had a mean BMI of 15.8 (BMIZ -0.1).

At 9y, when collection of pubertal data began, most children were at Tanner stage 1 for pubic hair, breasts, and genitals (**Table 7.2**). Over half were still at stage 1 at 10y of age, however, by age 11y, the majority had reached Tanner stage 2 or greater, indicating the onset of puberty. At ages 12 and 13y, females were at a higher level of pubertal development than males. By age 16y, around half of the adolescents were at Tanner stage 4, and around one-fourth had reached stage 5 (post-pubertal).

Among females, LCGA resulted in 3 trajectory classes for the development of pubic hair (**Figure 7.2**) and 4 classes for breast development (**Figure 7.3**) (**Table 7.3**). Among males, 3 trajectory classes were identified for the development of pubic hair (**Figure 7.4**) and 4 classes for genital development (**Figure 7.5**). In the development of pubic hair among females, for example, class 3 represents children who started at a slightly higher

level of pubertal maturation at 9y, had a faster tempo of progression through the Tanner stages, and were at a higher stage of development at 16y (**Figure 7.2**). This growth pattern is distinct from that of individuals in classes 1 and 2, who had a slower pace of pubic hair development and had not reached post-pubertal status by 16y.

Mean height (cm) and body mass index (kg/m²) at 5y and 8y generally increased across growth trajectory classes 1-3 for pubic hair and 1-4 for breast and genital development, meaning classes with faster tempos had higher means for height and BMI (**Table 7.4**). ANOVA tests confirmed that at least one class had a statistically significant difference in the mean height and BMI, with the exception of height at 8y and female pubic hair development classes, and BMI at 5y and male genital development classes.

When the trajectory classes for pubic hair development in females were regressed on HAZ at 5y, we found a relative risk ratio (RRR) of 1.57 for class 3 vs. 1 (p<0.001) and 1.34 for class 2 vs. 1 (p<0.01) (**Table 7.5**). Therefore, a 1 SD increase in HAZ at 5y is associated with a 57% increase in the risk of being in class 3 compared to class 1, and a 34% increase in the risk of being in class 2 vs. 1. Similarly, for breast development, HAZ at 5y was associated with a significantly increased RRR for class 4 vs. 1 and 3 vs. 1. Among females, conditional HAZ at 8y was not significant in predicting group membership for either pubic hair or breast development in the adjusted models. When trajectory classes for pubic hair development were regressed on BMIZ at 5y, there was a significantly increased RRR for class 3 vs. 1. For pubic hair and conditional BMIZ at 8y, significant relative risk ratios were found for classes 3 vs. 1 and 2 vs. 1. Similarly, for breast development, BMIZ at 5y and conditional BMIZ at 8y were associated with

significantly increased relative risk ratios, particularly for being in class 4 vs. 1 and 3 vs. 1.

Among males, when the trajectory classes for pubic hair development were regressed on HAZ at 5y, we found significantly increased RRRs for classes 3 vs. 1 and 2 vs. 1 (**Table 7.6**). Similarly, when the growth trajectory classes for genital development in males were regressed on HAZ at 5y, the RRR was increased for classes 4 vs. 1 and 3 vs. 1. In the adjusted models, BMIZ at 5y was the other significant association found among males, with an increased RRR for being in class 3 vs. 1 for pubic hair development.

Among females, the median (and modal) Tanner score for pubic hair and breast development at 12y was 3. Therefore, a score of 3 was considered medium development, and became the reference. Scores of 1 or 2 were categorized as later developers, and scores of 4 and 5 were considered earlier developers. For pubic hair development at 12y, 38% were at the medium level of development, with 19% earlier developers and 43% later developers (data not shown). For breast development, 40% were at the medium level of development, with 23% earlier developers and 37% later developers (data not shown). Having a greater HAZ at 5y significantly increased the RRR of being in the earlier development group for pubic hair, and significantly decreased the risk of being in the later group for both pubic hair and breast development (**Table 7.7**). There was a positive association between conditional HAZ at 8y and risk of being in the earlier pubic hair development group. There was also a positive association between BMIZ at 5y and risk of being in the earlier pubic hair development group.

Among males, the median (and modal) Tanner score for pubic hair and genital development at 12y was 2. Therefore, a score of 2 was considered medium development, and became the reference. A score of 1 was categorized as later developers, and scores of 3, 4, and 5 were considered earlier developers. For pubic hair development at 12y, 44% were at the medium level of development, with 33% earlier developers and 23% later developers (data not shown). For genital development, 44% were at the medium level of developers and 22% later developers (data not shown). For genital development, 44% were at the medium level of developers and 22% later developers (data not shown). For males, the adjusted regression models did not produce any significant associations between HAZ and BMIZ at 5y and 8y and risk of being in the earlier development groups (**Table 7.8**). However, a greater HAZ at 5y did significantly decrease the risk of being in the later development group for genitals.

Discussion

For the tempo of pubertal development, we found that among females, greater HAZ at 5y, BMIZ at 5y, and conditional BMIZ at 8y were associated with an increased risk of being in a class with a faster tempo for pubic hair and breast development. In terms of the timing of pubertal development, we found that among females, having a greater HAZ at 5y, conditional HAZ at 8y, or BMIZ at 5y increases the risk of having earlier pubic hair development, as compared to the reference peers at 12y. The associations found between BMIZ and pubertal timing and tempo were independent of HAZ.

Among males, greater HAZ at 5y was associated with an increased risk of being in a class with a faster tempo for pubic hair and genital development. BMIZ at 5y, independent of height, was also associated with an increased risk of being in the class with the fastest tempo for pubic hair development. For males, there was little evidence of an association between HAZ and BMIZ at 5y and 8y and being in the earlier development group for pubic hair and genitals at 12y.

The associations found in both males and females indicate that linear growth in early childhood is positively associated with being in a faster pubertal development trajectory. This relationship appears to have emerged by age 5y, and linear growth by 5y seems to account for the association, as height at 8y conditioned on prior height at 5y was not significant in the models. Among females, greater childhood height and BMI may also be associated with earlier pubertal development, but there does not seem to be an association among males. While a causal relationship between childhood growth measures and puberty cannot be established with these data, if such a relationship exists, it suggests that earlier puberty or faster progression through puberty could be a possible consequence of programs aimed at improving child nutrition and linear growth. The results also suggest that earlier and faster pubertal development may be a consequence of the childhood overweight and obesity epidemic, particularly among females. The possible impact of trends in child growth on pubertal timing and tempo is a concern, given that early puberty among girls can lead to a higher risk of depression, eating disorders, substance abuse, poor academic achievement, and risky sexual behaviors (2). Furthermore, obesity has been linked to poor psychosocial outcomes like depression in adolescence (38), which

may lead to a possible synergistic effect of obesity and early puberty on adolescent mental health.

Our results are fairly consistent with other studies on the relationship between child growth and puberty. However, the literature is primarily devoted to studying this relationship among females, and focuses on the timing of puberty rather than the tempo or overall trajectory. Other studies have found a similar inverse relationship between childhood height and age of puberty onset in girls (13, 16). Several cross-sectional studies have found that a higher BMI is associated with earlier puberty among females, as defined by breast development (22, 23), pubic hair (13, 22) and age at menarche (16, 22, 24).

Longitudinal studies have helped clarify the direction of these associations. One study followed white females from age 5y to 9y, and found that girls with greater body fat at 5y and 7y were more likely to have earlier pubertal development at 9y, assessed by breast development, estradiol levels and the Pubertal Development Scale (25). This study helped to establish that weight status precedes pubertal timing (25). Another study enrolled girls at 6-8 years and followed them longitudinally to examine the association between BMI and age at onset of breast maturation. They found that girls with a greater BMI reached Tanner breast stage 2 at younger ages (7). Lee et al found that the association between high BMI and earlier breast development begins as early as 36 months (26). These relationships have been far less studied in boys, but two studies have found that higher BMI may instead be associated with delayed puberty in males (23, 24).

Limitations

A limitation of this study is that the Tanner SMS ratings were self-reported by the adolescents from ages 12-16y. The gold standard for pubertal staging is typically physical examination by a trained clinician using Tanner criteria (29). However, self-assessment using the Tanner SMS has been validated in many populations, including a highly comparable population of South African adolescents (32). Therefore, self-rating of pubertal stage can be considered reasonably valid in this study. Also, while measurement error associated with self-assessment could impact conclusions drawn about the level of pubertal development at any one cross-section within the study, the consistent use of self-rating from 12-16y means that interpretation of trends across time would be unlikely to be biased, as measurement error is equally likely at all ages.

The associations we found between BMI and breast development in females should be interpreted with caution, as it has been suggested that using the Tanner SMS to characterize breast development, in the absence of physical examination by a clinician, may result in measurement error for overweight or obese girls (29). The Tanner SMS is most accurately used to describe female breast development when a trained clinician uses palpation to distinguish between actual breast tissue and adipose tissue. Overweight or obese females using Tanner self-assessment may be prone to overestimate their level of breast development, since adipose tissue can be easily mistaken for breast tissue (29). In our analysis of pubertal progression, characterization of trajectory groups for pubertal development could have been influenced by the existence of reversion (i.e. reporting a lower Tanner SMS score than that of an earlier round of data collection). However, the sensitivity analysis, using two methods that corrected this reversion in the data, found similar conclusions regarding the association between childhood height and BMI and pubertal trajectory group membership (**Tables 7.9-7.12**).

Our longitudinal data on pubertal development are limited by the fact that only a subset of the overall cohort provided data at ages 9-11y. This subset of the Birth-to-Twenty cohort was a group of children who were selected for a separate study on bone development. The two groups, those with pubertal data at 9-11y and those who only began providing data at 12y, were compared with respect to Tanner scores at 12y, as well as height and BMI at 5y and 8y. Among girls, there were no significant differences between the two groups. Boys who provided pubertal data at 9-11y were slightly different from those who began providing data at 12y in that they were taller at 5y, had a higher BMI at 8y, and reported more pubic hair development at 12y. These differences among the males could have impacted the group assignments for pubic hair progression, as well as regression analyses involving these groups, and these results should therefore be interpreted with caution.

Lastly, direct comparisons between the results of our study and previous research may be difficult, as our population consisted primarily of black adolescents. Some research suggests black females experience earlier pubertal development (6, 13, 16, 22, 26). While

ethnicity was not significant when controlled for in our models, we had little variation in ethnicity among our sample.

While many studies have found an association between child growth parameters and pubertal development, our study helps to clarify this relationship by examining both boys and girls, exploring the association for height as well as BMI, and using longitudinal data to describe this relationship for both pubertal timing and overall trajectory (or tempo). The collection of height and BMI measurements at two time points before the onset of secondary sexual characteristics helps to establish the timing of this association. Lastly, our study explores these associations in the context of a primarily black population in a middle-income country, while most other studies have been carried out in Caucasian populations in the U.S. and Europe.

Conclusion

Among both males and females, there was a positive association between both height and BMI in early childhood and the tempo of pubertal development. This relationship emerged by age 5y. Among females, greater childhood height and BMI were associated with earlier pubertal development, but there was no association among males.

	Females	Males
	n=1,135	n=1,060
Ethnicity, %		
Black	81.3	81.2
White	3.4	4.0
Coloured	13.0	12.5
Indian	2.4	2.4
Caretaker monthly income		
quintiles (Rands) ^a , %		
1 (0 - 2,400 Rands)	23.9	21.9
2 (2,401 - 7,800 Rands)	28.6	32.4
3 (7,801 - 10,800 Rands)	16.2	13.4
4 (10,801 - 19,200 Rands)	21.0	20.2
5 (19,201 - 48,000 Rands)	10.3	12.2
Height (cm), mean \pm SD		
5у	106.9 ± 4.7	107.6 ± 4.5
8y	123.9 ± 6.0	124.7 ± 6.0
Height-for-age z score, mean \pm SD		
5у	-0.7 ± 0.9	-0.7 ± 0.9
8y	-0.7 ± 1.0	-0.7 ± 1.0
Body mass index (kg/m ²), mean \pm SD		
5у	15.6 ± 1.5	15.7 ± 1.4
8y	15.8 ± 2.0	15.8 ± 1.7
Body mass index z score, mean \pm SD		
5у	0.1 ± 0.9	0.2 ± 1.0
8y	-0.1 ± 1.0	-0.1 ± 1.0

Table 7.1: Selected Characteristics of the Study Population, Birth-to-Twenty

a. 623 females and 575 males had information on caretaker monthly income. In analyses using this variable, a sixth category for missing is included to preserve the sample size. In 1990, the South African Rand (ZAR) to U.S. Dollar (USD) conversion rate was 0.38956. Therefore, the ranges of ZAR in this table correspond to the following USD:

0 - 2,400 ZAR = 0 - 934.94 USD

2,401 - 7,800 ZAR = 935.33 - 3,038.57 USD

7,801 - 10,800 ZAR = 3,038.96 - 4,207.25 USD

10,801 - 19,200 ZAR = 4,207.64 - 7,479.55 USD 19,201 - 48,000 ZAR = 7,479.94 - 18,698.9 USD

	Females (n=1,135)					Males (n=1,060)				
	Pul	bic Hair]	Breast	Pu	bic Hair	(Fenital		
	Ν	%	n	%	n	%	Ν	%		
Year 9,										
Mean \pm SD	144	$1.1\ \pm 0.3$	144	1.2 ± 0.4	167	1.0 ± 0.2	167	1.2 ± 0.4		
Stage 1, %		86.1		79.2		95.2		84.4		
Stage 2		13.9		20.8		4.8		15.6		
Stage 3		0.0		0.0		0.0		0.0		
Stage 4		0.0		0.0		0.0		0.0		
Stage 5		0.0		0.0		0.0		0.0		
Year 10										
Mean \pm SD	169	1.4 ± 0.5	169	1.5 ± 0.6	197	1.4 ± 0.5	197	1.5 ± 0.6		
Stage 1, %		59.8		52.7		60.9		52.8		
Stage 2		38.5		44.4		38.1		40.1		
Stage 3		1.8		3.0		1.0		7.1		
Stage 4		0.0		0.0		0.0		0.0		
Stage 5		0.0		0.0		0.0		0.0		
Year 11										
Mean \pm SD	172	1.9 ± 0.7	172	2.0 ± 0.7	206	1.7 ± 0.5	206	1.9 ± 0.6		
Stage 1, %		32.0		25.0		32.5		26.2		
Stage 2		51.2		50.6		66.0		60.7		
Stage 3		15.7		23.3		1.5		12.6		
Stage 4		1.2		1.2		0.0		0.5		
Stage 5		0.0		0.0		0.0		0.0		
Year 12										
Mean \pm SD	783	2.7 ± 0.9	787	2.8 ± 0.9	714	2.1 ± 0.8	712	2.2 ± 0.9		
Stage 1, %		10.6		7.4		23.1		22.2		
Stage 2		32.4		29.5		44.0		43.7		
Stage 3		37.9		40.2		28.2		27.3		
Stage 4		17.5		20.6		4.6		6.3		
Stage 5		1.5		2.4		0.1		0.6		

Table 7.2: Distribution of Tanner Scores for Development of Pubic Hair, Female Breasts, and Male Genitals (Continued on next page)

	Females (n=1,135)					Males (n=1,060)				
	Pu	bic Hair]	Breast	Pu	bic Hair	(Fenital		
	Ν	%	n	%	n	%	Ν	%		
Year 13										
Mean \pm SD	847	3.3 ± 0.8	845	3.4 ± 0.8	780	2.9 ± 1.0	778	2.8 ± 0.9		
Stage 1, %		1.9		1.1		10.1		6.8		
Stage 2		12.9		11.7		19.1		27.1		
Stage 3		46.4		40.8		43.5		42.7		
Stage 4		34.5		39.9		25.8		22.2		
Stage 5		4.4		6.5		1.5		1.2		
Year 14										
Mean \pm SD	930	3.6 ± 0.7	931	3.7 ± 0.8	865	3.5 ± 0.8	858	3.4 ± 0.9		
Stage 1, %		0.5		0.0		3.1		3.2		
Stage 2		4.6		4.1		7.1		11.2		
Stage 3		39.1		33.1		36.4		36.8		
Stage 4		47.9		48.1		47.9		44.1		
Stage 5		7.9		14.7		5.6		4.8		
Year 15										
Mean \pm SD	979	3.8 ± 0.8	969	3.9 ± 0.8	919	3.8 ± 0.8	901	3.7 ± 0.8		
Stage 1, %		0.4		0.4		1.4		1.3		
Stage 2		2.7		3.1		3.5		5.2		
Stage 3		28.8		21.1		22.0		27.2		
Stage 4		51.4		53.2		58.0		54.7		
Stage 5		16.8		22.3		15.1		11.5		
Year 16										
Mean \pm SD	996	4.0 ± 0.7	995	4.1 ± 0.7	930	4.1 ± 0.7	926	4.0 ± 0.8		
Stage 1, %		0.1		0.0		0.3		0.8		
Stage 2		2.7		2.5		1.1		2.9		
Stage 3		20.2		17.3		11.9		16.9		
Stage 4		53.1		51.5		61.6		58.2		
Stage 5		23.9		28.7		25.1		21.3		

Table 7.2: Distribution of Tanner Scores for Development of Pubic Hair, FemaleBreasts, and Male Genitals(Continued from previous page)

		Females			Males	
		(n=1,135)			(n=1,060)	
	%	Intercept	Slope	%	Intercept	Slope
Pubic Hair						
Class 1	32.9	0.000	0.969	26.4	-0.626	1.197
Class 2	54.5	0.792	1.322	59.8	0.000	1.611
Class 3	12.7	1.162	1.976	13.8	-0.724	2.377
Breast (females)						
Class 1	23.3	0.000	0.942			
Class 2	25.8	-0.916	1.557			
Class 3	36.6	2.580	1.167			
Class 4	14.3	0.844	2.238			
Genital (males)						
Class 1				5.6	-3.410	1.227
Class 2				35.3	-0.535	1.147
Class 3				51.3	0.329	1.377
Class 4				7.8	0.000	1.942

 Table 7.3: Distribution of Participants, Intercept, and Slope for the Pubertal Growth

 Trajectory Classes, Females and Males

0		11.:.	1.4 (0	$DMI(lra/m^2)$				
		Heig	int (cm)		BMI (kg/m²)				
		Year 5	I.	Year 8	Y	Year 5	, in the second se	Year 8	
	n	p-value	n	p-value	n	p-value	n	p-value	
		mean \pm SD		mean \pm SD		mean \pm SD		mean \pm SD	
Females									
Pubic Hair	808	< 0.001	615	0.1090	808	0.0016	615	<0.001 ^b	
Class 1		106.0 ± 4.8		123.2 ± 5.8		15.4 ± 1.5		15.5 ± 1.7	
Class 2		107.2 ± 4.5		124.1 ± 6.0		15.6 ± 1.5		16.0 ± 2.2	
Class 3		108.0 ± 4.9		124.8 ± 6.3		16.0 ± 1.4		16.5 ± 1.9	
Breast	809	< 0.001	615	< 0.001	809	<0.001 ^b	615	<0.001 ^b	
Class 1		106.0 ± 4.7		123.2 ± 5.9		15.3 ± 1.6		15.2 ± 1.6	
Class 2		106.1 ± 4.5		122.4 ± 5.7		15.3 ± 1.2		15.4 ± 1.3	
Class 3		107.5 ± 4.7		124.9 ± 5.9		15.7 ± 1.6		16.2 ± 2.4	
Class 4		108.3 ± 4.4		125.5 ± 5.9		16.1 ± 1.5		17.0 ± 2.5	
Males									
Pubic Hair	734	< 0.001	603	0.0023	734	0.0194	603	0 0100 ^b	
Class 1		106.6 ± 4.3		123.7 ± 5.8	,	15.5 ± 1.3		15.6 ± 1.5	
Class 2		107.8 ± 4.5		124.8 ± 6.1		15.7 ± 1.5		15.8 ± 1.8	
Class 3		109.0 ± 4.6		1265 ± 57		16.0 ± 1.4		16.2 ± 1.4	
		109.0 - 1.0		120.0 - 0.1		10.0 - 1.1		10.2 - 1.1	
Genital	734	< 0.001	603	<0.001	734	0 1050 ^b	603	0 0094 ^b	
Class 1		106.0 ± 3.5		123.2 ± 5.0	,	15.4 ± 1.4		15.2 ± 1.1	
Class 2		106.9 ± 4.7		123.8 ± 6.2		15.7 ± 1.5		16.0 ± 1.9	
Class 3		108.1 ± 4.4		125.0 = 0.2 125.2 ± 5.8		15.7 = 1.3 15.6 ± 1.3		15.0 = 1.9 15.7 ± 1.6	
Class 4		109.1 ± 4.1		127.4 ± 6.0		16.0 ± 1.2		16.2 ± 1.4	

Table 7.4: Height and BMI at 5 and 8 Years of Age by Pubertal Growth Trajectory Class and Gender

a ANOVA test to determine whether there was a significant difference in mean height and BMI between groups b Simulated ANOVA test used because the equal variances assumption was not met

		Age 5	years			Age 8	years	
	Unac	ljusted	Adj	usted ^a	Una	djusted	Adjı	usted ^b
	(n=	808)	(n=	=808)	(n=	=615)	(n=	526)
	Relative	95% CI	Relative	95% CI	Relative	95% CI	Relative	95% CI
	Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio	
HAZ								
Pubic hair ^c								
3 vs. 1	1.60	(1.25, 2.04)	1.57	(1.22, 2.03)	1.26	(0.94, 1.67)	1.03	(0.57, 1.86)
2 vs. 1	1.34	(1.13, 1.58)	1.34	(1.13, 1.59)	1.14	(0.95, 1.35)	0.93	(0.65, 1.34)
Breast ^d								
4 vs. 1	1.77	(1.36, 2.30)	1.78	(1.37, 2.33)	1.58	(1.18, 2.10)	0.95	(0.52, 1.74)
3 vs. 1	1.43	(1.16, 1.76)	1.39	(1.13, 1.72)	1.33	(1.06, 1.66)	0.83	(0.52, 1.32)
2 vs. 1	1.01	(0.81, 1.27)	0.97	(0.77, 1.22)	0.93	(0.74, 1.17)	0.74	(0.46, 1.20)
BMIZ								
Pubic hair ^c								
3 vs. 1	1.58	(1.24, 2.02)	1.51	(1.17, 1.96)	1.79	(1.35, 2.39)	2.06	(1.10, 3.87)
2 vs. 1	1.13	(0.95, 1.33)	1.09	(0.91, 1.30)	1.31	(1.09, 1.58)	1.58	(1.06, 2.34)
Breast ^d								
4 vs. 1	1.77	(1.36, 2.30)	1.65	(1.25, 2.17)	2.86	(2.08, 3.92)	3.35	(1.74, 6.46)
3 vs. 1	1.35	(1.09, 1.66)	1.25	(1.01, 1.55)	1.88	(1.46, 2.42)	2.56	(1.52, 4.33)
2 vs. 1	1.01	(0.81, 1.27)	1.00	(0.79, 1.27)	1.30	(1.01, 1.68)	1.75	(1.03, 2.97)

Table 7.5: Regression to Predict Pubertal Development Trajectory Group Based on Height-for-Age Z Score and Body Mass Index Z Score at Age 5 Years and 8 Years, Females

a. Adjusted for ethnicity and quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands). Height-for-age z score (HAZ) at 5y is included in the model without any adjustments. Body mass index z score (BMIZ) at 5y is adjusted by controlling for HAZ at 5y. b. Adjusted for ethnicity and quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands). HAZ at 8y is included in the model as the residual produced when HAZ at 8y is regressed on HAZ at 5y (HAZ and BMIZ at 5y are controlled for in this model). BMIZ at 8y is included in the model as the residual produced when BMIZ at 8y is regressed on BMIZ at 5y (HAZ and BMIZ at 5y and HAZ at 8y are controlled for in this model). c. Multinomial logistic regression with the outcome being the 3 growth trajectory groups for pubic hair development. d. Multinomial logistic regression with the outcome being the 4 growth trajectory groups for breast development.

			Age 5	years		Age 8 years				
		Unac	ljusted	Adjı	usted ^a	Unac	ljusted	Adju	usted ^b	
		(n=	734)	(n=	734)	(n=	=603)	(n=500)		
		Relative	95% CI	Relative	95% CI	Relative	95% CI	Relative	95% CI	
		Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio		
HAZ										
Pubic hai	r ^c									
	3 vs. 1	1.89	(1.45, 2.47)	1.78	(1.35, 2.34)	1.81	(1.37, 2.39)	1.57	(0.80, 3.07)	
	2 vs. 1	1.36	(1.13, 1.63)	1.32	(1.10, 1.60)	1.21	(1.00, 1.45)	1.07	(0.68, 1.67)	
Genital ^d										
	4 vs. 1	2.34	(1.51, 3.61)	2.19	(1.41, 3.40)	2.01	(1.27, 3.18)	1.99	(0.62, 6.37)	
	3 vs. 1	1.74	(1.24, 2.45)	1.68	(1.19, 2.38)	1.40	(0.99, 1.99)	1.24	(0.51, 3.05)	
	2 vs. 1	1.28	(0.91, 1.81)	1.28	(0.90, 1.81)	1.05	(0.74, 1.50)	0.68	(0.28, 1.66)	
BMIZ										
Pubic hai	ir ^c									
	3 vs. 1	1.42	(1.12, 1.80)	1.43	(1.11, 1.85)	1.57	(1.20, 2.07)	1.00	(0.56, 1.79)	
	2 vs. 1	1.11	(0.94, 1.32)	1.15	(0.96, 1.37)	1.14	(0.94, 1.38)	0.70	(0.46, 1.05)	
Genital ^d										
	4 vs. 1	1.53	(1.03, 2.26)	1.49	(0.99, 2.26)	1.98	(1.25, 3.14)	1.40	(0.50, 3.94)	
	3 vs. 1	1.13	(0.83, 1.55)	1.19	(0.85, 1.66)	1.46	(1.01, 2.11)	1.56	(0.68, 3.56)	
	2 vs 1	1 23	(0.89, 1.70)	1 31	(0.93, 1.85)	1.62	(1 11 2 36)	1 48	(0.64, 3.41)	
			((((

Table 7.6: Regression to Predict Pubertal Development Trajectory Group Based on Height-for-Age Z Score and Body Mass Index Z Score at Age 5 Years and 8 Years, Males

a. Adjusted for ethnicity and quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands). Height-for-age z score (HAZ) at 5y is included in the model without any adjustments. Body mass index z score (BMIZ) at 5y is adjusted by controlling for HAZ at 5y. b. Adjusted for ethnicity and quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands). HAZ at 8y is included in the model as the residual produced when HAZ at 8y is regressed on HAZ at 5y (HAZ and BMIZ at 5y are controlled for in this model). BMIZ at 8y is included in the model as the residual produced when BMIZ at 8y is regressed on BMIZ at 5y (HAZ and BMIZ at 5y and HAZ at 5y and HAZ at 8y are controlled for in this model). c. Multinomial logistic regression with the outcome being the 3 growth trajectory groups for pubic hair development. D. Multinomial logistic regression with the outcome being the 4 growth trajectory groups for genital development.

		Age 5	5 years		Age 8 years					
	Unac	ljusted	Adj	usted ^a	Una	ljusted	Adjı	usted ^b		
	(n=	808)	(n=	=808)	(n=	=615)	(n=	526)		
	Relative	95% CI	Relative	95% CI	Relative	95% CI	Relative	95% CI		
	Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio			
HAZ										
Pubic hair ^c										
Earlier vs. medium	1.37	(1.07, 1.76)	1.40	(1.09, 1.81)	1.49	(1.12, 2.00)	2.33	(1.25, 4.35)		
Later vs. medium	0.72	(0.59, 0.89)	0.72	(0.59, 0.89)	0.75	(0.60, 0.93)	1.06	(0.68, 1.66)		
Missing vs. medium	0.77	(0.62, 0.94)	0.85	(0.68, 1.06)	0.76	(0.61, 0.95)	1.13	(0.69, 1.87)		
Breast ^d										
Earlier vs. medium	1.12	(0.89, 1.41)	1.12	(0.88, 1.43)	1.14	(0.88, 1.48)	1.10	(0.63, 1.92)		
Later vs. medium	0.66	(0.53, 0.81)	0.65	(0.52, 0.80)	0.74	(0.59, 0.92)	0.96	(0.61, 1.51)		
Missing vs. medium	0.73	(0.60, 0.89)	0.80	(0.64, 0.99)	0.75	(0.60, 0.93)	1.01	(0.63, 1.64)		
BMIZ										
Pubic hair ^c										
Earlier vs. medium	1.35	(1.06, 1.73)	1.32	(1.02, 1.70)	1.27	(0.97, 1.67)	1.25	(0.68, 2.28)		
Later vs. medium	0.91	(0.74, 1.12)	0.96	(0.78, 1.19)	0.83	(0.67, 1.03)	0.73	(0.46, 1.17)		
Missing vs. medium	0.88	(0.72, 1.08)	1.11	(0.88, 1.39)	0.81	(0.65, 1.02)	0.85	(0.50, 1.44)		
Breast ^d										
Earlier vs. medium	1.18	(0.94, 1.49)	1.16	(0.92, 1.48)	1.35	(1.05, 1.74)	1.68	(0.97, 2.91)		
Later vs. medium	0.81	(0.66, 1.00)	0.86	(0.69, 1.07)	0.73	(0.58, 0.92)	0.62	(0.38, 1.01)		
Missing vs. medium	0.84	(0.69, 1.03)	1.06	(0.85, 1.32)	0.81	(0.64, 1.01)	0.88	(0.52, 1.48)		

Table 7.7: Regression to Predict Pubertal Development Group at 12 Years Based on Height-for-Age Z Score and Body Mass Index Z Score at Age 5 Years and 8 Years, Females

a. Adjusted for ethnicity and quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands). Height-for-age z score (HAZ) at 5y is included in the model without any adjustments. Body mass index z score (BMIZ) at 5y is adjusted by controlling for HAZ at 5y. b. Adjusted for ethnicity and quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands). HAZ at 8y is included in the model as the residual produced when HAZ at 8y is regressed on HAZ at 5y (HAZ and BMIZ at 5y are controlled for in this model). BMIZ at 8y is included in the model as the residual produced when BMIZ at 8y is regressed on BMIZ at 5y (HAZ and BMIZ at 5y are controlled for in this model). c. Multinomial logistic regression with the outcome being the 3 groups for pubic hair development: earlier, medium (ref.), later. d. Multinomial logistic regression with the outcome being the 3 groups for breast development: earlier, medium (ref.), later.

		Age 5	years	Age 8 years					
	Unac	ljusted	Adj	usted ^a	Unac	ljusted	Adjı	usted ^b	
	(n=	734)	(n=	734)	(n=	603)	(n=	500)	
	Relative	95% CI	Relative	95% CI	Relative	95% CI	Relative	95% CI	
	Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio		
Height									
Pubic hair ^c									
Earlier vs. medium	1.30	(1.05, 1.61)	1.24	(1.00, 1.55)	1.25	(1.00, 1.55)	0.91	(0.55, 1.52)	
Later vs. medium	0.78	(0.61, 0.99)	0.78	(0.61, 1.00)	0.87	(0.69, 1.11)	1.02	(0.56, 1.87)	
Missing vs. medium	0.97	(0.80, 1.19)	1.02	(0.82, 1.28)	0.85	(0.69, 1.04)	0.64	(0.37, 1.11)	
Genital ^d									
Earlier vs. medium	1.21	(0.98, 1.50)	1.18	(0.95, 1.47)	1.18	(0.95, 1.47)	0.82	(0.49, 1.36)	
Later vs. medium	0.76	(0.60, 0.97)	0.77	(0.60, 0.98)	0.84	(0.66, 1.06)	1.05	(0.57, 1.92)	
Missing vs. medium	0.97	(0.80, 1.19)	1.05	(0.84, 1.31)	0.81	(0.66, 1.00)	0.63	(0.36, 1.10)	
BMIZ									
Pubic hair ^c									
Earlier vs. medium	1.05	(0.87, 1.28)	1.01	(0.82, 1.24)	1.29	(1.04, 1.61)	1.43	(0.88, 2.30)	
Later vs. medium	0.78	(0.62, 0.98)	0.80	(0.63, 1.01)	0.94	(0.73, 1.21)	1.68	(1.00, 2.84)	
Missing vs. medium	0.79	(0.65, 0.95)	0.96	(0.77, 1.18)	0.80	(0.64, 0.99)	1.07	(0.63, 1.82)	
Genital ^d									
Earlier vs. medium	0.96	(0.79, 1.16)	0.92	(0.75, 1.13)	1.04	(0.83, 1.29)	0.95	(0.59, 1.53)	
Later vs. medium	0.92	(0.74, 1.15)	0.93	(0.74, 1.18)	0.93	(0.73, 1.19)	0.85	(0.51, 1.42)	
Missing vs. medium	0.79	(0.65, 0.95)	0.95	(0.77, 1.18)	0.74	(0.59, 0.92)	0.79	(0.47, 1.34)	

Table 7.8: Regression to Predict Pubertal Development Group at 12 Years Based on Height-for-Age Z Score and Body Mass Index Z Score at Age 5 Years and 8 Years, Males

a. Adjusted for ethnicity and quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands). Height-for-age z score (HAZ) at 5y is included in the model without any adjustments. Body mass index z score (BMIZ) at 5y is adjusted by controlling for HAZ at 5y. b. Adjusted for ethnicity and quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands). HAZ at 8y is included in the model as the residual produced when HAZ at 8y is regressed on HAZ at 5y (HAZ and BMIZ at 5y are controlled for in this model). BMIZ at 8y is included in the model as the residual produced when BMIZ at 8y is regressed on BMIZ at 5y (HAZ and BMIZ at 5y and HAZ at 8y are controlled for in this model). c. Multinomial logistic regression with the outcome being the 3 groups for pubic hair development: earlier, medium (ref.), later. d. Multinomial logistic regression with the outcome being the 3 groups for genital development: earlier, medium (ref.), later.

		Age 5	years			Age 8	3 years	
	Unac	ljusted	Adjı	usted ^b	Unac	djusted	Adj	usted ^c
	(n=	808)	(n=	808)	(n=	=615)	(n=	=526)
	Relative	95% CI	Relative	95% CI	Relative	95% CI	Relative	95% CI
	Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio	
HAZ								
Pubic hair ^d								
3 vs. 1	1.54	(1.22, 1.94)	1.54	(1.21, 1.97)	1.31	(0.99, 1.72)	1.16	(0.66, 2.03)
2 vs. 1	1.31	(1.09, 1.57)	1.33	(1.10, 1.60)	1.14	(0.94, 1.38)	0.98	(0.66, 1.45)
Breast ^e								
4 vs. 1	1.76	(1.37, 2.26)	1.75	(1.36, 2.26)	1.52	(1.16, 1.99)	0.98	(0.55, 1.74)
3 vs. 1	1.34	(1.06, 1.69)	1.29	(1.02, 1.63)	1.29	(1.00, 1.65)	0.79	(0.47, 1.34)
2 vs. 1	1.03	(0.81, 1.30)	0.97	(0.76, 1.24)	0.97	(0.75, 1.24)	0.75	(0.44, 1.26)
BMIZ								
Pubic hair ^d								
3 vs. 1	1.40	(1.11, 1.76)	1.33	(1.04, 1.69)	1.74	(1.32, 2.31)	2.95	(1.60, 5.43)
2 vs. 1	1.04	(0.87, 1.25)	1.00	(0.82, 1.20)	1.25	(1.02, 1.53)	1.67	(1.07, 2.59)
Breast ^e								
4 vs. 1	1.63	(1.27, 2.10)	1.49	(1.14, 1.93)	2.95	(2.16, 4.03)	6.00	(3.05, 11.81)
3 vs. 1	1.26	(0.99, 1.59)	1.15	(0.90, 1.48)	1.90	(1.43, 2.52)	2.83	(1.53, 5.26)
2 vs. 1	1.02	(0.80, 1.30)	0.99	(0.77, 1.27)	1.54	(1.16, 2.03)	2.52	(1.36, 4.65)

Table 7.9: Sensitivity Analysis (METHOD 1^a): Regression to Predict Pubertal Development Trajectory Group Based on Heightfor-Age Z Score and Body Mass Index Z Score at Age 5 Years and 8 Years, Females

a. A sensitivity analysis was performed to determine whether reversion in the data affected the conclusions of the analysis. Reversion occurred when a participant reported a lower Tanner score one year than they had in a previous wave. The regression analysis presented in this table was carried out using an alternative dataset, which assumed that once a certain level of development on the Tanner scale was reported, the child had to stay at that level of development until they reported a higher Tanner score, in effect assuming that the earlier reported value was true. b. Adjusted for ethnicity and quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands). Height-for-age z score (HAZ) at 5y is included in the model without any adjustments. Body mass index z score (BMIZ) at 5y is adjusted by controlling for HAZ at 5y. c. Adjusted for ethnicity and quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands). HAZ at 8y is included in the model as the residual produced when HAZ at 8y is regressed on HAZ at 5y (HAZ and BMIZ at 5y are controlled for in this model). BMIZ at 8y is included in the model as the residual produced when BMIZ at 8y is regressed on BMIZ at 5y (HAZ and BMIZ at 5y and HAZ at 8y are controlled for in this model). d. Multinomial logistic regression with the outcome being the 4 growth trajectory groups for breast development.

		Age 5	years		Age 8 years				
	Unac	ljusted	Adj	usted ^b	Una	djusted	Adj	usted ^c	
	(n=	808)	(n=	-808)	(n=	=615)	(n=	526)	
	Relative	95% CI	Relative	95% CI	Relative	95% CI	Relative	95% CI	
	Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio		
HAZ									
Pubic hair ^d									
3 vs. 1	1.49	(1.17, 1.89)	1.45	(1.13, 1.86)	1.26	(0.94, 1.70)	0.89	(0.49, 1.63)	
2 vs. 1	1.20	(1.02, 1.41)	1.20	(1.02, 1.42)	1.03	(0.87, 1.23)	0.77	(0.54, 1.10)	
Breast ^e									
4 vs. 1	1.69	(1.33, 2.15)	1.71	(1.34, 2.19)	1.48	(1.13, 1.93)	0.85	(0.48, 1.52)	
3 vs. 1	1.39	(1.15, 1.70)	1.36	(1.12, 1.67)	1.29	(1.04, 1.58)	0.76	(0.49, 1.18)	
2 vs. 1	1.10	(0.88, 1.38)	1.03	(0.82, 1.29)	0.98	(0.77, 1.23)	0.61	(0.37, 1.00)	
BMIZ									
Pubic hair ^d									
3 vs. 1	1.51	(1.19, 1.91)	1.45	(1.13, 1.87)	1.77	(1.33, 2.37)	2.17	(1.14, 4.12)	
2 vs. 1	1.04	(0.88, 1.22)	1.02	(0.86, 1.21)	1.20	(1.00, 1.44)	1.60	(1.08, 2.37)	
Breast ^e									
4 vs. 1	1.81	(1.42, 2.31)	1.76	(1.36, 2.27)	2.80	(2.08, 3.77)	2.53	(1.38, 4.63)	
3 vs. 1	1.34	(1.10, 1.64)	1.27	(1.03, 1.56)	1.84	(1.45, 2.33)	1.81	(1.13, 2.90)	
2 vs. 1	1.16	(0.92, 1.46)	1.13	(0.89, 1.43)	1.53	(1.18, 1.98)	1.38	(0.82, 2.32)	

Table 7.10: Sensitivity Analysis (METHOD 2^a): Regression to Predict Pubertal Development Trajectory Group Based on Height-for-Age Z Score and Body Mass Index Z Score at Age 5 Years and 8 Years, Females

a. A sensitivity analysis was performed to determine whether reversion in the data affected the conclusions of the analysis. Reversion occurred when a participant reported a lower Tanner score one year than they had in a previous wave. The regression analysis presented in this table was carried out using an alternative dataset, in which reversion was corrected by assigning the lower value to the previous value, thereby assuming that the later value was true. b. Adjusted for ethnicity and quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands). Height-for-age z score (HAZ) at 5y is included in the model without any adjustments. Body mass index z score (BMIZ) at 5y is adjusted by controlling for HAZ at 5y. c. Adjusted for ethnicity and quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands). Height-for age z score (HAZ) at 5y is included in the model without any adjustments. Body mass index z score (BMIZ) at 5y is adjusted by controlling for HAZ at 5y. c. Adjusted for ethnicity and quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands). HAZ at 8y is included in the model as the residual produced when HAZ at 8y is regressed on HAZ at 5y (HAZ and BMIZ at 5y are controlled for in this model). BMIZ at 8y is included in the model as the residual produced when BMIZ at 8y is regressed on BMIZ at 5y (HAZ and BMIZ at 5y and HAZ at 8y are controlled for in this model). d. Multinomial logistic regression with the outcome being the 3 growth trajectory groups for pubic hair development. e. Multinomial logistic regression with the outcome being the 4 growth trajectory groups for breast development.

		Age 5	years		Age 8 years				
	Una	ljusted	Adj	usted ^b	Una	djusted	Adj	usted ^c	
	(n=	=734)	(n=	734)	(n=	=603)	(n=500)		
	Relative	95% CI	Relative	95% CI	Relative	95% CI	Relative	95% CI	
	Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio		
HAZ									
Pubic hair ^d									
3 vs. 1	1.97	(1.52, 2.56)	1.87	(1.43, 2.44)	1.91	(1.46, 2.50)	1.63	(0.85, 3.11)	
2 vs. 1	1.46	(1.21, 1.76)	1.43	(1.18, 1.73)	1.32	(1.09, 1.59)	1.05	(0.67, 1.65)	
Genital ^e									
4 vs. 1	2.03	(1.52, 2.71)	1.90	(1.41, 2.54)	1.86	(1.38, 2.51)	1.27	(0.63, 2.58)	
3 vs. 1	1.74	(1.39, 2.19)	1.64	(1.30, 2.07)	1.40	(1.11, 1.76)	0.98	(0.56, 1.70)	
2 vs. 1	1.34	(1.09, 1.64)	1.29	(1.05, 1.60)	1.13	(0.92, 1.38)	0.76	(0.46, 1.25)	
BMIZ									
Pubic hair ^d									
3 vs. 1	1.35	(1.07, 1.70)	1.38	(1.08, 1.77)	1.55	(1.19, 2.01)	1.26	(0.72, 2.21)	
2 vs. 1	1.11	(0.93, 1.32)	1.13	(0.94, 1.35)	1.17	(0.96,1.42)	0.84	(0.56, 1.28)	
Genital ^e									
4 vs. 1	1.08	(0.84, 1.39)	1.01	(0.77, 1.32)	1.17	(0.87, 1.56)	1.12	(0.58, 2.15)	
3 vs. 1	1.14	(0.93, 1.39)	1.08	(0.87, 1.34)	1.18	(0.94, 1.48)	1.09	(0.66, 1.81)	
2 vs. 1	1.10	(0.91, 1.33)	1.09	(0.89, 1.33)	1.15	(0.93, 1.42)	1.25	(0.80, 1.97)	

Table 7.11: Sensitivity Analysis (METHOD 1^a): Regression to Predict Pubertal Development Trajectory Group Based on Height-for-Age Z Score and Body Mass Index Z Score at Age 5 Years and 8 Years, Males

a. A sensitivity analysis was performed to determine whether reversion in the data affected the conclusions of the analysis. Reversion occurred when a participant reported a lower Tanner score one year than they had in a previous wave. The regression analysis presented in this table was carried out using an alternative dataset, which assumed that once a certain level of development on the Tanner scale was reported, the child had to stay at that level of development until they reported a higher Tanner score, in effect assuming that the earlier reported value was true. b. Adjusted for ethnicity and quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands). Height-for-age z score (HAZ) at 5y is included in the model without any adjustments. Body mass index z score (BMIZ) at 5y is adjusted by controlling for HAZ at 5y. c. Adjusted for ethnicity and quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands). HAZ at 8y is included in the model as the residual produced when HAZ at 8y is regressed on HAZ at 5y (HAZ and BMIZ at 5y are controlled for in this model). BMIZ at 8y is included in the model as the residual produced when BMIZ at 8y is regressed on BMIZ at 5y (HAZ and BMIZ at 5y and HAZ at 8y are controlled for in this model). d. Multinomial logistic regression with the outcome being the 4 growth trajectory groups for genital development.

	Age 5 years				Age 8 years			
	Unadjusted (n=734)		Adjusted ^b (n=734)		Unadjusted (n=603)		Adjusted ^c (n=500)	
	Relative	95% CI	Relative	95% CI	Relative	95% CI	Relative	95% CI
	Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio	
HAZ								
Pubic hair ^d								
3 vs. 1	1.67	(1.28, 2.18)	1.58	(1.19, 2.08)	1.59	(1.21, 2.11)	1.19	(0.61, 2.32)
2 vs. 1	1.42	(1.19, 1.71)	1.39	(1.16, 1.67)	1.30	(1.08, 1.55)	1.08	(0.70, 1.68)
Genital ^e								
4 vs. 1	2.09	(1.56, 2.80)	2.03	(1.50, 2.75)	1.83	(1.35, 2.47)	1.20	(0.56, 2.57)
3 vs. 1	1.46	(1.10, 1.94)	1.50	(1.12, 2.01)	1.26	(0.95, 1.68)	0.91	(0.43, 1.92)
2 vs. 1	1.25	(0.94, 1.67)	1.28	(0.95, 1.72)	1.12	(0.84, 1.50)	0.79	(0.38, 1.67)
BMIZ								
Pubic hair ^d								
3 vs. 1	1.26	(0.99, 1.60)	1.29	(1.00, 1.67)	1.38	(1.04, 1.81)	0.99	(0.54, 1.80)
2 vs. 1	1.10	(0.93, 1.29)	1.12	(0.93, 1.33)	1.14	(0.94, 1.37)	0.79	(0.53, 1.18)
Genital ^e								
4 vs. 1	0.95	(0.73, 1.23)	0.92	(0.69, 1.23)	1.22	(0.91, 1.66)	0.96	(0.49, 1.85)
3 vs. 1	0.83	(0.64, 1.08)	0.89	(0.67, 1.18)	1.08	(0.80, 1.45)	1.14	(0.60, 2.16)
2 vs. 1	0.93	(0.71, 1.21)	0.98	(0.74, 1.30)	1.19	(0.88, 1.61)	1.00	(0.52, 1.91)

Table 7.12: Sensitivity Analysis (METHOD 2^a): Regression to Predict Pubertal Development Trajectory Group Based on Height-for-Age Z Score and Body Mass Index Z Score at Age 5 Years and 8 Years, Males

a. A sensitivity analysis was performed to determine whether reversion in the data affected the conclusions of the analysis. Reversion occurred when a participant reported a lower Tanner score one year than they had in a previous wave. The regression analysis presented in this table was carried out using an alternative dataset, in which reversion was corrected by assigning the lower value to the previous value, thereby assuming that the later value was true. b. Adjusted for ethnicity and quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands). Height-for-age z score (HAZ) at 5y is included in the model without any adjustments. Body mass index z score (BMIZ) at 5y is adjusted by controlling for HAZ at 5y. c. Adjusted for ethnicity and quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands). Height-for-age z score (HAZ) at 5y is included in the model without any adjustments. Body mass index z score (BMIZ) at 5y is adjusted by controlling for HAZ at 5y. c. Adjusted for ethnicity and quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands). Haz at 8y is regressed on HAZ at 5y (HAZ and BMIZ at 5y are controlled for in this model). BMIZ at 8y is included in the model as the residual produced when BMIZ at 8y is regressed on BMIZ at 5y (HAZ and BMIZ at 5y and HAZ at 8y are controlled for in this model). d. Multinomial logistic regression with the outcome being the 3 growth trajectory groups for pubic hair development. e. Multinomial logistic regression with the outcome being the 4 growth trajectory groups for genital development.



Figure 7.1: Latent Class Growth Analysis and Latent Growth Curve Modeling of Pubertal Development Trajectories

Fig. 1. Distinct growth trajectory classes with different latent intercepts and slopes are identified based on common patterns in Tanner score development from 9-16 years of age. Timeinvariant covariates such as income, ethnicity, and height and BMI at 5y and 8y can be used to predict group membership. The factor loadings on the intercept growth factor are all fixed at 1.0, and the factor loadings on the slope growth factor, or time scores, are set at 0 through 7 to allow for a linear growth trajectory and equal time intervals between observation time points.



Figure 7.2: Tanner Score for Pubic Hair Development, by Growth Trajectory Class and Age, Females



Figure 7.3: Tanner Score for Breast Development, by Growth Trajectory Class and Age, Females



Figure 7.4: Tanner Score for Pubic Hair Development, by Growth Trajectory Class and Age, Males



Figure 7.5: Tanner Score for Genital Development, by Growth Trajectory Class and Age, Males
Chapter 7 References

1. Phinney V, Jensen L. The relationship between early development and psychosexual behaviors in adolescent females. Adolescence;25:321.

2. Mendle J, Turkheimer E, Emery RE. Detrimental Psychological Outcomes Associated with Early Pubertal Timing in Adolescent Girls. Dev Rev 2007;27:151–171.

3. Glynn JR, Kayuni N, Floyd S, et al. Age at Menarche, Schooling, and Sexual Debut in Northern Malawi. PLoS ONE 2010;5:e15334.

4. Parent A, Teilmann G, Juul A, et al. The Timing of Normal Puberty and the Age Limits of Sexual Precocity: Variations around the World, Secular Trends, and Changes after Migration. Endocrine Reviews 2003;24:668–693.

5. Jones L, Griffiths P, Norris S, et al. Age at menarche and the evidence for a positive secular trend in urban South Africa. Am J Hum Biol 2009;21:130-132.

6. Herman-Giddens ME, Slora EJ, Wasserman RC, et al. Secondary Sexual Characteristics and Menses in Young Girls Seen in Office Practice: A Study from the Pediatric Research in Office Settings Network. Pediatrics 1997;99 505 -512.

7. Frank M. Biro LCG, Maida P. Galvez, Susan M. Pinney, Susan Teitelbaum, Gayle C. Windham, Julianna Deardorff, Robert L. Herrick, Paul A. Succop, Robert A. Hiatt, Lawrence H. Kushi and Mary S. Wolff. Onset of Breast Development in a Longitudinal Cohort. Pediatrics 2013;132:1–9.

8. Kaplowitz P. Pubertal development in girls: secular trends. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol 2006;18:487–491.

9. Euling SY, Herman-Giddens ME, Lee PA, et al. Examination of US Puberty-Timing Data from 1940 to 1994 for Secular Trends: Panel Findings. Pediatrics 2008;121.

10. deMuinck-Keizer-Schrama S, Mul D. Trends in pubertal development in Europe. Hum Reprod Update 2001;7:287-291.

11. Jones LL, Griffiths PL, Norris SA, et al. Is Puberty Starting Earlier in Urban South Africa? Am J Hum Biol 2009;21:395–397.

12. Karlberg J. Secular Trends in Pubertal Development. Horm Res 2002;57:19–30.

13. Morrison JA, Barton B, Biro FM, et al. Sexual maturation and obesity in 9- and 10year-old black and white girls: The National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Growth and Health Study. Journal of Pediatrics 1994;124:889-895.

14. George IS, Williams S, Silva P. Body size and the menarche: the Dunedin Study. J Adolesc Health 1994;15:573-576.

15. Koprowski C, Ross R, Mack W, et al. Diet, body size and menarche in a multiethnic cohort. Br J Cancer 1999;79:1907-1911.

16. Freedman DS, Khan LK, Serdula MK, et al. Relation of Age at Menarche to Race, Time Period, and Anthropometric Dimensions: The Bogalusa Heart Study. Pediatrics 2002;110:e43.

17. Anderson SE, Dallal GE, Must A. Relative Weight and Race Influence Average Age at Menarche: Results From Two Nationally Representative Surveys of US Girls Studied 25 Years Apart. Pediatrics 2003;111:844 -850

18. Wattigney W, Srinivasan S, Chen W, et al. Secular trend of earlier onset of menarche with increasing obesity in black and white girls: the Bogalusa Heart Study. Ethnicity and Disease 1999;9:181-189.

 Kaplowitz PB, Slora EJ, Wasserman RC, et al. Earlier Onset of Puberty in Girls: Relation to Increased Body Mass Index and Race. Pediatrics 2001;108:347-353.
 Kaplowitz PB. Link Between Body Fat and the Timing of Puberty. Pediatrics 2008;121 S208-S217.

21. Jasik C, Lustig R. Adolescent obesity and puberty: the "perfect storm". Ann N Y Acad Sci 2008;1135:265-279.

22. Foster TA, Voors AW, Webber LS, et al. Anthropometric and maturation measurements of children, ages 5 to 14 years, in a biracial community the Bogalusa Heart Study. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 1977;30:582-591.

23. Wang Y. Is Obesity Associated With Early Sexual Maturation? A Comparison of the Association in American Boys Versus Girls. Pediatrics 2002;110:903-910.

24. Vignolo M, Naselli A, DiBattista E, et al. Growth and development in simple obesity. Eur J Pediatr 1988;147:242-244.

25. Davison KK, Susman EJ, Birch LL. Percent Body Fat at Age 5 Predicts Earlier Pubertal Development Among Girls at Age 9. Pediatrics 2003;111:815–821.

26. Lee JM, Appugliese D, Kaciroti N, et al. Weight Status in Young Girls and the Onset of Puberty. Pediatrics 2007;199:e624.

27. Richter L, Norris S, Pettifor J, et al. Cohort Profile: Mandela's children: The 1990 birth to twenty study in South Africa. Int J Epidemiol 2007;36:504-511.

28. Cameron N. The Measurement of Human Growth. London, United Kingdom: Croom-Helm, 1984.

29. Dorn LD, Dahl RE, Woodward HR, et al. Defining the Boundaries of Early Adolescence: A User's Guide to Assessing Pubertal Status and Pubertal Timing in Research With Adolescents. Applied Developmental Science 2006;10:30–56.
30. Marshall WA, Tanner JM. Variations in Pattern of Pubertal Changes in Girls. Arch

Dis Childh 1969;44:291-303.

31. Marshall WA, Tanner JM. Variations in the Pattern of Pubertal Changes in Boys. Archives of Disease in Childhood 1970;45:13-23.

32. Norris SA, Richter LM. Usefulness and Reliability of Tanner Pubertal Self-Rating to Urban Black Adolescents in South Africa. Journal of Research on Adolescence 2005;15:609–624.

33. Jung T, Wickrama KAS. An Introduction to Latent Class Growth Analysis and Growth Mixture Modeling. Social and Personality Psychology Compass 2008;2:302–317.
34. WHO Multicentre Growth Reference Study Group. WHO Child Growth Standards based on length/height, weight and age. Acta Paediatr 2006;Suppl 450:76-85.

35. deOnis M, Onyango A, Borghi E, et al. Development of a WHO growth reference for school-aged children and adolescents. Bull World Health Organ 2007;85:661-668.
36. Ellis BJ, Garber J. Psychosocial Antecedents of Variation in Girls' Pubertal Timing:

Maternal Depression,

Stepfather Presence, and Marital and Family Stress. Child Development 2000;71:485-501.

37. Deardorff J, Fyfe M, Ekwaru JP, et al. Does neighborhood environment influence girls' pubertal onset? findings from a cohort study. BMC Pediatrics 2012;12:27.

38. Boutelle KN, Hannan P, Fulkerson JA, et al. Obesity as a prospective predictor of depression in adolescent females. Health Psychol 2010;29:293–298.

Chapter 8: Association of Pubertal Timing and Trajectory with Adult Height and Body Mass Index in South African Adolescents

Elizabeth A Lundeen, Shane A Norris, Reynaldo Martorell, Parminder S Suchdev, Neil K Mehta, Linda M Richter, Aryeh D Stein

Nutrition and Health Sciences Program, Laney Graduate School, Emory University, Atlanta, Georgia, USA (EAL, RM, PSS, ADS); MRC Developmental Pathways for Health Research Unit, University of Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa (EAL, SAN, ADS, LMR); DST-NRF Centre of Excellence of Human Development, Universities of the Witwatersrand and KwaZulu-Natal and the Human Sciences Research Council, Durban, South Africa (LMR); Rollins School of Public Health, Hubert Department of Global Health, Emory University, Atlanta, Georgia, USA (RM, PSS, NKM, ADS)

Abbreviations used: body mass index (BMI); Tanner Sexual Maturation Scale (SMS); Latent Class Growth Analysis (LCGA); Relative risk ratio (RRR); Odds ratio (OR)

Abstract

Background/Objective: Early puberty has been linked to greater risk of overweight and obesity in adulthood, particularly among females. However, childhood body mass index may confound this relationship. Better understanding the relationship between pubertal timing and tempo and adult anthropometric outcomes is important, given global trends toward earlier onset of puberty. We explored the relationship between adult height and body mass index and measures of pubertal development in a South African birth cohort.

Methods: We analyzed data from 928 males and 990 females participating in the Birthto-Twenty cohort in Soweto, South Africa. Body mass index (BMI) at young adulthood (17-18y) was calculated as weight (kg) divided by height squared (m²). World Health Organization cut-off points for BMI were used to classify adults as normal or underweight (BMI<25.0; abbrv. NU), overweight but not obese (BMI 25.0-29.9; ONO), obese (BMI≥30.0; OB), and overweight or obese (BMI≥25.0; OO). Females self-reported age at menarche. The development of genitals, breasts, and pubic hair was recorded from ages 9y to 16y using the five stages of the Tanner Sexual Maturation Scale (SMS). We used Latent Class Growth Analysis to identify trajectory classes (puberty tempo) for the development of genitals, breasts, and pubic hair, and characterized children as earlier, medium, or later developers (puberty timing) based on the median Tanner SMS score at 12y. Linear, logistic, and multinomial logistic regression were used to determine whether puberty timing and tempo were associated with adult height and BMI. In separate models, we controlled for height and BMI at 8y. **Results:** When childhood BMI was not controlled for, the timing and tempo of pubertal development among girls was significantly associated with adult risk of OO. Risk of being OO in adulthood was increased among girls in the fastest class for the tempo of pubic hair (odds ratio (OR)=2.1; p<0.01) and breast (OR=6.1; p<0.001) development. Girls at a higher stage of pubic hair development at 12y had an increased risk of OB (relative risk ratio (RRR)=2.2; p=0.02), while those at a lower stage of breast development had a decreased risk of OO (OR=0.5; p<0.01). Each additional year in the age at menarche significantly decreased the risk of OO (OR=0.8; p<0.001). However, these relationships mostly disappeared when childhood BMI was included as a confounder in the models. Controlling for height at 8y, the timing and tempo of puberty in girls were significantly associated with adult height. Shorter adult stature was found in girls with earlier breast development at 12y (-2.2 cm; p<0.001), and among girls with the fastest tempo for breast development (-2.2 cm; p<0.01) and pubic hair development (-1.8 cm; p < 0.01). Each additional year in the age at menarche was associated with a 1.0 cm increase in adult height (p < 0.001). Among males, controlling for BMI at 8y, the risk of being overweight or obese at adulthood was significantly increased among those in the fastest class for the tempo of pubic hair development (OR=3.7; p=0.04); the timing and tempo of male genital development had no association. Males in the fastest class for tempo of genital development were significantly shorter at adulthood (-2.3 cm; p=0.04), but the tempo for pubic hair development was not associated with adult height. Timing of male pubertal development, as determined by pubic hair and genital stage at 12y, was unrelated to adult height.

Conclusion: When childhood body mass index is controlled for, the timing and tempo of breast and pubic hair development in girls are not associated with adult risk of overweight or obesity. Controlling for childhood height, girls with earlier pubertal development and faster pubertal development have a reduced adult height. Males with faster pubic hair development have an increased risk of adult overweight or obesity, and those with faster genital development are shorter at adulthood.

Introduction

Puberty is a period of rapid changes in stature and body composition. During puberty, both males and females experience acceleration in linear growth velocity (1). Puberty leads to sexual dimorphism, with males gaining greater amounts of muscle and skeletal mass, and females acquiring more fat mass (1). Research has shown that the timing of pubertal onset and associated physical changes may have implications for adult body composition.

Early menarche has been linked to shorter adult stature (2-5). Linear growth slows considerably after puberty, and girls who experience earlier menarche may lose out on several years of rapid pre-pubertal growth, resulting in a reduced adult height (3). Additionally, women who experience menarche at an earlier age have been found to have a greater adult body mass index (BMI) and significantly increased risk of obesity in adulthood (3-9).

Given rising obesity prevalence globally (10), the potential influence of puberty has garnered much attention. However, few studies linking early puberty to higher adult BMI have been able to address the potential causal nature of this relationship, and the nature of this relationship is the subject of debate (8). Research has also shown there is an association between higher BMI in childhood or adolescence and earlier onset of puberty among girls (11-19). Childhood BMI tends to track into adulthood (20-22), and studies have attempted to determine whether the inverse association between age at menarche and adult body mass index is due to the influence of childhood BMI (8, 15, 23). One study found that the relationship between age at menarche and adult BMI was not explained by childhood BMI (8), while two other studies found that this relationship was strongly attenuated by childhood BMI (9, 23).

It is important to better understand the relationship between pubertal development and adult anthropometric outcomes, given secular trends in the reduction of menarcheal age (24, 25), and trends toward earlier development of breasts and pubic hair among girls (18, 26-29). Some data also suggest boys are experiencing earlier genital and pubic hair development (28-30). These trends have occurred concurrently with a global rise in overweight and obesity in adults (10), giving rise to speculation that the two could be linked (8).

The relationship between pubertal development and adult anthropometric outcomes has been primarily studied among girls, and has focused on the timing of pubertal onset, defined narrowly as age at menarche. This relationship has been less studied among boys, and much less is known about this relationship in the context of other indicators of puberty, such as the development of secondary sexual characteristics like breasts, genitals, and pubic hair. Additionally, few studies have explored the association between the tempo or overall trajectory of pubertal development and adult anthropometric outcomes, and few studies have had the longitudinal data necessary to account for the role of childhood anthropometric measures. We address these gaps by using longitudinal data from a South African cohort of males and females to explore the relationship between adult anthropometric outcomes – height and body mass index – and several indicators of pubertal development, including age at menarche and the timing and tempo of the development of secondary sexual characteristics.

Methods

We analyzed data from the Birth-to-Twenty study, a birth cohort initiated in 1990 in Soweto, an urban township in South Africa. Detailed information on this cohort has been published elsewhere (31). The cohort enrolled 3273 children who were born during a sixweek period in early 1990. Participants were predominantly black, from families with a low socioeconomic status. The prospective study was designed to track the growth, health, well-being and educational achievement of the children. Throughout the study, participants or their caregivers provided written informed consent and ethical approval was obtained from the University of the Witwatersrand Committee for Research on Human Subjects (approval ID #M010556).

Weight at birth and weight and length/height at subsequent rounds were measured using standard procedures (32). At birth and in the months immediately following birth, data on demographic and socioeconomic variables, such as the child's ethnicity and caretaker monthly income (in Rands), were collected. At ages 9 through 16 years, pubertal development was assessed with the Tanner Sexual Maturation Scale (SMS), the most commonly used standard for evaluating pubertal stage in both clinical and research

settings (33). The Tanner SMS consists of drawings of five progressive stages in the development of secondary sexual characteristics—breasts in females, genitals in males, and pubic hair in both genders (34, 35). The drawings are accompanied by written descriptions of each stage. The stages range from 1 (pre-pubertal) to 5 (post-pubertal), with stage 2 representing the onset of puberty. From ages 9-11 years, a trained health care professional administered the Tanner SMS. Participants self-rated their pubertal development using Tanner SMS from ages 12-16 years, after self-assessment using the Tanner SMS was validated against expert Tanner ratings in a comparable group of South African adolescents (36). Girls self-reported their age at menarche.

Data Management

Participants were included in the analysis if they had a least one Tanner SMS measurement between 9-16 years, as well as valid height and weight measurements at young adulthood (17-18 years of age). This resulted in an analytical sample of 1,918 participants. (Analyses that controlled for childhood measures reduced the sample size to 1,085). Using weight and height measurements at 5 years, 8 years, and adulthood, body mass index (BMI) values were calculated as weight (kg) divided by height squared (m²). At adulthood, participants with a BMI<25.0 were classified as normal or underweight (hereafter abbreviated as NU), those with a BMI 25.0-29.9 were overweight but not obese (ONO), and those with BMI≥30.0 were classified as obese (OB) (37-39). The analyses with males were run with one category for overweight or obese (OO) (BMI≥25.0), as overweight and obesity were less prevalent among males, so the categories were

combined to enhance sample size. Caretaker monthly income was categorized into quintiles.

We used Mplus to perform Latent Class Growth Analysis (LCGA) in order to group participants into distinct classes based on a common developmental trajectory for the Tanner SMS indicators of pubertal status. We conducted separate pubertal development trajectory analyses for females (breast and pubic hair development), and for males (genital and pubic hair development). Details of this analysis were described in **Chapter 7**. Among females, LCGA resulted in 3 trajectory classes for the development of pubic hair and 4 classes for breast development. Among males, 3 trajectory classes were identified for the development of pubic hair and 4 classes for genital development. The classes were numbered 1-3 and 1-4, with 1 representing the slowest tempo of progression through the Tanner stages and the lowest mean Tanner score at 16 years; higher classes have progressively faster tempos for pubertal development and higher mean Tanner scores at 16 years.

Using an extension of the Wilcoxon rank-sum test, we tested for linear trend to determine if mean adult height and BMI systematically increase or decrease across classes. We used the chi-square test to determine differences between classes in the proportion of those who were NU, ONO, and OB. For females, we used multinomial logistic regression to determine the association between the Tanner pubertal trajectory classes and the three adult BMI categories: NU, ONO, and OB. Logistic regression was used to determine the association between the pubertal trajectory classes and BMI status as a dichotomous outcome: NU vs. OO. For males, this relationship was only modeled as a dichotomous outcome. Relative risk ratios (RRR) are presented for the multinomial logistic regression models and odds ratios are presented for the logistic regression models. The RRRs produced by multinomial logistic regression are nearly identical to odds ratios generated in logistic regression. The relationship between adult height and pubertal trajectory classes was modeled using linear regression, with corresponding β coefficients presented. For females, we also ran these models separately to explore the relationship between age at menarche and adult height and BMI status. The RRRs, ORs, and β s are presented as unadjusted estimates, as well as adjusted for ethnicity and quintiles of caretaker monthly income. It is known that pubertal development is influenced by ethnicity (12, 14, 15, 19, 26) and socioeconomic status (40, 41). In the models predicting BMI category, we controlled for adult height to separate the relationship between pubertal development and BMI from its relationship with height. Additionally, we present separately the results of models that control for these covariates, as well as the effect of childhood anthropometric measures. In models predicting adult BMI status, we controlled for BMI at 8 years of age, and in models predicting adult height, we controlled for height at 8 years.

The LCGA analysis illustrates the overall trajectory and tempo for pubertal development in this population. However, in order to make more direct comparisons with the existing literature, we conducted a separate analysis of the timing of pubertal development. We created an indicator to represent the timing of pubertal development, by comparing the children's Tanner scores at 12 years of age to that of their peers in the cohort. Children who were at the median score (which was also the modal score) for Tanner pubic hair, breast, and genital development at 12y, were categorized as being at a medium level of development, and therefore became the reference category. Those with a lower score were considered later developers, and those with a higher score were considered earlier developers. Details of the creation of this indicator were described in **Chapter 7**. Using the three categories of pubertal development at 12y, we repeated the regression analyses to determine whether being at an earlier stage of development at 12 years was associated with adult height and BMI status.

Lastly, to better understand whether puberty is a mediator on the pathway between childhood and adult anthropometric measures, we performed a mediation analysis. We regressed adult BMI on child BMI and presented this unadjusted coefficient. We then adjusted this estimate by running separate models that controlled for each of our measures of the timing and tempo of puberty. An attenuation of the relationship between adult and childhood BMI when puberty is included in the model would indicate that puberty may be a mediator on this pathway. We performed the same mediation analysis with adult and childhood height. This method was used previously in a study that sought to elucidate these pathways (8).

We used Mplus 7.3 (Muthén & Muthén, Los Angeles, California) to perform the Latent Class Growth Analysis, and STATA 13.0 (StataCorp, College Station, Texas) for all other analyses.

Results

The study sample was 52% female (n=990) and 48% male (n=928) (**Table 8.1**). The large majority (85%) of participants were Black, with other represented groups including white (3%), Indian (1%) and coloured or mixed-ancestral (11%) children. Those who were not included in the analysis were similar with respect to ethnicity, caretaker income, and height and BMI at adulthood. Mean adult height was 159.6 cm among females and 171.2 cm among males, and mean BMI was 23.1 kg/m² among females and 20.6 kg/m² among males. Seventy-two percent of females were NU, while 19% were ONO, and 9% were OB at adulthood. Among males, 92% were NU, with 6% ONO and 3% OB at adulthood. The average age of menarche was 12.7 years.

Among females, there was no trend toward increasing or decreasing mean adult height across classes of pubic hair development (p=0.8); there was, however, a significant trend across classes of breast development, as classes with a slower tempo for breast development had a higher mean adult height (p=0.04) (**Table 8.2**). Mean adult BMI increased across pubic hair trajectory classes 1-3, meaning classes with a faster tempo for pubic hair development had a higher adult BMI (p<0.001). The same was true across classes of breast development (p<0.001). The faster pubertal tempo classes also had greater proportions of females who were ONO or OB (p<0.001). There was no trend toward increasing or decreasing mean adult height across stages of pubic hair (p=0.9) or breast (p=0.08) development at 12 years. However, mean adult BMI increased as stage of pubic hair (p<0.01) and breast (p<0.001) development increased at 12 years.

Among males, mean adult height increased across pubic hair development classes 1-3 (p<0.001), and those in classes 3 and 4 for genital development were taller as adults (p<0.001) (**Table 8.3**). Mean adult BMI also increased across classes of male pubic hair (p<0.001), and genital development (p=<0.001). The OO status was more prevalent in males in the faster tempo classes for pubic hair development (p<0.001), but not genital development (p=0.5). There was no trend toward increasing or decreasing mean adult height across stages of pubic hair (p=0.06) or genital (p=0.1) development at 12 years. However, mean adult BMI increased as stage of pubic hair (p<0.001) and genital (p=0.02) development increased at 12 years.

For females, when the regression models were run without BMI at 8y, several significant associations were found between the timing and tempo of puberty and adult BMI. Females in the fastest class for the tempo of pubic hair development had a significantly increased odds ratio (OR) for being OO vs. NU (**Table 8.4**). The same was true for being in the two fastest classes for breast development. When the risk of overweight and obesity were modeled separately, being in a faster class for pubic hair development significantly increased the relative risk ratio (RRR) for being OB vs. NU, but was not associated with the risk of being ONO vs. NU. Being in the two fastest classes for breast development at 12 years had an increased RRR for being OB, while girls who were at a lower stage of breast development had a significantly decreased risk for being ONO and OB, and decreased odds of being OO. As age at menarche increased, the RRR for being ONO and OB decreased, as did the odds ratio for being OO. However, when BMI at 8y was included in the model, only one significant association remained. Controlling for BMI at 8y, girls in the fastest class for the tempo of breast development had a significantly increased OR for being OO vs. NU and increased RRR for being ONO vs. NU.

Among males, the genital development classes and stage of genital development at 12 years were not associated with the odds of being OO vs. NU (**Table 8.5**). Being at a higher stage of pubic hair development at 12 years and being in the fastest class for the tempo of pubic hair development significantly increased the odds ratio for being OO vs. NU. However, when BMI at 8y was included in the model, only the trajectory class for pubic hair development (3 vs. 1) remained significant (OR=3.7; p=0.04).

Among girls, the relationship between the timing and tempo of puberty and adult height was strengthened when height at 8 years was included in the model. Controlling for height at 8 years, girls in the fastest class for tempo of pubic hair development and in the two fastest classes for breast development had significantly decreased adult height (**Table 8.6**). Being at a higher stage of breast development at 12 years was associated with a significant decrease in adult height, and being at a lower stage of pubic hair or breast development at 12 years was associated with an increase in adult height. For each additional year in the age at menarche, adult height increased by 1.00 cm (p< 0.001).

When height at 8 years was included in the regression, males in the fastest class for the tempo of genital development were significantly shorter at adulthood, whereas the classes

for pubic hair development were not associated with adult height (**Table 8.7**). Pubic hair and genital stage at 12 years were unrelated to adult height among males.

Among females, we regressed adult BMI on BMI at 5 years and 8 years and found β coefficients of 1.77 (p<0.001) and 1.48 (p<0.001), respectively (**Table 8.8**). In general, these associations were not attenuated when we controlled for age at menarche and indicators of the timing and tempo of development of secondary sexual characteristics. However, the coefficients were slightly attenuated to 1.69 (p<0.001) and 1.42 (p<0.001), respectively, when we controlled for breast development trajectory classes. The relationship between adult BMI and childhood BMI was not attenuated in males when we controlled for pubertal development. In both genders, the relationship between adult height was not attenuated by controlling for pubertal development.

Discussion

In a South African cohort of males and females, we explored the relationship between adult height and body mass index at 17-18 years and several indicators of pubertal development, including age at menarche and the timing and tempo of the development of secondary sexual characteristics. In analyses that did not control for body mass index at 8 years, we found that both the timing and tempo of pubertal development in girls were associated with adult risk of overweight or obesity. However, when we controlled for BMI at 8 years, we found that only one significant association remained. Girls in the fastest class for the tempo of breast development had increased odds of being overweight or obese in early adulthood. Controlling for height at 8 years, the timing and tempo of pubertal development in girls were both significantly associated with adult height. Girls in the faster classes for tempo of pubic hair and breast development had significantly decreased adult height. Additionally, shorter adult stature was associated with being at a higher stage of breast development at 12 years, whereas taller adult stature was associated with being at a lower stage of pubic hair or breast development at 12 years. There was a strong, positive association between the age at menarche and adult height.

The relationship between the timing and tempo of puberty and adult BMI was not as strong among males, and controlling for childhood BMI had less of an impact on this relationship, as compared to females. After controlling for BMI at 8 years, we found that males in the fastest class for the tempo of pubic hair development had significantly increased odds of being overweight or obese at adulthood, whereas the timing and tempo of male genital development were not associated with overweight or obesity risk. Males with a faster tempo for genital development were significantly shorter at adulthood, but the tempo for pubic hair development was not associated with adult height. The timing of male pubertal development, as determined by pubic hair and genital stage at 12 years, was unrelated to adult height.

Our results are generally consistent with the literature on pubertal development and adult anthropometric outcomes. However, this relationship has primarily been studied among females, with a focus on the timing of puberty, defined as age at menarche. Several

151

studies have shown that early menarche is associated with shorter adult stature (2-4, 42). The pace of linear growth declines significantly after puberty, and girls who experience earlier menarche may miss out on several years of rapid pre-pubertal growth, resulting in a reduced adult height (3). Therefore, later onset of puberty may give girls additional time to accumulate increases in stature.

Additionally, several studies have found that women who experience menarche at an earlier age have a greater adult body mass index and significantly increased risk of obesity in adulthood (3, 4, 6-9, 23, 42-44). It has been hypothesized that this could be due to an earlier shift toward positive energy balance among early-maturing girls, who have met their growth needs (6). This relationship may also be explained by the fact that girls with early menarche have higher levels of circulating estrogen, a hormone that promotes the accumulation of body fat (4). The shorter adult stature in those with early puberty could also play a role in this association, since body mass index is a ratio of weight for height.

However, the potential causal nature of this relationship is not clear. We also know from numerous studies that there is an association between higher BMI in childhood or adolescence and earlier onset of puberty among girls (11-19). Childhood BMI tends to track into adulthood (20-22), and a few studies have attempted to determine whether the inverse association between age at menarche and adult body mass index is due to the influence of childhood BMI (8, 15, 23). In one study, researchers controlled for childhood BMI, and found that the relationship between age at menarche and adult BMI

was not confounded by childhood BMI (8). However, two other studies, one of which also adjusted for childhood BMI as a confounder (9), found that this relationship was strongly influenced by childhood BMI (9, 23). Freedman et al concluded that the importance of early menarche in adult obesity has been overestimated, based on their finding that 60-75% of the effect of menarcheal age on adult obesity could be attributed to the influence of childhood obesity on both age at menarche and adult obesity (9). Similar to two of these studies, among girls, we found an attenuation of relationship between the timing and tempo of puberty and risk of overweight or obesity in adulthood when we controlled for childhood BMI.

Controlling for childhood BMI as a possible confounder is a first step in better understanding the nature of these relationships. We also performed a mediation analysis to determine whether puberty is a mediator on the causal pathway between anthropometric measures at childhood and adulthood. We found a strong relationship between childhood anthropometric measures (height and BMI) and adult anthropometric measures (height and BMI), and we found that in general, puberty did not mediate this relationship. Future research could use more sophisticated methods, such as path analysis, to further elucidate these relationships and determine whether puberty is a mediator on the pathway between child BMI and adult BMI, or whether childhood BMI is a confounder of the relationship between puberty and adult BMI.

Limitations

A limitation of this study is that the Tanner SMS ratings were self-reported by the adolescents from ages 12-16y. The gold standard for pubertal staging is typically physical examination by a trained clinician using Tanner criteria (33). However, self-assessment using the Tanner SMS has been validated in many populations, including a highly comparable population of South African adolescents (36). Therefore, self-rating of pubertal stage can be considered reasonably valid in this study. Also, while measurement error associated with self-assessment could impact conclusions drawn about the level of pubertal development at any one cross-section within the study, the consistent use of self-rating from 12-16y means that interpretation of trends across time would be unlikely to be biased, as measurement error is equally likely at all ages.

The association we found between BMI status and breast development in females should be interpreted with caution, as it has been suggested that using the Tanner SMS to characterize breast development, in the absence of physical examination by a clinician, may result in measurement error for overweight or obese girls (33). The Tanner SMS is most accurately used to describe female breast development when a trained clinician uses palpation to distinguish between actual breast tissue and adipose tissue. Overweight or obese females using Tanner self-assessment may be prone to overestimate their level of breast development, since adipose tissue can be easily mistaken for breast tissue (33). We used body mass index as a measure of body fat, however this commonly-used proxy for adiposity does not allow for differentiation between the relative contribution of fat mass and fat free mass. Therefore, there may be differences in the extent to which BMI represents "fatness" in males vs. females. Additionally, overweight and obesity were relatively rare outcomes in our population of South African males, and some of the models for this outcome had small sample sizes.

Better understanding the nature of the relationship between pubertal development and adult anthropometric outcomes is important, given secular trends showing a reduction in menarcheal age (24, 25), earlier development of breasts and pubic hair among girls (18, 26-29), and earlier genital and pubic hair development in boys (28-30). We found that earlier pubertal development and faster pubertal development among girls is associated with reduced adult height, even when height at 8 years is controlled for in the analysis. However, we found that when childhood BMI is included as a confounder in the model, previously observed relationships between the timing and tempo of puberty and adult risk of overweight and obesity disappeared. We also found a strong relationship between childhood anthropometric measures (height and BMI) and adult anthropometric measures (height and BMI), which was not attenuated (or mediated) by pubertal development indicators. Our results confirm other findings that suggest child BMI tracks to adulthood (20-22). From these findings, and those presented in **Chapter 7**, it seems likely that childhood BMI is associated with earlier puberty, and tracks to adulthood, but early puberty is not an independent cause of adult overweight and obesity risk.

There is an association between the timing and tempo of pubertal development and adult risk of overweight and obesity, particularly among females. However, our results suggest that this relationship is mostly accounted for by the influence of childhood BMI. Therefore, pubertal staging could be a useful screening tool in clinical practice, to assess risk of overweight and obesity in young adulthood and beyond. However, prevention of childhood overweight and obesity is important in reducing adult risk for these outcomes, given strong tracking throughout life. Adult obesity confers a greatly increased risk of chronic diseases such as diabetes and cardiovascular disease (45), and understanding these risk factors for adult obesity is important in prevention efforts.

Conclusion

When childhood body mass index is controlled for, the timing and tempo of breast and pubic hair development in girls are not associated with adult risk of overweight or obesity. Controlling for childhood height, girls with earlier pubertal development and faster pubertal development have a reduced adult height. Males with faster pubic hair development have an increased risk of adult overweight or obesity, and those with faster genital development are shorter at adulthood.

Twenty		
	Females	Males
	(n=990)	(n=928)
Ethnicity, %	· · · · ·	· · · · · · · · ·
Black	84.7	85.0
White	2.7	2.9
Coloured	11.4	10.7
Indian	1.2	1.4
Caretaker monthly income		
1 (0, 2,400 Panda)	24.2	22.6
1 (0 - 2,400 Kallds) 2 (2 401 - 7 800 Panda)	24.2	22.0
2(2,401 - 7,000 Rands)	29.9	33.3 13.4
4(10.801 - 10.800 Rands)	21.1	13.4
4(10,001 - 19,200 Rands)	21.1	21.2
5 (19,201 - 48,000 Rands)	8.5	9.3
Adult Height (cm), mean \pm SD	159.6 ± 6.2	171.2 ± 6.7
Adult BMI (kg/m ²), mean \pm SD	23.1 ± 4.7	20.6 ± 3.5
Adult BMI status. %		
Normal or underweight	72.2	91.5
Overweight	19.1	5.9
Obese	87	2.6
	0.7	2.0
Age at menarche (years), mean \pm SD	12.7 ± 1.2	-

 Table 8.1: Selected Characteristics of the Study Population, Birth-to-Twenty

a 545 females and 514 males had information on caretaker monthly income. In analyses using this variable, a sixth category for missing is included to preserve the sample size. In 1990, the South African Rand (ZAR) to U.S. Dollar (USD) conversion rate was 0.38956. Therefore, the ranges of ZAR in this table correspond to the following USD:

0 - 2,400 ZAR = 0 - 934.94 USD

2,401 - 7,800 ZAR = 935.33 - 3,038.57 USD 7,801 - 10,800 ZAR = 3,038.96 - 4,207.25 USD 10,801 - 19,200 ZAR = 4,207.64 - 7,479.55 USD

19,201 - 48,000 ZAR = 7,479.94 - 18,698.9 USD

0		Height (cm)	BMI (kg/m ²)	Normal Weight	Overweight	Obese
	%			(BMI < 25.0)	(BMI 25.0 - 29.9)	$(BMI \ge 30.0)$
		mean \pm SD	mean \pm SD	%	%	%
Trajectory Classes						
Pubic Hair						
Class 1	32.8	159.4 ± 6.1	22.5 ± 4.6	75.7	19.1	5.2
Class 2	54.7	159.7 ± 6.3	23.1 ± 4.7	72.8	18.5	8.7
Class 3	12.5	159.8 ± 6.3	24.7 ± 4.9	60.5	21.8	17.7
P-value		0.823 ^a	<0.001ª	0.001 ^b		
Breast						
Class 1	23.3	160.2 ± 6.1	21.7 ± 4.4	84.4	11.3	4.3
Class 2	25.5	160.1 ± 6.6	22.3 ± 3.6	78.3	18.2	3.6
Class 3	36.6	158.9 ± 6.0	23.5 ± 5.1	70.0	19.8	10.2
Class 4	14.5	159.6 ± 6.1	25.8 ± 4.7	47.9	31.3	20.8
P-value		0.035 ^a	<0.001 ^a	<0.001 ^b		
Pubertal Stage at 12y						
Pubic Hair ^c						
Stage 4 or 5	19.5	159.6 ± 6.4	24.4 ± 5.1	65.7	18.3	16.1
Stage 3	38.2	159.7 ± 6.0	23.2 ± 4.2	69.4	23.1	7.5
Stage 1 or 2	42.3	159.8 ± 6.2	23.0 ± 5.0	73.4	18.9	7.7
P-value		0.977 ^a	0.002^{a}	0.027 ^b		
Breast ^d						
Stage 4 or 5	23.1	158.7 ± 6.3	24.3 ± 5.0	63.2	22.7	14.1
Stage 3	40.2	160.1 ± 6.1	23.8 ± 5.0	66.9	22.9	10.2
Stage 1 or 2	36.7	160.0 ± 6.1	22.2 ± 4.1	79.2	15.8	5.0
P-value		0.084 ^a	<0.001ª	0.001 ^b		

Table 8.2: Mean Height, Mean BMI, and Percentage Overweight and Obese at Adulthood by Pubertal Growth Trajectory Classes and Tanner Stage at 12 Years, Females (n=990)

a. Trend test to determine if mean adult height and BMI systematically increase or decrease across classes or groups. b. Chi-square test to determine whether there was a significant difference among pubertal development groups in the proportion of participants who were normal weight, overweight, and obese. c. Tanner stage for pubic hair development at 12 years: earlier (stage 4 or 5), medium (stage 3), and later (stage 1 or 2) development relative to peers. d. Tanner stage for breast development at 12 years: earlier (stage 4 or 5), medium (stage 3), and later (stage 1 or 2) development relative to peers.

Chapter and Tanner Singe a		Height (cm)	BMI (kg/m^2)	Normal Weight	Overweight/Obese ^a
	%	mean \pm SD	mean \pm SD	(BMI < 25.0), %	$(BMI \ge 25.0), \%$
Trajectory Classes					· · ·
Pubic Hair					
Class 1	28.2	169.7 ± 6.3	20.0 ± 3.2	96.2	3.8
Class 2	58.4	171.7 ± 6.5	20.6 ± 3.6	91.3	8.7
Class 3	13.4	172.8 ± 7.6	22.1 ± 3.5	82.3	17.7
P-value		<0.001 ^b	<0.001 ^b	<0.001°	
Genital					
Class 1	5.7	170.3 ± 6.1	19.9 ± 3.6	92.5	7.6
Class 2	36.3	169.9 ± 6.5	20.5 ± 3.4	93.2	6.8
Class 3	50.2	172.1 ± 6.5	20.7 ± 3.7	90.6	9.4
Class 4	7.8	172.7 ± 7.8	21.5 ± 2.6	88.9	11.1
P-value		$< 0.001^{b}$	<0.001 ^b	0.453°	
Pubertal Stage at 12y					
Pubic Hair ^d					
Stage 3, 4, or 5	31.2	171.7 ± 7.0	21.4 ± 4.0	86.6	13.4
Stage 2	44.7	171.0 ± 6.3	20.5 ± 3.4	93.8	6.2
Stage 1	24.2	170.4 ± 6.6	19.9 ± 2.8	94.9	5.1
P-value		0.056 ^b	<0.001 ^b	0.005°	
Genital ^e					
Stage 3, 4, or 5	32.4	171.4 ± 6.9	21.2 ± 4.2	89.4	10.6
Stage 2	45.0	171.2 ± 6.3	20.4 ± 3.0	93.4	6.6
Stage 1	22.7	170.2 ± 6.7	20.4 ± 3.3	91.8	8.2
P-value		0.138 ^b	0.016 ^b	0.278 ^c	

Table 8.3: Mean Height, Mean BMI, and Percentage Overweight or Obese at Adulthood by Pubertal Growth Trajectory Classes and Tanner Stage at 12 Years, Males (n=928)

a. There were an insufficient number of males who were overweight and obese to model the risk of these outcomes separately. Therefore, overweight and obese are combined into one category. b. Trend test to determine if mean adult height and BMI systematically increase or decrease across classes or groups. c. Chi-square test to determine whether there was a significant difference among pubertal development groups in the proportion of participants who were normal weight and overweight or obese. d. Tanner stage for pubic hair development at 12 years: earlier (stage 3, 4, or 5), medium (stage 2), and later (stage 1) development relative to peers. e. Tanner stage for genital development at 12 years: earlier (stage 3, 4, or 5), medium (stage 2), and later (stage 1) development relative to peers.

	ONO (BMI 25.0 - 29.9) vs. NU (BMI<25.0) ^a OB (BMI			≥30.0) vs. NU (B	OO (BMI≥	OO (BMI≥25.0) vs. NU (BMI<25.0) ^b			
	Unadjusted	Adjusted ^c	Adjusted ^d	Unadjusted	Adjusted ^c	Adjusted ^d	Unadjusted	Adjusted ^c	Adjusted ^d
	RRR	RRR	RRR	RRR	RRR	RRR	OR	OR	OR
	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Trajectory Classes			· · ·	· · ·		· · · ·			
Pubic hair ^e									
Class 3 vs. 1	1.43	1.43	0.87	4.24	4.27	0.88	2.03	2.05	0.84
	(0.85, 2.40)	(0.84, 2.44)	(0.39, 1.93)	(2.14, 8.41)	(2.13, 8.55)	(0.20, 3.89)	(1.31, 3.16)	(1.31, 3.22)	(0.39, 1.82)
Class 2 vs. 1	1.01	1.03	0.94	1.73	1.73	1.94	1.16	1.18	1.02
	(0.71, 1.44)	(0.72, 1.47)	(0.57, 1.55)	(0.97, 3.07)	(0.97, 3.10)	(0.66, 5.68)	(0.85, 1.59)	(0.85, 1.63)	(0.62, 1.65)
Breast ^f									
Class 4 vs. 1	4.89	5.09	3.91	8.48	8.44	2.77	5.89	6.05	3.74
	(2.81, 8.52)	(2.90, 8.94)	(1.69, 9.06)	(3.94, 18.25)	(3.89, 18.30)	(0.64, 12.09)	(3.63, 9.54)	(3.70, 9.87)	(1.71, 8.20)
Class 3 vs. 1	2.13	2.03	1.67	2.84	2.75	0.81	2.32	2.22	1.51
	(1.31, 3.46)	(1.24, 3.33)	(0.81, 3.42)	(1.38, 5.85)	(1.32, 5.71)	(0.19, 3.39)	(1.53, 3.54)	(1.45, 3.41)	(0.77, 2.95)
Class 2 vs. 1	1.74	1.74	1.72	0.89	0.88	0.51	1.50	1.49	1.51
	(1.04, 2.93)	(1.03, 2.95)	(0.82, 3.62)	(0.35, 2.23)	(0.35, 2.23)	(0.10, 2.66)	(0.95, 2.39)	(0.93, 2.39)	(0.75, 3.03)
Pubertal Stage at 12y									
Pubic hair ^g									
Stage 4 or 5 vs. 3	0.83	0.85	0.60	2.27	2.23	1.67	1.18	1.19	0.68
	(0.49, 1.41)	(0.50, 1.44)	(0.28, 1.26)	(1.18, 4.38)	(1.15, 4.33)	(0.41, 6.89)	(0.76, 1.84)	(0.77, 1.86)	(0.34, 1.38)
Stage 1 or 2 vs. 3	0.77	0.80	0.71	0.98	0.98	0.96	0.82	0.84	0.74
	(0.51, 1.16)	(0.53, 1.21)	(0.40, 1.25)	(0.52, 1.84)	(0.52, 1.85)	(0.26, 3.60)	(0.57, 1.18)	(0.58, 1.21)	(0.42, 1.29)
Missing vs. stage 3	0.62	0.75	0.42	0.88	0.96	1.41	0.69	0.80	0.52
	(0.41, 0.96)	(0.48, 1.17)	(0.20, 0.85)	(0.46, 1.68)	(0.49, 1.88)	(0.38, 5.22)	(0.47, 1.00)	(0.54, 1.19)	(0.27, 1.00)
Breast ^h									
Stage 4 or 5 vs. 3	1.05	1.02	1.27	1.46	1.40	1.12	1.18	1.14	1.25
5	(0.66, 1.68)	(0.63, 1.63)	(0.66, 2.45)	(0.80, 2.66)	(0.77, 2.57)	(0.29, 4.30)	(0.79, 1.76)	(0.76, 1.71)	(0.66, 2.36)
Stage 1 or 2 vs. 3	0.58	0.59	0.84	0.42	0.40	0.74	0.53	0.53	0.84
5	(0.38, 0.91)	(0.38, 0.92)	(0.46, 1.53)	(0.21, 0.82)	(0.20, 0.80)	(0.21, 2.69)	(0.36, 0.79)	(0.36, 0.78)	(0.47, 1.51)
Missing vs. stage 3	0.62	0.72	0.54	0.63	0.67	1.19	0.62	0.71	0.65
5 6	(0.40, 0.94)	(0.46, 1.13)	(0.27, 1.11)	(0.35, 1.14)	(0.36, 1.26)	(0.35, 4.08)	(0.43, 0.90)	(0.48, 1.04)	(0.34, 1.25)
Menarche age, years	0.83	0.84	0.91	0.62	0.62	0.87	0.76	0.77	0.91
	(0.72, 0.95)	(0.74, 0.97)	(0.75, 1.11)	(0.51, 0.75)	(0.51, 0.75)	(0.59, 1.29)	(0.67, 0.85)	(0.68, 0.86)	(0.75, 1.10)

Table 8.4: Prediction of Adult Body Mass Index Categories by Pubertal Development Trajectory Group and Tanner Stage at 12 Years, Females (n=990)

a. Multinomial logistic regression comparing the relative risk of overweight but not obese (ONO; BMI 25.0 - 29.9) vs. normal or underweight (NU; BMI \leq 25.0), and obese (OB; BMI \geq 30.0) vs. normal or underweight (NU; BMI \leq 25.0). RRR= relative risk ratio. b. Logistic regression comparing the odds of overweight or obese (OO; BMI \geq 25.0) vs. normal or underweight (NU; BMI \leq 25.0). RRR= relative risk ratio. b. Logistic regression comparing the odds of overweight or obese (OO; BMI \geq 25.0) vs. normal or underweight (NU; BMI \leq 25.0). OR=odds ratio. c. Adjusted for ethnicity, quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands), and adult height. d. Adjusted for ethnicity, quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands), adult height, and BMI at 8 years. Adding BMI at 8 years to the model reduces the sample size to n=545. e. Prediction of adult body mass index categories using the 3 growth trajectory groups for pubic hair development. f. Prediction of adult body mass index categories using the 4 growth trajectory groups for breast development. g. Prediction of adult body mass index categories based on Tanner stage for pubic hair development at 12 years: earlier (stage 4 or 5), medium (stage 3), and later (stage 1 or 2) development. h. Prediction of adult body mass index categories based on Tanner stage for breast development at 12 years: earlier (stage 4 or 5), medium (stage 3), and later (stage 1 or 2) development.

Table 8.5: Prediction of Adult Body Mass Ir	dex Categories by Puberta	l Development Traj	ectory Group and
Tanner Stage at 12 Years, Males (n=928)			

(Continued on next page)

		OO (BMI≥25.0) vs. NU (BMI <25.0) ^a						
	Una	djusted	Adj	usted ^b	Adj	Adjusted ^c		
	Odds Ratio	95% CI	Odds Ratio	95% CI	Odds Ratio	95% CI		
Trajectory Classes								
Pubic hair ^d								
Class 3 vs. 1	5.44	(2.49, 11.88)	3.86	(1.70, 8.81)	3.68	(1.07, 12.67)		
Class 2 vs. 1	2.39	(1.19, 4.81)	2.06	(1.01, 4.20)	2.15	(0.74, 6.27)		
Genital ^e								
Class 4 vs. 1	1.53	(0.44, 5.38)	0.80	(0.21, 3.03)	0.13	(0.01, 1.24)		
Class 3 vs. 1	1.28	(0.44, 3.71)	0.93	(0.31, 2.77)	0.50	(0.10, 2.55)		
Class 2 vs. 1	0.90	(0.30, 2.71)	0.81	(0.27, 2.47)	0.19	(0.03, 1.11)		

a. Logistic regression comparing the odds of overweight or obese (OO; BMI≥25.0) vs. normal or underweight (NU; BMI<25.0). b. Adjusted for ethnicity, quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands), and adult height. c. Adjusted for ethnicity, quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands), adult height, and BMI at 8 years. Adding BMI at 8 years to the model reduces the sample size to n=540. d. Prediction of adult body mass index categories using the 3 growth trajectory groups for pubic hair development. e. Prediction of adult body mass index categories using the 4 growth trajectory groups for genital development. f. Prediction of adult body mass index categories based on Tanner stage for pubic hair development at 12 years: earlier (stage 3, 4, or 5), medium (stage 2), and later (stage 1) development. g. Prediction of adult body mass index categories based on Tanner stage for genital development at 12 years: earlier (stage 3, 4, or 5), medium (stage 2), and later (stage 1) development.

Table 8.5: Prediction of Adult Body Mass Index Categories by Pubertal Development Trajectory Group and Tanner Stage at 12 Years, Males (n=928)

(Continued from previous page)

		OO (BMI≥25.0) vs. NU (BMI <25.0) ^a						
	Unac	ljusted	Adj	usted ^b	Adjı	Adjusted ^c		
	Odds Ratio	95% CI	Odds Ratio	95% CI	Odds Ratio	95% CI		
Pubertal Stage at 12y								
Pubic hair ^f								
Stage 3, 4, or 5 vs. 2	2.33	(1.24, 4.35)	2.09	(1.10, 3.96)	1.17	(0.46, 2.93)		
Stage 1 vs. 2	0.81	(0.34, 1.91)	0.81	(0.34, 1.92)	0.51	(0.14, 1.87)		
Missing vs. stage 2	1.52	(0.81, 2.83)	1.18	(0.60, 2.35)	1.21	(0.39, 3.79)		
Genital ^g								
Stage 3, 4, or 5 vs. 2	1.68	(0.88, 3.19)	1.64	(0.85, 3.17)	2.27	(0.80, 6.44)		
Stage 1 vs. 2	1.27	(0.60, 2.70)	1.40	(0.65, 3.02)	3.01	(1.01, 8.99)		
Missing vs. stage 2	1.43	(0.77, 2.64)	1.18	(0.60, 2.32)	2.46	(0.74, 8.23)		

a. Logistic regression comparing the odds of overweight or obese (OO; BMI≥25.0) vs. normal or underweight (NU; BMI<25.0). b. Adjusted for ethnicity, quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands), and adult height. c. Adjusted for ethnicity, quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands), adult height, and BMI at 8 years. Adding BMI at 8 years to the model reduces the sample size to n=540. d. Prediction of adult body mass index categories using the 3 growth trajectory groups for pubic hair development. e. Prediction of adult body mass index categories using the 4 growth trajectory groups for genital development. f. Prediction of adult body mass index categories based on Tanner stage for pubic hair development at 12 years: earlier (stage 3, 4, or 5), medium (stage 2), and later (stage 1) development. g. Prediction of adult body mass index categories based on Tanner stage for genital development at 12 years: earlier (stage 3, 4, or 5), medium (stage 2), and later (stage 1) development.

Table 8.6: Prediction of Adult Height by Pubertal Developme	nt Trajectory	Group and T	anner Stage	at 12
Years, Females (n=990)				

(Continued on next page)

	Un	adjusted	Adjusted ^a		Adjusted ^b	
	Coeff.	95% CI	Coeff.	95% CI	Coeff.	95% CI
Trajectory Classes						
Pubic hair ^c						
Class 3 vs. 1	0.36	(-0.94, 1.65)	0.02	(-1.28, 1.32)	-1.76	(-3.07, -0.45)
Class 2 vs. 1	0.28	(-0.58, 1.14)	0.15	(-0.71, 1.02)	-0.74	(-1.53, 0.05)
Breast ^d						
Class 4 vs. 1	-0.59	(-1.89, 0.70)	-0.63	(-1.92, 0.66)	-2.19	(-3.45, -0.94)
Class 3 vs. 1	-1.34	(-2.36, -0.31)	-1.40	(-2.43, -0.38)	-1.83	(-2.80, -0.87)
Class 2 vs. 1	-0.13	(-1.24, 0.98)	-0.33	(-1.45, 0.78)	0.37	(-0.63, 1.38)

a. Adjusted for ethnicity, quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands). b. Adjusted for ethnicity, quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands), and height at 8 years. Adding height at 8 years to the model reduces the sample size to n=545.

c. Linear regression to determine the association between adult height and the 3 trajectory groups for pubic hair development.

d. Linear regression to determine the association between adult height and the 4 trajectory groups for breast development.

e. Linear regression to determine the association between adult height and Tanner stage for pubic hair development at 12 years: earlier (stage 4 or 5), medium (stage 3), and later (stage 1 or 2) development. f. Linear regression to determine the association between adult height and Tanner stage for breast development at 12 years: earlier (stage 4 or 5), medium (stage 3), and later (stage

1 or 2) development. g. Linear regression to determine the association between adult height and age at menarche.

Table 8.6: Prediction of Adult Height by Pubertal	Development	Trajectory	Group and	Tanner	Stage
at 12 Years, Females (n=990)					

(Continued from previous page)

· •	Un	adjusted	A	djusted ^a	Adjusted ^b	
	Coeff.	95% CI	Coeff.	95% CI	Coeff.	95% CI
Pubertal Stage at 12y						
Pubic hair ^e						
Stage 4 or 5 vs. 3	-0.08	(-1.36, 1.21)	-0.08	(-1.37, 1.20)	-0.75	(-1.97, 0.48)
Stage 1 or 2 vs. 3	0.04	(-0.99, 1.07)	0.12	(-0.92, 1.15)	1.35	(0.40, 2.30)
Missing vs. stage 3	-0.37	(-1.42, 0.67)	-0.28	(-1.37, 0.81)	0.49	(-0.59, 1.57)
Breast ^f						
Stage 4 or 5 vs. 3	-1.32	(-2.52, -0.12)	-1.25	(-2.44, -0.05)	-2.23	(-3.36, -1.11)
Stage 1 or 2 vs. 3	-0.01	(-1.06, 1.04)	0.05	(-1.00, 1.09)	0.99	(0.04, 1.93)
Missing vs. stage 3	-0.78	(-1.80, 0.24)	-0.71	(-1.78, 0.37)	-0.10	(-1.14, 0.94)
Menarche age, years ^g	0.57	(0.26, 0.88)	0.60	(0.29, 0.91)	1.00	(0.70, 1.29)

a. Adjusted for ethnicity, quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands). b. Adjusted for ethnicity, quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands), and height at 8 years. Adding height at 8 years to the model reduces the sample size to n=545.

c. Linear regression to determine the association between adult height and the 3 trajectory groups for pubic hair development.

d. Linear regression to determine the association between adult height and the 4 trajectory groups for breast development.

e. Linear regression to determine the association between adult height and Tanner stage for pubic hair development at 12 years: earlier (stage 4 or 5), medium (stage 3), and later (stage 1 or 2) development. f. Linear regression to determine the association between adult height and Tanner stage for breast development at 12 years: earlier (stage 4 or 5), medium (stage 3), and later (stage 1 or 2) development. g. Linear regression to determine the association between adult height and age at menarche.

	Ur	nadjusted	A	djusted ^a	A	ljusted ^b
	Coeff.	95% CI	Coeff.	95% CI	Coeff.	95% CI
Trajectory Classes						
Pubic hair ^c						
Class 3 vs. 1	3.15	(1.73, 4.56)	2.60	(1.15, 4.05)	-0.38	(-1.72, 0.95)
Class 2 vs. 1	1.99	(1.01, 2.96)	1.79	(0.80, 2.77)	0.23	(-0.67, 1.13)
Genital ^d						
Class 4 vs. 1	2.32	(-0.02, 4.67)	1.65	(-0.73, 4.03)	-2.29	(-4.49, -0.09)
Class 3 vs. 1	1.75	(-0.13, 3.63)	1.44	(-0.45, 3.34)	-1.38	(-3.10, 0.34)
Class 2 vs. 1	-0.40	(-2.32, 1.51)	-0.51	(-2.43, 1.41)	-1.72	(-3.45, 0.01)
Pubertal Stage at 12y						
Pubic hair ^e						
Stage 3, 4, or 5 vs. 2	0.71	(-0.50, 1.91)	0.48	(-0.73, 1.68)	-0.44	(-1.48, 0.60)
Stage 1 vs. 2	-0.68	(-1.98, 0.62)	-0.59	(-1.90, 0.72)	0.59	(-0.56, 1.74)
Missing vs. stage 2	0.56	(-0.54, 1.66)	0.43	(-0.72, 1.59)	0.77	(-0.35, 1.90)
Genital ^f						
Stage 3, 4, or 5 vs. 2	0.17	(-1.03, 1.36)	0.05	(-1.13, 1.24)	-0.76	(-1.81, 0.29)
Stage 1 vs. 2	-1.06	(-2.39, 0.27)	-0.91	(-2.24, 0.42)	0.27	(-0.87, 1.41)
Missing vs. stage 2	0.43	(-0.67, 1.52)	0.38	(-0.77, 1.52)	0.70	(-0.42, 1.82)

Table 8.7: Prediction of Adult Height by Pubertal Development Trajectory Group and Tanner Stage at 12 Years. Males (n=928)

a. Adjusted for ethnicity, quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands). b. Adjusted for ethnicity, quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands), and height at 8 years. Adding height at 8 years to the model reduces the sample size to n=540. c. Linear regression to determine the association between adult height and the 3 trajectory groups for public hair development. d. Linear regression to determine the association between adult height and the 3 trajectory groups for public hair development. d. Linear regression to determine the association between adult height and the 4 trajectory groups for genital development. e. Linear regression to determine the association between adult height and Tanner stage for public hair development at 12 years: earlier (stage 3, 4, or 5), medium (stage 2), and later (stage 1) development. f. Linear regression to determine the association between adult height and Tanner stage for genital development at 12 years: earlier (stage 3, 4, or 5), medium (stage 2), and later (stage 1) development.

	Females		Males	
	Coeff.	95% CI	Coeff.	95% CI
Prediction of adult height by height at 5y				
Unadjusted	0.90	(0.83, 0.97)	1.05	(0.97, 1.13)
Adjusted				
Ethnicity and caretaker income ^a	0.90	(0.83, 0.98)	1.08	(1.00, 1.17)
Pubic hair trajectory classes ^{a, b}	0.93	(0.85, 1.00)	1.08	(1.00, 1.17)
Breast/genital trajectory classes ^{a, c}	0.95	(0.88, 1.02)	1.08	(1.00, 1.16)
Pubic hair stage at 12y ^{a, d}	0.94	(0.87, 1.01)	1.09	(1.01, 1.17)
Breast/genital stage at 12y ^{a, e}	0.95	(0.88, 1.02)	1.09	(1.01, 1.17)
Age at menarche (years) ^{a, f}	0.99	(0.93, 1.06)	-	-
Prediction of adult height by height at 8y				
Unadjusted	0.70	(0.64, 0.76)	0.80	(0.73, 0.86)
Adjusted				
Ethnicity and caretaker income ^a	0.70	(0.64, 0.77)	0.82	(0.75, 0.89)
Pubic hair trajectory classes ^{a, b}	0.71	(0.65, 0.77)	0.82	(0.76, 0.89)
Breast/genital trajectory classes ^{a, c}	0.74	(0.68, 0.80)	0.83	(0.76, 0.89)
Pubic hair stage at 12 y ^{a, d}	0.73	(0.66, 0.79)	0.83	(0.76, 0.90)
Breast/genital stage at 12 y ^{a, e}	0.73	(0.66, 0.79)	0.83	(0.76, 0.90)
Age at menarche (years) ^{a, f}	0.75	(0.69, 0.82)	-	-
Prediction of adult BMI by BMI at 5y				
Unadjusted	1.81	(1.62, 2.00)	1.42	(1.25, 1.59)
Adjusted				
Ethnicity and caretaker income ^a	1.77	(1.58, 1.96)	1.46	(1.29, 1.63)
Pubic hair trajectory classes ^{a, b}	1.75	(1.56, 1.94)	1.44	(1.27, 1.61)
Breast/genital trajectory classes ^{a, c}	1.69	(1.51, 1.88)	1.47	(1.29, 1.64)
Pubic hair stage at 12 y ^{a, d}	1.77	(1.58, 1.96)	1.45	(1.27, 1.62)
Breast/genital stage at 12 y ^{a, e}	1.74	(1.55, 1.93)	1.46	(1.29, 1.64)
Age at menarche (years) ^{a, f}	1.72	(1.53 1.91)	-	-
Prediction of adult BMI by BMI at 8y				
Unadjusted	1.50	(1.37, 1.64)	1.44	(1.30, 1.57)
Adjusted				
Ethnicity and caretaker income ^a	1.48	(1.35, 1.62)	1.43	(1.29, 1.56)
Pubic hair trajectory classes ^{a, b}	1.48	(1.34, 1.62)	1.41	(1.27, 1.55)
Breast/genital trajectory classes ^{a, c}	1.42	(1.28, 1.56)	1.45	(1.31, 1.58)
Pubic hair stage at 12 y ^{a, d}	1.48	(1.34, 1.62)	1.43	(1.29, 1.56)
Breast/genital stage at 12 y ^{a, e}	1.48	(1.34, 1.62)	1.43	(1.29, 1.57)
Age at menarche (years) ^{a, f}	1.46	(1.32, 1.60)	-	-

Table 8.8: Mediation Analysis: Prediction of Adult Height and BMI by Height and BMI at 5y and 8y, With and Without Measures of Pubertal Development, Females (n=715) and Males (n=655)

a. Adjusted for ethnicity, quintiles of caretaker monthly income (in Rands). b. Adjusted for the 3 trajectory groups for pubic hair development. c. Adjusted for the 4 trajectory groups for breast/genital development. d. Girls: adjusted for Tanner stage for pubic hair development at 12 years – earlier (stage 4 or 5), medium (stage 3), and later (stage 1 or 2). Boys: adjusted for Tanner stage for pubic hair development at 12 years – earlier (stage 4 or 5), medium (stage 3, 4, or 5), medium (stage 2), and later (stage 1). e. Girls: adjusted for Tanner stage for breast development at 12 years – earlier (stage 4 or 5), medium (stage 3), and later (stage 1 or 2). Boys: adjusted for Tanner stage for breast development at 12 years – earlier (stage 4 or 5), medium (stage 3), and later (stage 1 or 2). Boys: adjusted for Tanner stage for genital development at 12 years – earlier (stage 3, 4, or 5), medium (stage 3), and later (stage 1 or 2). Boys: adjusted for Tanner stage for genital development at 12 years – earlier (stage 3, 4, or 5), medium (stage 3), and later (stage 1). f. Girls: adjusted for age at menarche (years).

Chapter 8 References

1. Loomba-Albrecht LA, Styne DM. Effect of puberty on body composition. Current Opinion in Endocrinology, Diabetes & Obesity 2009;16:10–15.

2. Garn S, LaVelle M, Rosenberg K, et al. Maturational timing as a factor in female fatness and obesity. Am J Clin Nutr 1986;43:879-883.

3. Biro FM, McMahon RP, Striegel-Moore R, et al. Impact of timing of pubertal maturation on growth in black and white female adolescents:

The National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Growth and Health Study. J Pediatr 2001;138:636-643.

4. Wellens R, Malina RM, Roche AF, et al. Body size and fatness in young adults in relation to age at menarche. American Journal of Human Biology 1992;4:783–787.

5. Okasha M, McCarron P, McEwen J, et al. Age at menarche: secular trends and association with adult anthropometric measures. Annals of Human Biology 2001;28:68-78.

6. Garn S, LaVelle M, Rosenberg K, et al. Maturational timing as a factor in female fatness and obesity. Am J Clin Nutr 1986;43:879-883.

Demerath EW, Li J, Sun SS, et al. Fifty-year trends in serial body mass index during adolescence in girls: the Fels Longitudinal Study. Am J Clin Nutr 2004;80:441–446.
 Pierce MB, Leon DA. Age at menarche and adult BMI in the Aberdeen Children of the 1950s Cohort Study. Am J Clin Nutr 2005;82:733–739.

9. Freedman DS, Khan LK, Serdula MK, et al. The relation of menarcheal age to obesity in childhood and adulthood: the Bogalusa heart study. BMC Pediatrics 2003;3:e1-e9. 10. Ng M, Fleming T, Robinson M, et al. Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980–2013: a systematic analysis

for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet 2014 384:766-781.

11. Kaplowitz PB. Link Between Body Fat and the Timing of Puberty. Pediatrics 2008;121 S208-S217.

12. Foster TA, Voors AW, Webber LS, et al. Anthropometric and maturation measurements of children, ages 5 to 14 years, in a biracial community the Bogalusa Heart Study. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 1977;30:582-591.

13. Wang Y. Is Obesity Associated With Early Sexual Maturation? A Comparison of the Association in American Boys Versus Girls. Pediatrics 2002;110:903-910.

14. Morrison JA, Barton B, Biro FM, et al. Sexual maturation and obesity in 9- and 10year-old black and white girls: The National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Growth and Health Study. Journal of Pediatrics 1994;124:889-895.

15. Freedman DS, Khan LK, Serdula MK, et al. Relation of Age at Menarche to Race, Time Period, and Anthropometric Dimensions: The Bogalusa Heart Study. Pediatrics 2002;110:e43.

16. Vignolo M, Naselli A, DiBattista E, et al. Growth and development in simple obesity. Eur J Pediatr 1988;147:242-244.

17. Davison KK, Susman EJ, Birch LL. Percent Body Fat at Age 5 Predicts Earlier Pubertal Development Among Girls at Age 9. Pediatrics 2003;111:815–821.

18. Frank M. Biro LCG, Maida P. Galvez, Susan M. Pinney, Susan Teitelbaum, Gayle C. Windham, Julianna Deardorff, Robert L. Herrick, Paul A. Succop, Robert A. Hiatt, Lawrence H. Kushi and Mary S. Wolff. Onset of Breast Development in a Longitudinal Cohort. Pediatrics 2013;132:1–9.

19. Lee JM, Appugliese D, Kaciroti N, et al. Weight Status in Young Girls and the Onset of Puberty. Pediatrics 2007;199:e624.

20. Dietz WH. Critical periods in childhood for the development of obesity1. Am J Clin Nutr 1994;59:955-959.

21. Serdula M, Ivery D, Coates R, et al. Do obese children become obese adults? A review of the literature. Prev Med 1993;22:167-177.

22. Singh AS, Mulder C, Twisk JWR, et al. Tracking of childhood overweight into adulthood: a systematic review of the literature. Obesity Reviews 2008;9:474–488.

23. Power C, Lake J, Cole T. Body mass index and height from childhood to adulthood in the 1958 British born cohort. Am J Clin Nutr 1997;66:1094-1101.

24. Parent A, Teilmann G, Juul A, et al. The Timing of Normal Puberty and the Age Limits of Sexual Precocity: Variations around the World, Secular Trends, and Changes after Migration. Endocrine Reviews 2003;24:668–693.

25. Jones L, Griffiths P, Norris S, et al. Age at menarche and the evidence for a positive secular trend in urban South Africa. Am J Hum Biol 2009;21:130-132.

26. Herman-Giddens ME, Slora EJ, Wasserman RC, et al. Secondary Sexual Characteristics and Menses in Young Girls Seen in Office Practice: A Study from the Pediatric Research in Office Settings Network. Pediatrics 1997;99 505 -512.

27. Kaplowitz P. Pubertal development in girls: secular trends. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol 2006;18:487–491.

 28. Euling SY, Herman-Giddens ME, Lee PA, et al. Examination of US Puberty-Timing Data from 1940 to 1994 for Secular Trends: Panel Findings. Pediatrics 2008;121.
 29. deMuinck-Keizer-Schrama S, Mul D. Trends in pubertal development in Europe. Hum Reprod Update 2001;7:287-291.

30. Jones LL, Griffiths PL, Norris SA, et al. Is Puberty Starting Earlier in Urban South Africa? Am J Hum Biol 2009;21:395–397.

31. Richter L, Norris S, Pettifor J, et al. Cohort Profile: Mandela's children: The 1990 birth to twenty study in South Africa. Int J Epidemiol 2007;36:504-511.

32. Cameron N. The Measurement of Human Growth. London, United Kingdom: Croom-Helm, 1984.

33. Dorn LD, Dahl RE, Woodward HR, et al. Defining the Boundaries of Early Adolescence: A User's Guide to Assessing Pubertal Status and Pubertal Timing in Research With Adolescents. Applied Developmental Science 2006;10:30–56.

34. Marshall WA, Tanner JM. Variations in Pattern of Pubertal Changes in Girls. Arch Dis Childh 1969;44:291-303.

35. Marshall WA, Tanner JM. Variations in the Pattern of Pubertal Changes in Boys. Archives of Disease in Childhood 1970;45:13-23.

36. Norris SA, Richter LM. Usefulness and Reliability of Tanner Pubertal Self-Rating to Urban Black Adolescents in South Africa. Journal of Research on Adolescence 2005;15:609–624.
37. Kuczmarski RJ, Flegal KM. Criteria for definition of overweight in transition: background and recommendations for the United States. Am J Clin Nutr 2000;72:1074-1081.

38. WHO. Physical status: the use and interpretation of anthropometry. Report of a WHO Expert Consultation. WHO Technical Report Series Number 854. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1995.

39. WHO. Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic. Report on a WHO Consultation on Obesity, Geneva, 3–5 June, 1997. WHO/NUT/NCD/98.1. Technical Report Series Number 894. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2000.

40. Ellis BJ, Garber J. Psychosocial Antecedents of Variation in Girls' Pubertal Timing: Maternal Depression,

Stepfather Presence, and Marital and Family Stress. Child Development 2000;71:485-501.

41. Deardorff J, Fyfe M, Ekwaru JP, et al. Does neighborhood environment influence girls' pubertal onset? findings from a cohort study. BMC Pediatrics 2012;12:27.

42. Sharma K, Talwar I, Sharma N. Age at menarche in relation to adult body size and physique. Ann Hum Biol 1988;15:431-434.

43. Sherman B, Wallace R, Bean J, et al. Relationship of body weight to menarcheal and menopausal age: implications for breast cancer risk. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1981;52:488-493.

44. vanLenthe F, Kemper C, vanMechelen W. Rapid maturation in adolescence results in greater obesity in adulthood: the Amsterdam Growth and Health Study. Am J Clin Nutr 1996;64:18-24.

45. Guh DP, Zhang W, Bansback N, et al. The incidence of co-morbidities related to obesity and overweight: A systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Public Health 2009;9:1-20.

Chapter 9: Summary, Conclusions, and Implications

Following is a summary of the key findings of this dissertation, in relation to the stated aims of the research.

 Table 9.1: Summary of Key Findings in Relation to Stated Aims of the Dissertation (Continued on next page)

Specific Aims	Key Findings	
Specific Aim One: Characterize patterns of linear growth, including stunting and recovery from stunting, across numerous time points from birth to adulthood. Contribute to the debate on methods for assessing recovery and catch- up growth.	 Chapter 3: There is substantial growth recovery among children who are stunted post-infancy. Child growth trajectories are determined in part by size at age 1y, however, there is significant variation in growth after age 1y. While prevention of early-life stunting must continue to be a top priority, policy makers should consider targeting for further nutritional 	
	 interventions children who are stunted post-infancy. Chapter 4: From age 2y to adulthood, mean height-for-age z scores increased, despite increasing absolute height deficits from the reference. Catch-up growth after 2y may be a statistical artifact. Absolute height difference from the reference median should also be assessed when determining the existence of catch-up growth. 	
Specific Aim Two: Identify predictors of adolescent pregnancy in South African girls and explore the association between adolescent	 Chapter 5: Girls who had an adolescent pregnancy experienced menarche earlier and were taller at 11y and 12y. After controlling for age at menarche and prepregnancy height, adolescent pregnancy was not 	
attained height.	associated with maternal attained height.	

 Table 9.1: Summary of Key Findings in Relation to Stated Aims of the Dissertation (Continued from previous page)

Specific Aims	Key Findings
Specific Aim Three: Characterize patterns of obesity incidence among South African children from infancy to late adolescence, and determine gender differences in overweight and obesity.	 Chapter 6: Among girls, overweight and obesity increased throughout childhood. Overweight and obesity were not widely prevalent among boys. Early childhood and post-puberty may be important periods for intervention among girls.
Specific Aim Four: Determine the association between childhood growth measures – height and body mass index – and the timing and tempo of pubertal development. Determine the association between the timing and tempo of pubertal development and adult height and body mass index.	 Chapter 7: Among both males and females, there was a positive association between both height and body mass index in early childhood and the tempo of pubertal development. This relationship emerged by age 5y. Among females, greater childhood height and body mass index were associated with earlier pubertal development, but there was no association among males. Chapter 8: When childhood body mass index is controlled for, the timing and tempo of breast and pubic hair development in girls are not associated with adult risk of overweight or obesity. Girls with earlier pubertal development have a reduced adult height. Males with faster pubic hair development are shorter at adulthood.

Discussion of the Key Findings for Each Specific Aim

The key findings, public health implications, and areas for future research will be discussed within the context of each specific aim.

Specific Aim One

In Chapter 3, we concluded that among children who are stunted post-infancy, there is a fair amount of growth recovery in terms of movement across the -2.0 SD HAZ threshold. The potential for growth recovery post-infancy suggests there may be value in also targeting resources toward programs aimed at promoting growth recovery and preventing growth faltering after the first 1,000 days. However, it is important to understand whether nutrition interventions after the first 1,000 days are associated with improvements in linear growth, and whether improvements in linear growth after this period are associated with longer-term cognitive and educational benefits. Several studies have explored the effect of nutritional supplementation on linear growth stratified by age, and have shown that nutritional supplementation is associated with a greater impact among infants and younger children (1-3). A study in Guatemala showed that supplementation of 100kcal/day during the first three years of life was associated with improved linear growth, with the greatest benefit seen in the first year (2). There was no benefit of supplementation from 3-7 years of age (2). Another study in India found that children who received caloric supplementation experienced an increase in height compared to

non-supplemented children, but this difference decreased as the age of supplementation increased: 1-2y (2.8 cm), 2-3y (1.7 cm), 3-4y (1.7 cm), and 4-5y (1.1 cm) (1). Colombian children under 3 years who received supplementation experienced the greatest height benefits during the periods from 3-6 months and 9-12 months (3). While the height benefits associated with supplementation may be greatest at younger ages, there is potential for improvement in linear growth with supplementation after three years of age. Another study in Cali, Colombia found that caloric and protein supplementation of children enrolled from 3.5 to 6.1 years resulted in significant improvements in height (4). However, these differences in height did not persist 3 years after the intervention (4). Studies of malnourished children who are adopted show that an improved living environment can result in catch-up growth, but primarily when the adoption occurs in infancy or the early childhood years (5-8).

Some recent evidence has suggested that improvements in linear growth post-infancy may be associated with better cognitive outcomes (9, 10). A study of Filipino children found that the change in height-for-age z score from 24 months to 11 years was positively associated with cognitive ability at 11 years (9). The work of our colleagues, Crookston et al, which built upon our analysis of growth in the Young Lives study, showed that improvements in child growth after early faltering were associated with benefits in terms of schooling and cognitive achievement (10). They found that height at 8 years, independent of height at 1 year, was positively associated with schooling and cognitive scores (10). However, few studies have been able to explore whether improvements in height after 2 years are associated with cognitive and educational benefits, and more longitudinal studies after the first 1,000 days are needed. It is also important to understand the predictors of improvements in height after 2 years.

We know, of course, that -2.0 SD HAZ is an arbitrary threshold, and small movements around this cut-off point do not always represent significant improvements in nutritional status. In Chapter 4, we discuss the merits of two approaches for evaluating patterns in linear growth in a population over time, and for evaluating the existence of "catch-up" growth. The first approach evaluates changes in the mean height-for-age z score in a population, and the second approach assesses changes in the distance between the mean height in the population and the median height in a reference population. Both approaches have their merits, however, we concluded that there was an increase in mean height-for-age z scores from age 2y to adulthood, despite increasing absolute height deficits from the reference. Furthermore, concluding the existence of catch-up growth based solely on increasing mean HAZ in a population could be incorrect, as increasing HAZ throughout childhood and adolescence could be a statistical artifact only. It is recommended to evaluate both changes in HAZ and changes in the absolute height difference from the reference median when determining the existence of catch-up growth in a population. An important area for further research is determining whether changes in HAZ over time or changes in the absolute height difference better predict adult outcomes.

174

Specific Aim Two

In Chapter 5, we explored the association between adolescent pregnancy and maternal attained height. We controlled for age at menarche and HAZ immediately preceding adolescent pregnancy, factors that are related both to the risk of adolescent pregnancy, as well as adult height. We found that when you control for these factors, adolescent pregnancy is not associated with adult height. Our study represents a significant methodological improvement over previous research on this topic, as other studies were not able to control for the effect of pre-pregnancy height. We also found that girls who had an adolescent pregnancy experienced menarche earlier and were taller at 11 and 12 years of age than all other girls in the cohort. This is an interesting finding, in light of our conclusions from Chapter 7 pertaining to the strong association between child growth measures and the timing and tempo of puberty. It is possible that programs aimed at improving linear growth in childhood could have an unintended effect on early puberty, which could in turn increase risk of adolescent pregnancy.

An interesting difference in the findings between Chapter 5 and Chapter 8, is the association between early puberty and adult height. In Chapter 5, we found that girls with an adolescent pregnancy experienced menarche earlier than all other girls in the cohort, but this experience of earlier puberty did not translate into reduced adult height. Conversely, in Chapter 8, we found that girls with earlier menarche were shorter at adulthood. The difference in these two findings is likely due to the fact that in Chapter 8, when examining the association between puberty timing and tempo and adult height, we

175

controlled for height at 8y of age. Given an identical height at 8y of age, girls with earlier menarche were shorter as adults. These results suggest there may be a biological reason that puberty timing, independent of earlier childhood growth, impacts adult height. In the adolescent pregnancy study in Chapter 5, when comparing the adult height of girls with an adolescent pregnancy to all other girls in the cohort, we did not control for childhood height measures.

Specific Aim Three

In Chapter 6, we found that among girls, overweight and obesity increased throughout childhood, and by late adolescence, the prevalence of overweight and obesity began to rival that which is seen in higher income countries (11). This was not the case for boys, among whom overweight and obesity were not widely prevalent. The gender disparity in overweight and obesity prevalence found in our study is consistent with the results of other studies of South African children and adolescents, which also found that females are more likely to be overweight or obese than males (12-14). The children in our study population were predominantly black. The significantly higher prevalence of overweight and obesity among females in our study is consistent with studies of black South African adults (15, 16), whereas the gender gap among white South African adults is much smaller (16).

Gender differences in obesity prevalence are widespread in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) (17). Women have $a \ge 50\%$ increased risk of being obese compared to

men in 106 of the 189 countries that report obesity prevalence data to the World Health Organization (WHO) (17, 18). The countries without a gender disparity tend to be higherincome countries (17, 18). However, these stark gender differences in obesity prevalence can also be seen in black populations in high-income countries. In the U.S., 57% of black women are obese vs. 37% of black men (19). The gender difference in obesity prevalence among black adults in the U.S. is larger among foreign-born blacks from Africa or the Caribbean, versus U.S. born blacks (20). In contrast, among white adults in the U.S., there is almost no gender disparity in obesity prevalence: 34% of white women and 33% of white men are obese (19). This gender difference in obesity among black Americans is apparent among children as well, primarily later in adolescence from 12-19 years, with fewer differences from 6-11 years of age (21). Additionally, similar gender differences in overweight exist among black African and black Caribbean children in England, with smaller gender differences among white English children (22). In certain Caribbean countries like Jamaica with predominantly black populations, as well as some Latin American countries such as Ecuador, adult women have an overweight or obesity prevalence that is twenty to thirty percentage points higher than men (23). The gender disparity in obesity has been described as a problem that is common "in countries experiencing rapid economic development and historically poor populations in economically developed countries (24)."

Greater adiposity in females has a clear evolutionary purpose. Larger fat stores are necessary for reproduction, to fuel fetal growth, and one would therefore expect women to have greater adiposity stores than men. However, in many countries the increased prevalence of obesity among women is drastic, and it is important to understand the potential causes. Several researchers have attempted to explain the gender disparity in overweight and obesity that is common in black populations as well as in low- and middle-income countries (17, 24). It is known that early life nutritional deprivation has a differential impact on females versus males, with females who have experienced early deprivation tending to have greater fat deposition than males in similar circumstances (17, 25). It is hypothesized that the hypothalamus of females and males reacts differently to early life deprivation, with consequences for appetite regulation, energy expenditure, and fat deposition (17). It has been suggested that this is particularly deleterious for the female offspring of low socioeconomic status mothers in countries going through the nutrition transition, as early life deprivation results in adaptations that enable greater fat deposition in later environments of caloric excess (24). This possible explanation for the gender disparity in obesity is consistent with evidence which shows that the gender disparity in obesity among blacks in the U.S. is greatest among those from low socioeconomic status families and parents with lower levels of education (26). It is also consistent with several studies of famines, which have shown that female offspring who were in gestation during famines have an increased risk of obesity later in life, which is not the case for males (24, 25, 27). Adult socioeconomic status may also have a differential impact on obesity risk among men and women. In a study of South African adults, it was found that higher socioeconomic status is positively related to obesity risk in women, but among men there is no association (17). This same study concluded that the effects of early life deprivation and adult socioeconomic status accounted for 96% of

the difference in obesity rates between men and women in this South African sample (17).

Numerous other factors have been cited as possible reasons for the gender differences in obesity seen among black populations and populations in LMICs. Researchers have been interested in whether differences in the prevalence of depression could play a role, as depression has been found to be positively associated with obesity in women, but not among men (17) (28). However, in one study of South African adults, depression had no association with obesity risk for both men and women (17). Researchers have explored the potential role of gender inequality, and found that in the 192 countries for which the WHO has obesity data, several indices of gender inequality were significantly associated with country-level sex differences in obesity prevalence (29). It has also been suggested that in LMICs, there is a gender difference in the perception of body size, with females more likely to desire a heavier body, as they rate heavier bodies as more attractive and healthy (17). Child-bearing is another factor that has been implicated, with black women being more than twice as likely as white women to retain more than 20 pounds postpartum, despite similar weight gain during the pregnancy (16, 30).

Differences in dietary and physical activity behaviors among South African adolescents could explain the stark gender disparity we found in the prevalence of overweight and obesity. Gender differences in dietary patterns within the Birth-to-Twenty cohort have been investigated (31). It was found that females consume breakfast less regularly, eat with the family less often, consume more snacks while watching television, and eat more junk food (chips and sweets) than males (31). Gender differences in physical activity among South African adolescents could also play a role. A study of South African adolescents found that girls had lower levels of physical activity than boys, and in both genders, low activity levels were associated with overweight and obesity (13). However, in a study of black adolescents in the U.S., it was found that while black females have less leisure-time physical activity than black males, setting this behavior equal for males and females did not reduce the gender disparity in obesity incidence (32).

Among South African girls, and to some extent among boys as well, overweight and obesity during infancy/toddlerhood and early childhood were highly predictive of risk for obesity at 16-18y. This is consistent with many previous studies showing childhood body mass index tends to track into adulthood (33-35). These findings confirm the importance of early prevention of overweight and obesity. Our study also found that among girls, the peri-pubertal years were a period of increased risk for the development of obesity. This is consistent with another study among South African adolescents, which suggested that the peri-pubertal period is an important period for intervention to prevent obesity among girls (13). Future research should evaluate the effectiveness of interventions designed to prevent overweight and obesity among South African females in the early childhood and pubertal years.

Specific Aim Four

The results of our analyses in Chapters 7 and 8 generally support the conceptual framework presented in Chapter 2. Childhood growth was strongly associated with pubertal progression. We found that greater height and body mass index in early childhood were associated with a faster tempo of pubertal development among both males and females, and earlier pubertal development at 12y among females.

Globally there has been a marked decline in the age of menarche (36, 37), as well as trends toward earlier development of breasts and pubic hair among girls (38-42), and earlier genital and pubic hair development in boys (41-43). Our study is consistent with other research, which has found that height in children is inversely associated with age of pubertal onset (44-47), and the global shift toward earlier pubertal onset has been concurrent with increases in height (48). Furthermore, secular trends in pubertal development have mirrored the increase in body mass index among children (49, 50), and our study was consistent with other research, which found an association between higher BMI in childhood or adolescence and earlier onset of puberty among girls (39, 44, 47, 51-56).

Pubertal development can be influenced by numerous factors, including genetics, race and ethnicity, diet, prenatal influences, psychosocial stress, physical activity, and environmental exposures (57-62). As much as 50-80% of the variation in pubertal timing is determined by genetic factors (63), however, the remaining portion is influenced by modifiable factors such as child growth measures. While our study does not prove causality, childhood growth may be causally related to the timing and tempo of puberty. Particularly in females, there have been hypothesized biological mechanisms to suggest that this relationship is causal. Increased adipose tissue contributes to the conversion of androgens to estrogen, and overweight females have higher levels of estrogen, potentially expediting the pubertal process (64, 65).

The global shift toward earlier puberty is of concern. Pubertal development can have profound social implications, especially for females, as it signifies the beginning of reproductive capabilities, one's potential readiness for sexual activity and marriage, and the possibility for childbearing and motherhood (66-68). Additionally, the timing of puberty is linked to numerous psychosocial outcomes, with early puberty among girls leading to a higher risk of depression, eating disorders, substance abuse, poor academic achievement, and risky sexual behaviors (67). Improved nutrition and socioeconomic conditions resulting from the nutrition transition may have contributed to the trend toward earlier puberty, and programs aimed at improving child growth may also contribute to shifts in pubertal timing in LMICs.

In Chapter 8, we aimed to determine whether the timing and tempo of puberty are associated with adult BMI and height, independent of childhood BMI and height. In females, we concluded that the association between earlier timing and faster tempo of puberty and higher adult BMI is largely explained by childhood BMI. When we controlled for childhood BMI, the associations between the timing and tempo of breast and pubic hair development in girls and adult risk of overweight or obesity disappeared. This is consistent with other research, which found that the relationship between puberty and adult BMI in girls is largely explained by childhood BMI (47). Our mediation analysis revealed that puberty does not seem to be a strong mediator on the pathway between childhood and adult BMI. Therefore, it is likely that childhood BMI is associated with pubertal development (possibly causally). Childhood BMI also tracks to adulthood, and therefore is likely a confounder of the relationship between puberty and adult BMI. Future research could utilize path analysis to better understand these relationships between childhood BMI, puberty, and adult BMI. However, given current evidence, childhood BMI is likely the key factor, impacting both pubertal development and adult risk of overweight and obesity. Prevention of childhood obesity is therefore important in preventing early onset of puberty and adult obesity.

We found that controlling for height at 8y, girls with earlier pubertal development and faster pubertal development have a reduced adult height. Peak height velocity occurs earlier in girls who have early menarche, and after menarche, the pace of linear growth declines significantly (69). The end result is that girls who experience earlier menarche miss out on several years of rapid pre-pubertal growth, resulting in a reduced adult height (69). An unanswered question, however, is whether improving linear growth in children, with its potential impact on earlier puberty among girls, would result in a net benefit or detriment to adult attained height.

Strengths

There are several strengths of the research presented in this dissertation. The first is the quality of the data from the four Young Lives cohorts and the five birth cohorts that are a part of the larger COHORTS collaboration. These are carefully followed longitudinal cohorts, which in some cases have been observed for several decades and have given rise to countless studies on the growth, health, and development of the participants. Local research teams invested significant time and resources toward training data collectors to ensure valid and consistent measurement of child growth and development indicators. Given the longevity of these cohorts, retention of participants has generally been high. In the South African Birth-to-Twenty study, over 70% of the cohort was still being followed at 16 years of age (70). The inclusion and exclusion criteria for each paper within this dissertation varied based on the research question. However, we performed sensitivity analyses, and generally found few differences between those included in the study and those who did not have adequate data to allow inclusion. Finally, the conclusions of our research are highly consistent with findings in other settings, suggesting good quality of our data.

The use of rich longitudinal growth data with anthropometric measurements at multiple time points confers significant benefits over the commonly-used cross-sectional growth data in LMICs. This enabled us to better understand how children in LMICs grow from birth to young adulthood, and to assess the degree to which growth recovery is possible across many time points. Another strength of this research was the use of longitudinal data on the development of secondary sexual characteristics from ages 9-16y in both boys and girls. Much of the research on puberty has focused on girls, and has emphasized only the timing (not tempo) of puberty, narrowly defining puberty timing as age at menarche. Another important contribution of this dissertation to the understanding of pubertal development, was the use of Latent Class Growth Analysis (LCGA) to identify distinct groups with common developmental trajectories. To our knowledge, no other study has used LCGA to model different pubertal development trajectories in a population. We were also fortunate to have longitudinal data that allowed us to control for childhood growth measures when exploring the association between puberty and adult anthropometric outcomes. Few other studies have done this. An interesting area for future research would be to use LCGA to model both child growth measures, and pubertal development, allowing for an exploration of the association between these two sets of trajectories.

Limitations

There were a few limitations of the research. The pubertal development data were selfreported from 12-16y. Clinician assessment of pubertal staging is considered to be more valid than self-assessment. However, clinician assessment is less socially acceptable within the context of research studies and can be a deterrent to participation. We also had a small sample size for adolescent pregnancies in our study of the relationship between adolescent pregnancy and adult height. This could have made it difficult to detect a statistically significant difference in adult height. However, the mean adult heights in the adolescent pregnancy and comparison groups were virtually identical, and in fact, girls with an adolescent pregnancy were 0.1 cm taller, which would not support the previous hypothesis of maternal-fetal competition for nutrients.

Conclusions

Low- and middle-income countries throughout the world are going through the nutrition transition and now face the dual burden of both stunting as well as rising overweight and obesity among children. Programs aimed at improving nutrition in the first 1,000 days and beyond seek to improve linear growth so that children can achieve their genetic height potential and the associated cognitive, schooling, and adult income benefits. The challenge will be to promote nutrition that enables improved linear growth, while not increasing overweight and obesity among children in LMICs. It will be important to identify which interventions – e.g. micronutrient supplementation, breastfeeding promotion, protein supplementation – will promote optimal linear growth in the first two years of life without increasing excess weight gain after two years (71). Program impact studies should assess the effect of interventions on both linear growth, as well as weightfor-height among children. The solutions to the dual burden faced by LMICs will be complex, as a host of environmental, economic, and social factors influence overweight and obesity. A particular focus on the prevention of obesity among females is needed, given the stark gender disparity in obesity observed in many LMICs. Additionally, improving growth among children in LMICs could impact pubertal development, and

further research is needed to determine how to mitigate the potential social and psychological consequences of early puberty. Social support mechanisms and schooling opportunities should be in place to ensure earlier puberty does not have a deleterious impact on human capital.

Chapter 9 References

1. Gopalan C, Swaninathan M, Kumari V, et al. Effect of calorie supplementation on growth of undernourished children. Am J Clin Nutr 1973;26:563-566.

2. Schroeder D, Martorell R, Rivera J, et al. Age differences in the impact of nutritional supplementation on growth. J Nutr 1995;125:1051S-1059S.

3. Lutter C, Mora J, Habicht J, et al. Age-specific responsiveness of weight and length to nutritional supplementation. Am J Clin Nutr 1990;51:359-364.

4. Pérez-Escamilla R, Pollitt E. Growth improvements in children above 3 years of age: the Cali Study. J Nutr 1995;125:885-893.

5. Victora CG, Adair L, Fall C, et al. Maternal and child undernutrition: consequences for adult health and human capital. Lancet 2008;371:340–357.

6. Proos L, Karlberg J, Hofvander Y, et al. Pubertal linear growth of Indian girls adopted in Sweden. Acta Paediatr 1993;82:641-644.

7. Colombo M, delaParra A, López I. Intellectual and physical outcome of children undernourished in early life is influenced by later environmental conditions. Dev Med Child Neurol 1992;34:611-622.

8. Lien N, Meyer K, Winick M. Early malnutrition and "late" adoption: a study of their effects on the development of Korean orphans adopted into American families. Am J Clin Nutr 1977;30:1734-1739.

9. Cheung Y, Ashorn P. Continuation of linear growth failure and its association with cognitive ability are not dependent on initial length-for-age: a longitudinal study from 6 months to 11 years of age. Acta Paediatrica 2010;99:1719–1723.

10. Crookston BT, Schott W, Cueto S, et al. Postinfancy growth, schooling, and cognitive achievement: Young Lives. Am J Clin Nutr 2013;98:1555–1563.

11. Ng M, Fleming T, Robinson M, et al. Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980–2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet 2014;384:766-781.

12. Kimani-Murage EW, Kahn K, Pettifor JM, et al. Predictors of adolescent weight status and central obesity in rural South Africa. Public Health Nutrition 2011;14:1114–1122.

13. Kruger R, Kruger H, MacIntyre U. The determinants of overweight and obesity among 10- to 15- year-old schoolchildren in the North West Province, South Africa – the THUSA BANA (Transition and Health during Urbanisation of South Africans; BANA, children) study. Public Health Nutrition 2006;9:351–358.

14. Jinabhai CC, Taylor M, Reddy P, et al. Sex differences in under and over nutrition among school-going Black teenagers in South Africa: an uneven nutrition trajectory. Tropical Medicine and International Health 2007;12:944–952.

15. Peer N, Lombard C, Steyn K, et al. Differing Patterns of Overweight and Obesity among Black Men and Women in Cape Town: The CRIBSA Study. PLoS ONE 2014;9:e107471.

16. Ali A, Crowther N. Factors predisposing to obesity: a review of the literature. Journal of Endocrinology, Metabolism and Diabetes of South Africa 2009;14:81-84.

17. Case A, Menendez A. Sex differences in obesity rates in poor countries: Evidence from South Africa. Economics and Human Biology 2009;7:271–282.

18. WHO Global InfoBase: Obesity and Overweight, available online at http://www.who.int/topics/obesity/en/.

19. Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Kit BK, et al. Prevalence of Childhood and Adult Obesity in the United States, 2011-2012. JAMA 2014;311:806-814.

20. Mehta NK, Elo IT, Ford ND, et al. Obesity Among U.S.- and Foreign-Born Blacks by Region of Birth. Am J Prev Med 2015 (In press).

21. Wang Y. Disparities in Pediatric Obesity in the United States. Advances in Nutrition 2011;2:23–31.

22. Karlsen S, Morris S, Kinra S, et al. Ethnic variations in overweight and obesity among children over time: findings from analyses of the Health Surveys for England 1998–2009. Pediatric Obesity 2014;9:186-196.

23. Ng M, Fleming T, Robinson M, et al. Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980–2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet 2014 384:766–781.

24. Robinson WR. Gender-Specific Effects of Early Nutritional Restriction on Adult Obesity Risk: Evidence From Quasi-Experimental Studies. Obesity 2012;20:2464–2466. 25. Stein AD, Kahn HS, Rundle A, et al. Anthropometric measures in middle age after exposure to famine during gestation: evidence from the Dutch famine. Am J Clin Nutr 2007;85:869–876.

26. Robinson WR, Gordon-Larsen P, Kaufman JS, et al. The female-male disparity in obesity prevalence among black American young adults: contributions of sociodemographic characteristics of the childhood family. Am J Clin Nutr 2009;89:1204–1212.

27. Hult M, Tornhammar P, Ueda P, et al. Hypertension, Diabetes and Overweight: Looming Legacies of the Biafran Famine. PLoS ONE 2010;5:e13582.

28. Onyike CU, Crum RM, Lee HB, et al. Is Obesity Associated with Major Depression? Results from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Am J Epidemiol 2003;158:1139–1147.

29. Garawi F, Devries K, Thorogood N, et al. Global differences between women and men in the prevalence of obesity: is there an association with gender inequality? European Journal of Clinical Nutrition 2014;68:1101–1106.

30. Parker J, B BA. Differences in postpartum weight retention between black and white mothers. Obstet Gynecol 1993;81:768-774.

31. Feeley A, Musenge E, Pettifor JM, et al. Changes in dietary habits and eating practices in adolescents living in urban South Africa: The birth to twenty cohort. Nutrition 2012;28:e1–e6.

32. Robinson WR, Stevens J, Kaufman JS, et al. The role of adolescent behaviors in the female-male disparity in obesity incidence in U.S. Black and White young adults. Obesity 2010;18:1429–1436.

33. Dietz WH. Critical periods in childhood for the development of obesity1. Am J Clin Nutr 1994;59:955-959.

34. Serdula M, Ivery D, Coates R, et al. Do obese children become obese adults? A review of the literature. Prev Med 1993;22:167-177.

35. Singh AS, Mulder C, Twisk JWR, et al. Tracking of childhood overweight into adulthood: a systematic review of the literature. Obesity Reviews 2008;9:474–488.

36. Parent A, Teilmann G, Juul A, et al. The Timing of Normal Puberty and the Age Limits of Sexual Precocity: Variations around the World, Secular Trends, and Changes after Migration. Endocrine Reviews 2003;24:668–693.

37. Jones L, Griffiths P, Norris S, et al. Age at menarche and the evidence for a positive secular trend in urban South Africa. Am J Hum Biol 2009;21:130-132.

38. Herman-Giddens ME, Slora EJ, Wasserman RC, et al. Secondary Sexual Characteristics and Menses in Young Girls Seen in Office Practice: A Study from the Pediatric Research in Office Settings Network. Pediatrics 1997;99 505 -512.

39. Frank M. Biro LCG, Maida P. Galvez, Susan M. Pinney, Susan Teitelbaum, Gayle C. Windham, Julianna Deardorff, Robert L. Herrick, Paul A. Succop, Robert A. Hiatt, Lawrence H. Kushi and Mary S. Wolff. Onset of Breast Development in a Longitudinal Cohort. Pediatrics 2013;132:1–9.

40. Kaplowitz P. Pubertal development in girls: secular trends. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol 2006;18:487–491.

41. Euling SY, Herman-Giddens ME, Lee PA, et al. Examination of US Puberty-Timing Data from 1940 to 1994 for Secular Trends: Panel Findings. Pediatrics 2008;121.
42. deMuinck-Keizer-Schrama S, Mul D. Trends in pubertal development in Europe. Hum Reprod Update 2001;7:287-291.

43. Jones LL, Griffiths PL, Norris SA, et al. Is Puberty Starting Earlier in Urban South Africa? Am J Hum Biol 2009;21:395–397.

[44] Morrison JA, Barton B, Biro FM, et al. Sexual maturation and obesity in 9- and 10year-old black and white girls: The National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Growth and Health Study. Journal of Pediatrics 1994;124:889-895.

45. George IS, Williams S, Silva P. Body size and the menarche: the Dunedin Study. J Adolesc Health 1994;15:573-576.

46. Koprowski C, Ross R, Mack W, et al. Diet, body size and menarche in a multiethnic cohort. Br J Cancer 1999;79:1907-1911.

47. Freedman DS, Khan LK, Serdula MK, et al. Relation of Age at Menarche to Race, Time Period, and Anthropometric Dimensions: The Bogalusa Heart Study. Pediatrics 2002;110:e43.

48. Karlberg J. Secular Trends in Pubertal Development. Horm Res 2002;57:19-30.

49. Anderson SE, Dallal GE, Must A. Relative Weight and Race Influence Average Age at Menarche: Results From Two Nationally Representative Surveys of US Girls Studied 25 Years Apart. Pediatrics 2003;111:844 -850

50. Wattigney W, Srinivasan S, Chen W, et al. Secular trend of earlier onset of menarche with increasing obesity in black and white girls: the Bogalusa Heart Study. Ethnicity and Disease 1999;9:181-189.

51. Kaplowitz PB. Link Between Body Fat and the Timing of Puberty. Pediatrics 2008;121 S208-S217.

52. Foster TA, Voors AW, Webber LS, et al. Anthropometric and maturation measurements of children, ages 5 to 14 years, in a biracial community the Bogalusa Heart Study. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 1977;30:582-591.

53. Wang Y. Is Obesity Associated With Early Sexual Maturation? A Comparison of the Association in American Boys Versus Girls. Pediatrics 2002;110:903-910.

54. Vignolo M, Naselli A, DiBattista E, et al. Growth and development in simple obesity. Eur J Pediatr 1988;147:242-244.

55. Davison KK, Susman EJ, Birch LL. Percent Body Fat at Age 5 Predicts Earlier Pubertal Development Among Girls at Age 9. Pediatrics 2003;111:815–821.
56. Lee JM, Appugliese D, Kaciroti N, et al. Weight Status in Young Girls and the Onset of Puberty. Pediatrics 2007;199:e624.

57. Wehkalampi K, Silventoinen K, Kaprio J, et al. Genetic and Environmental Influences on Pubertal Timing Assessed by Height Growth. Am J Hum Biol 2008;20:417–423.

58. Gluckman PD, Hanson MA. Evolution, development and timing of puberty. TRENDS in Endocrinology and Metabolism 2006;17:7-12.

59. Ellis BJ, Garber J. Psychosocial Antecedents of Variation in Girls' Pubertal Timing: Maternal Depression,

Stepfather Presence, and Marital and Family Stress. Child Development 2000;71:485-501.

60. Ellis BJ. Timing of Pubertal Maturation in Girls: An Integrated Life History Approach. Psychological Bulletin 2004;130:920–958.

61. Deardorff J, Fyfe M, Ekwaru JP, et al. Does neighborhood environment influence girls' pubertal onset? findings from a cohort study. BMC Pediatrics 2012;12:27.

62. Hagen CP, Sørensen K, Aksglaede L, et al. Pubertal Onset in Girls is Strongly
Influenced by Genetic Variation Affecting FSH Action. Scientific Reports 2014;4:1-6.
63. Gajdos Z, Hirschhorn J, Palmert M. What controls the timing of puberty? An update on progress from genetic investigation. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes 2009;16:16-24.

64. Demerath EW, Li J, Sun SS, et al. Fifty-year trends in serial body mass index during adolescence in girls: the Fels Longitudinal Study. Am J Clin Nutr 2004;80:441–446.
65. Wellens R, Malina RM, Roche AF, et al. Body size and fatness in young adults in relation to age at menarche. American Journal of Human Biology 1992;4:783–787.
66. Phinney V, Jensen L. The relationship between early development and psychosexual behaviors in adolescent females. Adolescence;25:321.

67. Mendle J, Turkheimer E, Emery RE. Detrimental Psychological Outcomes
Associated with Early Pubertal Timing in Adolescent Girls. Dev Rev 2007;27:151–171.
68. Glynn JR, Kayuni N, Floyd S, et al. Age at Menarche, Schooling, and Sexual Debut in Northern Malawi. PLoS ONE 2010;5:e15334.

69. Biro FM, McMahon RP, Striegel-Moore R, et al. Impact of timing of pubertal maturation on growth in black and white female adolescents:

The National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Growth and Health Study. J Pediatr 2001;138:636-643.

70. Richter L, Norris S, Pettifor J, et al. Cohort Profile: Mandela's children: The 1990 birth to twenty study in South Africa. Int J Epidemiol 2007;36:504-511.

71. Victora CG, Rivera JA. Optimal child growth and the double burden of malnutrition: research and programmatic implications. Am J Clin Nutr 2014;100(suppl)::1611S–1612S.